Mild solutions, variation of constants formula, and linearized stability for delay differential equations

Junya Nishiguchi[⊠]

Mathematical Science Group, Advanced Institute for Materials Research (AIMR), Tohoku University, Katahira 2-1-1, Aoba-ku, Sendai, 980-8577, Japan

> Received 22 May 2022, appeared 7 August 2023 Communicated by Hans-Otto Walther

Abstract. The method and the formula of variation of constants for ordinary differential equations (ODEs) is a fundamental tool to analyze the dynamics of an ODE near an equilibrium. It is natural to expect that such a formula works for delay differential equations (DDEs), however, it is well-known that there is a conceptual difficulty in the formula for DDEs. Here we discuss the variation of constants formula for DDEs by introducing the notion of a *mild solution*, which is a solution under an initial condition having a discontinuous history function. Then the *principal fundamental matrix solution* is defined as a matrix-valued mild solution, and we obtain the variation of constants formula with this function. This is also obtained in the framework of a Volterra convolution integral equation, but the treatment here gives an understanding in its own right. We also apply the formula to show the principle of linearized stability and the Poincaré–Lyapunov theorem for DDEs, where we do not need to assume the uniqueness of a solution.

Keywords: delay differential equations, discontinuous history functions, fundamental matrix solution, variation of constants formula, principle of linearized stability, Poincaré–Lyapunov theorem.

2020 Mathematics Subject Classification: Primary 34K05, 34K06, 34K20; Secondary 34K08.

Contents

1	l Introduction				
2 Mild solutions and fundamental matrix solutions					
	2.1	Defini	tions	8	
		2.1.1	History segments and memory space	8	
		2.1.2	Mild solutions	9	
		2.1.3	Notation $\int_0^t x_s ds$	10	
	2.2	$\int_0^t x_s d$	s and its properties	10	

[™]Email: junya.nishiguchi.b1@tohoku.ac.jp

J.	Nisl	higu	chi
----	------	------	-----

	2.3 Existence and uniqueness of a mild solution		
2.4 Fundamental matrix solutions		Fundamental matrix solutions	15
	2.5	Remarks	17
		2.5.1 Consideration by Delfour	17
		2.5.2 Mild solutions for linear differential difference equations	18
3	Dif	ferential equation satisfied by principal fundamental matrix solution	18
	3.1	Definitions	19
	3.2	Motivation	19
	3.3	Properties of Volterra operator and Riemann–Stieltjes convolution	20
		3.3.1 Continuity and local integrability	20
		3.3.2 Riemann–Stieltjes convolution under Volterra operator	21
	3.4	Differential equation and principal fundamental matrix solution	23
4	Nor	1-homogeneous linear RFDEs	24
	4.1	Non-homogeneous linear RFDE and mild solutions	24
	4.2	Integral equation with a general forcing term	25
5	Con	volution and Volterra operator	28
	5.1	A motivation to introduce convolution	28
		5.1.1 Variation of constants formula for non-homogeneous linear ODEs	28
		5.1.2 Convolution and non-homogeneous linear RFDEs	29
	5.2	Convolution and Riemann–Stieltjes convolution	30
		5.2.1 Convolution of locally BV functions and continuous functions	30
		5.2.2 Associativity of Riemann–Stieltjes convolution	32
	5.3	A formula for non-homogeneous equations with trivial initial history	33
6	Vari	iation of constants formula	34
	6.1	Motivation: Naito's consideration	35
	6.2	Derivation of a general forcing term	36
	6.3 Regularity of the general forcing term		37
		6.3.1 Forcing terms for continuous initial histories	37
		6.3.2 Relationship with the forcing terms	38
	6.4	Derivation of the variation of constants formula	41
		6.4.1 Formulas for trivial initial histories	41
		6.4.2 Formulas for homogeneous equations	42
		6.4.3 Derivation of the main result of this section	42
	6.5	Variation of constants formula for linear differential difference equations	43
	6.6	Remarks on definitions of "fundamental matrix"	45
		6.6.1 Definition by Hale	45
		6.6.2 Volterra convolution integral equations and fundamental matrix solutions	45
7	Exp	onential stability of principal fundamental matrix solution	46
8	Prir	ciple of linearized stability and Poincaré–Lyapunov theorem	49
	8.1	Variation of constants formula and nonlinear equations	49
	8.2	Stability part of principle of linearized stability	50
	8.3	Poincaré–Lyapunov theorem for RFDEs	52

Ac	Acknowledgements		
Α	Rier	nann–Stieltjes integrals with respect to matrix-valued functions	56
	A.1	Definitions	56
		A.1.1 Remarks	57
	A.2	Reduction to scalar-valued case	57
	A.3	Fundamental results	58
		A.3.1 Reversal formula	59
		A.3.2 Integration by parts formula	59
	A.4	Integrability	59
		A.4.1 Matrix-valued functions of bounded variation	59
		A.4.2 Integrability of matrix-valued functions	60
	A.5	Integration with respect to continuously differentiable functions	61
	A.6	Integration with respect to absolutely continuous functions	62
	A.7	Proof of the theorem on iterated integrals	62
B	Ries	z representation theorem	63
С	Vari	ants of Gronwall's inequality	64
	C.1	Gronwall's inequality and its generalization	64
	C.2	Gronwall's inequality and RFDEs	65
D	Lem	mas on fixed point argument	66
Е	Con	volution continued	67
	E.1	Convolution for locally essentially bounded functions and locally Lebesgue in-	
		tegrable functions	67
	E.2	Convolution for locally Lebesgue integrable functions	68
	E.3	Convolution under Volterra operator	72
Re	ferer	nces	74

1 Introduction

Studies concerning with the variation of constants formula for delay differential equations (DDEs) have a long history of over fifty years. Nevertheless, the reason why we try to discuss the variation of constants formula in this paper is that such a consideration gives rise to a conceptual difficulty that is peculiar to the theory of DDEs. Specifically, it is usual to discuss DDEs within the scope of continuous history functions, but a class of discontinuous history functions emerges as initial conditions when we try to obtain the variation of constants formula. In connection with this, a matrix-valued solution having a certain discontinuous matrix-valued function as the initial condition is called the *fundamental matrix solution*. However, it is quite difficult to understand why the solution is called the "fundamental matrix solution" when compared with the theory of ordinary differential equations (ODEs).

This conceptual difficulty has arisen in the theoretical development about the variation of constants formula in the texts [18] and [19] by Jack Hale. In the revised edition [22], the theoretical development is rewritten based on the consideration in [34]. There also exist studies to understand the conceptual difficulty of the variation of constants formula for DDEs

J. Nishiguchi

within the framework of Functional Analysis (e.g., see [7], [12], and [13]). In this framework, it is essential that the Banach space of continuous functions on closed and bounded interval endowed with the supremum norm is not reflexive, and the theory is constructed by using the so called "sun-star calculus". See [14] for the details. See also [36] for a survey article.

The idea of discussing the variation of constants formula for DDEs in this paper is to define a solution under an initial condition having a discontinuous history function as a *mild solution*. This concept comes from the analogy of the notion of mild solutions of abstract linear evolution equations, and its terminology also originates from this. It can be said that the notion of mild solutions is to elevate the technique to exchange the order of integration to a concept.

The dependence of the derivative $\dot{x}(t)$ of an unknown function x on the past value of x is abstracted to the concept of *retarded functional differential equations* (RFDEs). In this paper, we consider an autonomous linear RFDE

$$\dot{x}(t) = Lx_t \quad (t \ge 0) \tag{1.1}$$

for a continuous linear map $L: C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n) \to \mathbb{K}^n$. Here $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$ or \mathbb{C} , $n \ge 1$ is an integer, and r > 0 is a constant, which are fixed throughout this paper. The derivative of x at 0 is interpreted as the right-hand derivative. We are using the following notations:

- *C*([−*r*,0], Kⁿ) denotes the Banach space of all continuous functions from [−*r*,0] to Kⁿ endowed with the supremum norm ||·||. Here a norm |·| on Kⁿ, which is not necessarily the Euclidean norm, is fixed throughout this paper.
- For each $t \ge 0$, $x_t: [-r, 0] \to \mathbb{K}^n$ is a continuous function defined by

$$x_t(\theta) \coloneqq x(t+\theta) \quad (\theta \in [-r,0])$$

when $x: [-r, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ is continuous. See also Definition 2.1.

In addition to the linear RFDE (1.1), we also consider a non-homogeneous linear RFDE

$$\dot{x}(t) = Lx_t + g(t)$$
 (a.e. $t \ge 0$) (1.2)

for some $g \in \mathcal{L}^{1}_{loc}([0,\infty),\mathbb{K}^{n})$. Here $\mathcal{L}^{1}_{loc}([0,\infty),\mathbb{K}^{n})$ denotes the linear space of all locally Lebesgue integrable functions from $[0,\infty)$ to \mathbb{K}^{n} defined almost everywhere. See also the notations given below. We refer the reader to [32] and [30] as references of the theory of Lebesgue integration for scalar-valued functions.

To study these differential equations, the following expression of *L* by a *Riemann–Stieltjes integral*

$$L\psi = \int_{-r}^{0} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta)\,\psi(\theta) \tag{1.3}$$

for $\psi \in C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$ is useful. Here $\eta : [-r, 0] \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ is an $n \times n$ matrix-valued function of bounded variation. The above representability is ensured by a corollary of the Riesz representation theorem (see Corollary B.3). It is a useful convention that the domain of definition of η is extended to $(-\infty, 0]$ by letting

$$\eta(\theta) \coloneqq \eta(-r)$$

for $\theta \in (-\infty, -r]$. See Appendix A for the Riemann–Stieltjes integrals with respect to matrixvalued functions. For the use of Riemann–Stieltjes integrals in the context of RFDEs, see [19, Chapters 6 and 7], [34, Chapter 2], [24, Chapter 4], [22, Chapters 6 and 7], and [14, Chapter I], for example.

This paper is organized as follows:

In Section 2, we introduce the notion of a history segment x_t for a discontinuous function $x: [-r, \infty) \supset \text{dom}(x) \to \mathbb{K}^n$. By using this, we also introduce the notion of a mild solution to the linear RFDE (1.1) under an initial condition

$$x_0 = \phi \in \mathcal{M}^1([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n). \tag{1.4}$$

Here $\mathcal{M}^1([-r,0],\mathbb{K}^n)$ consists of elements of $\mathcal{L}^1([-r,0],\mathbb{K}^n)$ that are defined at 0. Roughly speaking, a function $x: [-r, \infty) \supset \operatorname{dom}(x) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ is said to be a mild solution of (1.1) under the initial condition (1.4) if it satisfies

$$x(t) = \phi(0) + L \int_0^t x_s \, \mathrm{d}s \quad (t \ge 0).$$

Here $\int_0^t x_s ds \in C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$ is defined by

$$\left(\int_0^t x_s \,\mathrm{d}s\right)(\theta) \coloneqq \int_0^t x(s+\theta) \,\mathrm{d}s \quad (\theta \in [-r,0])$$

See Definitions 2.5 and 2.7 for the details. After proving the existence and uniqueness of a mild solution of the linear RFDE (1.1) under the initial condition (1.4), we define the *principal* fundamental matrix solution of (1.1) as a matrix-valued mild solution $X^L: [-r, \infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ under the initial condition $X_0^L = \hat{I}$. Here $\hat{I}: [-r, 0] \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ is a discontinuous function defined by

$$\hat{I}(\theta) := \begin{cases} O & (\theta \in [-r, 0)), \\ I & (\theta = 0). \end{cases}$$
(1.5)

In Section 3, we derive a differential equation

$$\dot{X}^{L}(t) = \int_{-t}^{0} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) \, X^{L}(t+\theta)$$

satisfied by the principal fundamental matrix solution X^L of (1.1). In the derivation, it is useful to use the notions of *Volterra operator* and *Riemann–Stieltjes convolution*. See Subsection 3.1 for the definitions and Subsection 3.3 for the fundamental properties. The above differential equation is the key to obtain a variation of constants formula.

In Section 4, we consider the non-homogeneous linear RFDE (1.2). To study a mild solution of (1.2) under the initial condition (1.4), we also consider an integral equation

$$x(t) = \phi(0) + L \int_0^t x_s \, \mathrm{d}s + G(t) \quad (t \ge 0)$$
(1.6)

for a continuous function $G: [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ with G(0) = 0. We show that the above integral equation has a unique solution $x^L(\cdot; \phi, G)$ under the initial condition (1.4).

In Section 5, we consider a non-homogeneous linear RFDE

$$\dot{x}(t) = Lx_t + f(t) \quad (t \ge 0)$$
(1.7)

J. Nishiguchi

for a continuous function $f: [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ to motivate the use of the convolution for locally Riemann integrable functions. We show that the function $x(\cdot; f): [-r, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ defined by $x(\cdot; f)_0 = 0$ and

$$x(t;f) \coloneqq \int_0^t X^L(t-u)f(u)\,\mathrm{d}u \tag{1.8}$$

for $t \ge 0$ is a solution to Eq. (1.7) after developing the results of convolution for locally Riemann integrable functions. See Subsection 5.2 for the developments.

In Section 6, we study the non-homogeneous linear RFDE (1.2) under the initial condition (1.4) and find a variation of constants formula expressed by the principal fundamental matrix solution X^L . For this purpose, we indeed consider the integral equation (1.6) for some continuous function $G: [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ with G(0) = 0. One of the main results of this paper is that the solution $x^L(\cdot; \phi, G)$ of (1.6) under the initial condition (1.4) satisfies

$$x^{L}(t;\phi,G) = X^{L}(t)\phi(0) + \left[G^{L}(t;\phi) + G(t)\right] + \int_{0}^{t} \dot{X}^{L}(t-u)\left[G^{L}(u;\phi) + G(u)\right] du$$
(1.9)

for all $t \ge 0$. Here $\dot{X}^{L}(t)$ denotes the derivative of the locally absolutely continuous function $X^{L}|_{[0,\infty)}$ at $t \ge 0$ (when it exists), and $G^{L}(\cdot;\phi): [0,\infty) \to \mathbb{K}^{n}$ is a function determined by the initial history function ϕ . See Subsection 6.2 for the detail of the derivation of the function $G^{L}(\cdot;\phi)$. We note that before we obtain the variation of constants formula (1.9), we show that

$$x^{L}(t;0,G) = G(t) + \int_{0}^{t} \dot{X}^{L}(t-u)G(u) \,\mathrm{d}u$$
(1.10)

holds for all $t \ge 0$. Then the derivation of (1.9) is performed by defining a function

$$z^{L}(\cdot;\phi)\colon [-r,\infty)\to\mathbb{K}^{n}$$

by $z^L(\cdot; \phi)_0 = 0$ and

$$z^{L}(t;\phi) := x^{L}(t;\phi,0) - X^{L}(t)\phi(0)$$
(1.11)

for $t \ge 0$ and showing that $z := z^{L}(\cdot; \phi)$ satisfies an integral equation

$$z(t) = L \int_0^t z_s \, \mathrm{d}s + G^L(t;\phi) \quad (t \ge 0),$$
(1.12)

because (1.12) shows that

$$z^{L}(\cdot;\phi) = x^{L}(\cdot;0,G^{L}(\cdot;\phi))$$

holds. Here we need to know the regularity of the function $G^{L}(\cdot;\phi)$, which is discussed in Subsection 6.3.

In Section 7, we discuss the exponential stability of the principal fundamental matrix solution X^L of the linear RFDE (1.1) and the uniform exponential stability of the C_0 -semigroup $(T^L(t))_{t>0}$ on the Banach space $C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$ defined by

$$T^{L}(t)\phi := x^{L}(\cdot;\phi,0)_{t}$$
(1.13)

for $(t, \phi) \in [0, \infty) \times C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$. We show that X^L is α -exponentially stable if and only if $(T^L(t))_{t>0}$ is uniformly α -exponentially stable. See Theorems 7.3 and 7.4 for the details.

In Section 8, we apply the obtained variation of constants formulas to a proof of the stability part of the principle of linearized stability and Poincaré–Lyapunov theorem for RFDEs. This is indeed an appropriate modification of the proof for ODEs. However, the given proof makes clear the importance of the principal fundamental matrix solution. In the statement, we do not need to assume the uniqueness of a solution. Therefore, this should be compared with the proof relying on the nonlinear semigroup theory.

We have five appendices. In Appendix A, we collect results on Riemann–Stieltjes integrals for matrix-valued functions that are needed for this paper. In Appendix B, we give a proof of the representability of *L* by a Riemann–Stieltjes integral (1.3) because there does not seem to be any proof of the representability in the literature. In Appendix C, we discuss Gronwall's inequality and its variants used in the context of RFDEs. In Appendix D, we give lemmas that are used in the fixed point argument in this paper. In Appendix E, we continue to discuss the convolution. The contents of this appendix will not be used in this paper, but it will be useful to share the proofs of results on the convolution for matrix-valued locally Lebesgue integrable functions in the literature of RFDEs.

Notations

Throughout this paper, the following notations will be used.

• Let $E = (E, \|\cdot\|)$ be a Banach space. For each subset $I \subset \mathbb{R}$, let C(I, E) denote the linear space of all continuous functions from *I* to *E*. When the subset *I* is a closed and bounded interval, the linear space C(I, E) is considered as the Banach space of continuous functions endowed with the supremum norm $\|\cdot\|$ given by

$$||f|| \coloneqq \sup_{x \in I} ||f(x)||$$

for $f \in C(I, E)$.

- For each pair of Banach spaces $E = (E, \|\cdot\|)$ and $F = (F, \|\cdot\|)$, let $\mathcal{B}(E, F)$ denote the linear space of all continuous linear maps (i.e., all bounded linear operators) from *E* to *F*. For each $T \in \mathcal{B}(E, F)$, its operator norm is denoted by $\|T\|$. Then $\mathcal{B}(E, F)$ is considered as the Banach space of continuous linear maps endowed with the operator norm. When $F = E, \mathcal{B}(E, F)$ is also denoted by $\mathcal{B}(E)$.
- An *n* × *n* matrix *A* ∈ *M_n*(𝔅) is considered as a continuous linear map on the Banach space 𝔅ⁿ endowed with the given norm |·|. The operator norm of *A* is denoted by |*A*|. The linear space *M_n*(𝔅) of all *n* × *n* matrices is considered as the Banach space of matrices endowed with the operator norm.
- Let $d \ge 1$ be an integer, X be a measurable set of \mathbb{R}^d , and $Y = \mathbb{K}^n$ or $M_n(\mathbb{K})$.
 - We say that a function $f: X \supset \text{dom}(f) \rightarrow Y$ is a *Lebesgue integrable function defined* almost everywhere if (i) dom(f) is measurable, (ii) $X \setminus \text{dom}(f)$ has measure 0, and (iii) $f|_{\text{dom}(f)}: \text{dom}(f) \rightarrow Y$ is Lebesgue integrable, i.e., it is measurable and

$$||f||_1 := \int_X |f(x)| \, \mathrm{d}x := \int_{\mathrm{dom}(f)} |f(x)| \, \mathrm{d}x$$

is finite. We note that the function $dom(f) \ni x \mapsto |f(x)| \in [0, \infty)$ is also measurable by the continuity of the norm $|\cdot|$, and the above integral is the unsigned Lebesgue integral.

- Let $\mathcal{L}^1(X, Y)$ be the set of all Lebesgue integrable functions from X to Y defined almost everywhere. For $f \in \mathcal{L}^1(X, Y)$, let

$$\int_X f(x) \, \mathrm{d}x := \int_{\mathrm{dom}(f)} f(x) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

Then one can prove that

$$\left| \int_X f(x) \, \mathrm{d}x \right| \le \int_{\mathrm{dom}(f)} |f(x)| \, \mathrm{d}x = \|f\|_1$$

holds.

- For $f, g \in \mathcal{L}^1(X, Y)$, the addition $f + g \colon X \supset \text{dom}(f) \cap \text{dom}(g) \to Y$ is defined by

$$(f+g)(x) \coloneqq f(x) + g(x)$$

for $x \in \text{dom}(f) \cap \text{dom}(g)$. Then $f + g \in \mathcal{L}^1(X, Y)$. The scalar multiplication αf for $\alpha \in \mathbb{K}$ is also defined, and it holds that $\alpha f \in \mathcal{L}^1(X, Y)$.

• Let *X* be an interval of \mathbb{R} and $Y = \mathbb{K}^n$ or $M_n(\mathbb{K})$. Let $\mathcal{L}^1_{loc}(X, Y)$ be the set of all functions $f: X \supset dom(f) \rightarrow Y$ satisfying (i) dom(f) is measurable, (ii) $X \setminus dom(f)$ has measure 0, and (iii) for each closed and bounded interval *I* contained in *X*, the restriction $f|_I: I \supset dom(f) \cap I \rightarrow Y$ belongs to $\mathcal{L}^1(I, Y)$.

2 Mild solutions and fundamental matrix solutions

2.1 Definitions

2.1.1 History segments and memory space

We first make clear the notion of history segments in our setting.

Definition 2.1. Let $x: [-r, \infty) \supset \text{dom}(x) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ be a function. For each $t \ge 0$, we define a function $x_t: [-r, 0] \supset \text{dom}(x_t) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ by

$$dom(x_t) := \{ \theta \in [-r, 0] : t + \theta \in dom(x) \},\$$

$$x_t(\theta) := x(t + \theta) \qquad (\theta \in dom(x_t)).$$

We call x_t the *history segment* of x at t.

We note that $dom(x_t)$ is expressed by

$$\operatorname{dom}(x_t) = (\operatorname{dom}(x) - t) \cap [-r, 0],$$

where dom(*x*) is not necessarily equal to $[-r, \infty)$.

In this paper, we need discontinuous initial history functions. For this purpose, we adopt the following space of history functions.

Definition 2.2 (cf. [10]). We define a linear subspace $\mathcal{M}^1([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$ of $\mathcal{L}^1([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$ by

$$\mathcal{M}^{1}([-r,0],\mathbb{K}^{n}) \coloneqq \left\{ \phi \in \mathcal{L}^{1}([-r,0],\mathbb{K}^{n}) : 0 \in \operatorname{dom}(\phi) \right\}$$

and call it the *memory space* of \mathcal{L}^1 -type. We consider $\mathcal{M}^1([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$ as a seminormed space endowed with the seminorm $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{M}^1} \colon \mathcal{M}^1([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n) \to [0, \infty)$ defined by

$$\|\phi\|_{\mathcal{M}^1} \coloneqq \|\phi\|_1 + |\phi(0)|.$$

Remark 2.3. Let $1 \le p < \infty$ and *E* be a Banach space. The memory space of \mathcal{L}^1 -type should be compared with a Banach space $M^p([-r, 0], E)$ introduced by Delfour and Mitter [10]. It is isomorphic to the product Banach space

$$L^p([-r,0],E)\oplus E.$$

See also [3], [8], and references therein for the use of the product space.

Definition 2.4. For each $\phi \in \mathcal{M}^1([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$, we will call a function $x \colon [-r, \infty) \supset \operatorname{dom}(x) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ a *continuous prolongation* of ϕ if it satisfies the following properties: (i) $x_0 = \phi$, (ii) $[0, \infty) \subset \operatorname{dom}(x)$, and (iii) $x|_{[0,\infty)}$ is continuous.

For a continuous prolongation *x* of ϕ ,

$$\operatorname{dom}(x) = \operatorname{dom}(\phi) \cup [0, \infty)$$

holds.

2.1.2 Mild solutions

The following is the notion of a mild solution, whose introduction is one of the contributions of this paper. We use the expression of L by the Riemann–Stieltjes integral (1.3)

$$L\psi = \int_{-r}^{0} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta)\,\psi(\theta)$$

for $\psi \in C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$.

Definition 2.5 (cf. [38]). Let $\phi \in \mathcal{M}^1([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$ be given. We say that a function $x \colon [-r, \infty) \supset \text{dom}(x) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ is a *mild solution* of the linear RFDE (1.1) under the initial condition $x_0 = \phi$ if the following conditions are satisfied: (i) x is a continuous prolongation of ϕ and (ii) for all $t \ge 0$,

$$x(t) = \phi(0) + \int_{-r}^{0} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) \left(\int_{0}^{t} x(s+\theta) \,\mathrm{d}s \right)$$
(2.1)

holds. Here $\int_0^t x(s+\theta) ds$ is a Lebesgue integral.

Since

$$\int_0^t x(s+\theta) \, \mathrm{d}s = \int_\theta^{t+\theta} x(s) \, \mathrm{d}s$$

the integrand in Eq. (2.1) is continuous with respect to $\theta \in [-r, 0]$. Therefore, the integral in (2.1) is meaningful as a Riemann–Stieltjes integral. Eq. (2.1) is also expressed by

$$x(t) = \phi(0) + \int_{-r}^{0} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) \left(\int_{\theta}^{0} \phi(s) \,\mathrm{d}s \right) + \int_{-r}^{0} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) \left(\int_{0}^{t+\theta} x(s) \,\mathrm{d}s \right), \tag{2.2}$$

where the third term of the right-hand side may depend on ϕ .

Remark 2.6. Eq. (2.1) appeared at [38, (5.19) in Corollary 5.13] after developing a nonlinear semigroup theory for some class of RFDEs. Compared with this approach, the method of this paper is considered to be taking the notion of mild solutions as a starting point.

2.1.3 Notation $\int_0^t x_s ds$

For ease of notation, we introduce the following.

Definition 2.7. Let $x \in \mathcal{L}^1_{loc}([-r,\infty),\mathbb{K}^n)$ be given. For each $t \ge 0$, we define $\int_0^t x_s ds \in C([-r,0],\mathbb{K}^n)$ by

$$\left(\int_0^t x_s \,\mathrm{d}s\right)(\theta) \coloneqq \int_0^t x_s(\theta) \,\mathrm{d}s = \int_{\theta}^{t+\theta} x(s) \,\mathrm{d}s$$

for $\theta \in [-r, 0]$.

We note that $\int_0^t x_s ds \in C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$ introduced above is not an integral of a vector-valued function

 $[0,t] \ni s \mapsto x_s \in \mathcal{X}$

for some function space \mathcal{X} .

2.2 $\int_0^t x_s ds$ and its properties

We have the following lemma.

Lemma 2.8. If $x \in \mathcal{L}^1_{loc}([-r, \infty), \mathbb{K}^n)$, then

$$[0,\infty) \ni t \mapsto \int_0^t x_s \, \mathrm{d}s \in C([-r,0],\mathbb{K}^n)$$
(2.3)

is continuous.

Proof. We define a function $y: [-r, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ by

$$y(t) = \int_{-r}^{t} x(s) \,\mathrm{d}s$$

for $t \ge -r$. Then *y* is continuous, and

$$y(t+\theta) = \int_{\theta}^{t+\theta} x(s) \, \mathrm{d}s + \int_{-r}^{\theta} x(s) \, \mathrm{d}s$$

holds for all $t \ge 0$ and all $\theta \in [-r, 0]$. This shows that the function (2.3) is continuous if and only if

$$[0,\infty) \ni t \mapsto y_t \in C([-r,0],\mathbb{K}^n)$$

is continuous. Since the continuity of this function is ensured by the uniform continuity of y on any closed and bounded interval, the conclusion is obtained.

When $x \in C([-r, \infty), \mathbb{K}^n)$, the Riemann integral

$$(\mathbf{R})\int_0^t x_s \,\mathrm{d}s \in C([-r,0],\mathbb{K}^n)$$

of the continuous function

$$[0,t] \ni s \mapsto x_s \in C([-r,0],\mathbb{K}^n)$$

exists. See Graves [16, Section 2] for the definition of the Riemann integrability of functions on closed and bounded intervals taking values in normed spaces. We now show that when $x \in C([-r, \infty), \mathbb{K}^n)$, the Riemann integral (R) $\int_0^t x_s ds$ coincides with $\int_0^t x_s ds$ introduced in Definition 2.7. More generally, one can prove the following result.

Lemma 2.9. Let *E* be a Banach space, [a,b] and [c,d] be closed and bounded intervals of \mathbb{R} , and $f: [a,b] \times [c,d] \rightarrow E$ be a continuous function. For each $y \in [c,d]$, let $f(\cdot,y) \in C([a,b],E)$ be defined by

$$f(\cdot, y)(x) \coloneqq f(x, y)$$

for $x \in [a, b]$. Then

$$\left(\int_{c}^{d} f(\cdot, y) \, \mathrm{d}y\right)(x) = \int_{c}^{d} f(x, y) \, \mathrm{d}y$$

holds for all $x \in [a,b]$. Here $\int_c^d f(\cdot,y) dy$ is the Riemann integral of the continuous function $[c,d] \ni y \mapsto f(\cdot,y) \in C([a,b],E)$.

We note that the continuity of $[c,d] \ni y \mapsto f(\cdot,y) \in C([a,b],E)$ is a consequence of the uniform continuity of f.

Proof of Lemma 2.9. We fix $x \in [a, b]$. Let $T: C([a, b], E) \to E$ be the evaluation map defined by

$$Tg \coloneqq g(x)$$

for $g \in C([a, b], E)$. Since *T* is a bounded linear operator, we have

$$\left(\int_{c}^{d} f(\cdot, y) \,\mathrm{d}y\right)(x) = T \int_{c}^{d} f(\cdot, y) \,\mathrm{d}y = \int_{c}^{d} Tf(\cdot, y) \,\mathrm{d}y,$$

where the last term is equal to $\int_{c}^{d} f(x, y) dy$. This completes the proof.

As an application of Lemma 2.9, the following result can be obtained.

Theorem 2.10. If $x \in C([-r, \infty), \mathbb{K}^n)$, then

$$(\mathbf{R})\int_0^t x_s \,\mathrm{d}s = \int_0^t x_s \,\mathrm{d}s$$

holds for all $t \ge 0$.

Proof. Let t > 0 be given. We consider a function $f: [-r, 0] \times [0, t] \to \mathbb{K}^n$ defined by

$$f(\theta,s) \coloneqq x(s+\theta).$$

Then the function $f(\cdot, s)$ is equal to x_s . By applying Lemma 2.9 with this f,

$$\left[(\mathbf{R}) \int_0^t x_s \, \mathrm{d}s \right](\theta) = \int_0^t x(s+\theta) \, \mathrm{d}s$$

holds for all $\theta \in [-r, 0]$. Since the right-hand side is equal to $(\int_0^t x_s ds)(\theta)$, this shows the conclusion.

Remark 2.11. When $x \in C([-r, \infty), \mathbb{K}^n)$, Theorem 2.10 yields that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\int_0^t x_s \,\mathrm{d}s = x_t \in C([-r,0],\mathbb{K}^n)$$

holds by the fundamental theorem of calculus for vector-valued functions.

We have the following corollary.

Corollary 2.12. Let *F* be a Banach space over \mathbb{K} and $T: C([-r,0],\mathbb{K}^n) \to F$ be a bounded linear operator. If $x \in C([-r,\infty),\mathbb{K}^n)$, then

$$T\int_0^t x_s \,\mathrm{d}s = \int_0^t T x_s \,\mathrm{d}s \tag{2.4}$$

holds for all $t \ge 0$. Here the right-hand side is the Riemann integral of the continuous function $[0,t] \ni s \mapsto Tx_s \in F$.

Proof. From Theorem 2.10,

$$T\int_0^t x_s \,\mathrm{d}s = T\left[(\mathbf{R})\int_0^t x_s \,\mathrm{d}s\right] = \int_0^t Tx_s \,\mathrm{d}s$$

holds since *T* is a bounded linear operator.

Remark 2.13. Corollary 2.12 yields the following: Let $x: [-r, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ be a continuous function satisfying $x_0 = \phi \in C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$. Since $L: C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ is a bounded linear operator, x is a mild solution of the linear RFDE (1.1) with the initial history function ϕ if and only if it satisfies

$$x(t) = \phi(0) + \int_0^t Lx_s \,\mathrm{d}s$$

for all $t \ge 0$. This shows that a mild solution coincides with a solution in the usual sense when the initial history function ϕ is continuous.

2.3 Existence and uniqueness of a mild solution

By using the contraction mapping principle with an *a priori* estimate, we will prove the unique existence of a mild solution of the linear RFDE (1.1) under an initial condition (1.4)

$$x_0 = \phi \in \mathcal{M}^1([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n).$$

We note that a solution of (1.1) in the usual sense is also a mild solution (see Remark 2.13).

We will use the following notation.

Notation 1. For each $\phi \in \mathcal{M}^1([-r,0],\mathbb{K}^n)$, let $\overline{\phi} \colon \operatorname{dom}(\phi) \cup [0,\infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ be the function defined by

$$\bar{\phi}(t) \coloneqq \begin{cases} \phi(t) & (t \in \operatorname{dom}(\phi)), \\ \phi(0) & (t \ge 0). \end{cases}$$
(2.5)

 $\bar{\phi}$ is a constant prolongation of ϕ .

Theorem 2.14. For any $\phi \in \mathcal{M}^1([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$, the linear RFDE (1.1) has a unique mild solution under the initial condition $x_0 = \phi$.

In the following, we give a proof based on an *a priori* estimate. See Chicone [5, Subsection 2.1] for a similar argument.

Proof of Theorem 2.14. We divide the proof into the following steps.

Step 1: Reduction to a continuous unknown function and derivation of an *a priori* estimate. For a continuous prolongation $x: [-r, \infty) \supset \text{dom}(x) \rightarrow \mathbb{K}^n$ of ϕ , we consider the function $y: [-r, \infty) \rightarrow \mathbb{K}^n$ defined by

$$y(t) \coloneqq \begin{cases} x(t) - \bar{\phi}(t) & (t \in \operatorname{dom}(x)), \\ 0 & (t \notin \operatorname{dom}(x)). \end{cases}$$

Then *y* is a continuous function satisfying $y_0 = 0$. The problem of finding a mild solution $x: [-r, \infty) \supset \text{dom}(x) \rightarrow \mathbb{K}^n$ of the linear RFDE (1.1) under the initial condition $x_0 = \phi$ is reduced to find a continuous function $y: [-r, \infty) \rightarrow \mathbb{K}^n$ satisfying $y_0 = 0$ and

$$y(t) = L \int_0^t (y + \bar{\phi})_s \, \mathrm{d}s = \int_0^t L y_s \, \mathrm{d}s + L \int_0^t \bar{\phi}_s \, \mathrm{d}s \tag{2.6}$$

for all $t \ge 0$. Here Corollary 2.12 is used. By noticing the following estimate from above

$$\left|\int_0^t \bar{\phi}(s+\theta) \,\mathrm{d}s\right| \le \|\phi\|_1 + t|\phi(0)|$$

for $t \ge 0$ and $\theta \in [-r, 0]$, a continuous function $y: [-r, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ satisfying $y_0 = 0$ and Eq. (2.6) must satisfy

$$|y(t)| \le ||L||(||\phi||_1 + t|\phi(0)|) + \int_0^t ||L|| ||y_s|| ds$$

for all $t \ge 0$. By applying Lemma C.4,

$$||y_t|| \le ||L|| (||\phi||_1 + t |\phi(0)|) e^{||L||t}$$

holds for all $t \ge 0$.

Step 2: Setting of function space. For each $\gamma > ||L||$, Step 1 indicates that for a continuous function $y: [-r, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ satisfying $y_0 = 0$ and Eq. (2.6), we have

$$\mathbf{e}^{-\gamma t} \| y_t \| \le \| L \| (\| \phi \|_1 + t | \phi(0) |) \mathbf{e}^{(\| L \| - \gamma) t}.$$

Here the right-hand side converges to 0 as $t \rightarrow \infty$. Therefore,

$$\|y\|_{\gamma} \coloneqq \sup_{t \ge 0} \left(\mathrm{e}^{-\gamma t} \|y_t\| \right) = \sup_{t \ge 0} \left(\mathrm{e}^{-\gamma t} |y(t)| \right) < \infty$$

holds (see Lemma D.1 for the detail). For each $\gamma > ||L||$, let Y_{γ} be the linear subspace of $C([-r, \infty), \mathbb{K}^n)$ given by

$$Y_{\gamma} := \left\{ y \in C([-r,\infty), \mathbb{K}^n) : y_0 = 0, \|y\|_{\gamma} < \infty \right\},$$

which is considered as a normed space endowed with the norm $\|\cdot\|_{\gamma}$. Then Y_{γ} is a Banach space (see Lemma D.2). We fix $\gamma > \|L\|$ arbitrarily, and let $Y \coloneqq Y_{\gamma}$ and $\|\cdot\|_{\gamma} \coloneqq \|\cdot\|_{\gamma}$.

Step 3: Reduction to fixed point problem. We define a transformation $T: Y \to C([-r, \infty), \mathbb{K}^n)$ by $(Ty)_0 = 0$ and

$$(Ty)(t) \coloneqq \int_0^t Ly_s \,\mathrm{d}s + L \int_0^t \bar{\phi}_s \,\mathrm{d}s \quad (t \ge 0).$$

We now claim that $T(Y) \subset Y$ holds. Let $y \in Y$ be given. In the same way as in Step 1,

$$|Ty(t)| \le ||L||(||\phi||_1 + t|\phi(0)|) + ||L|| \int_0^t ||y_s|| ds$$

holds for all $t \ge 0$. Since $e^{-\gamma t} \|L\|(\|\phi\|_1 + t|\phi(0)|) \to 0$ as $t \to \infty$, we only need to show

$$\sup_{t\geq 0}\,\mathrm{e}^{-\gamma t}\int_0^t\|y_s\|\,\mathrm{d} s<\infty$$

in order to obtain $Ty \in Y$. By the assumption of $y \in Y$, $||y_t|| \le ||y||_Y e^{\gamma t}$ holds for all $t \ge 0$. Therefore, we have

$$\int_0^t \|y_s\| \,\mathrm{d} s \le \|y\|_Y \int_0^t \mathrm{e}^{\gamma s} \,\mathrm{d} s \le \frac{\|y\|_Y}{\gamma} \mathrm{e}^{\gamma t} \quad (t \ge 0),$$

which implies $\sup_{t\geq 0} e^{-\gamma t} \int_0^t \|y_s\| ds < \infty$. Thus, $Ty \in Y$ is concluded.

Step 4: Application of contraction mapping principle. We now claim that the mapping $T: Y \to Y$ is a contraction. For any $y^1, y^2 \in Y$,

$$\mathbf{e}^{-\gamma t} \left| Ty^{1}(t) - Ty^{2}(t) \right| \leq \mathbf{e}^{-\gamma t} \|L\| \int_{0}^{t} \left\| y_{s}^{1} - y_{s}^{2} \right\| \mathrm{d}s$$

holds. Since we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| y_s^1 - y_s^2 \right\| &= \mathrm{e}^{\gamma s} \cdot \mathrm{e}^{-\gamma s} \left\| (y^1 - y^2)_s \right\| \\ &\leq \mathrm{e}^{\gamma s} \left\| y^1 - y^2 \right\|_Y \end{aligned}$$

for the integrand in the right-hand side,

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{e}^{-\gamma t} \|L\| \int_0^t \left\| y_s^1 - y_s^2 \right\| \mathrm{d}s &\leq \frac{\|L\|}{\gamma} (1 - \mathbf{e}^{-\gamma t}) \left\| y^1 - y^2 \right\|_Y \\ &\leq \frac{\|L\|}{\gamma} \left\| y^1 - y^2 \right\|_Y \end{split}$$

is concluded. Therefore, $T: Y \to Y$ is a contraction. By applying the contraction mapping principle, there exists a unique $y_* \in Y$ such that

$$Ty_* = y_*.$$

The function $x_* : [-r, \infty) \supset \operatorname{dom}(\phi) \cup [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ defined by

$$x_*(t) \coloneqq y(t) + \overline{\phi}(t) \quad (t \in \operatorname{dom}(\phi) \cup [0, \infty))$$

is a mild solution of the linear RFDE (1.1) under the initial condition $x_0 = \phi$. The uniqueness follows by the above discussion.

We hereafter use the following notation.

Notation 2. For each $\phi \in \mathcal{M}^1([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$, we denote the unique mild solution of the linear RFDE (1.1) under the initial condition $x_0 = \phi$ by $x^L(\cdot; \phi)$: dom $(\phi) \cup [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$.

We have the following corollary.

Corollary 2.15. Let $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{K}$ and $\phi, \psi \in \mathcal{M}^1([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$ be given. Then for all $t \ge 0$,

$$x^{L}(t;\alpha\phi + \beta\psi) = \alpha x^{L}(t;\phi) + \beta x^{L}(t;\psi)$$
(2.7)

holds.

Proof. Let $\chi := \alpha \phi + \beta \psi \in \mathcal{M}^1([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$ and $x : [-r, \infty) \supset \operatorname{dom}(x) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ be the function defined by

$$\operatorname{dom}(x) \coloneqq \operatorname{dom}(\chi) \cup [0, \infty), \quad x(t) \coloneqq \alpha x^{L}(t; \phi) + \beta x^{L}(t; \psi).$$

Since the map *L* and the Lebesgue integration are linear, *x* is a mild solution of the linear RFDE (1.1) under the initial condition $x_0 = \chi$ by the definition of mild solutions (see Definition 2.5). Therefore, (2.7) is a consequence of Theorem 2.14.

2.4 Fundamental matrix solutions

Since ODEs are special DDEs, it is natural to expect that the notions of fundamental systems of solutions and fundamental matrix solutions for linear ODEs are meaningful for DDEs in some way. However, the solution space of the linear RFDE (1.1) is infinite-dimensional. Therefore, it is impossible to define these notions to (1.1) as a simple generalization.

A key to this consideration is to focus on a "finite-dimensionality". For this purpose, we consider an "instantaneous input" as an initial history function. We will use the following notation.

Definition 2.16. For each $\xi \in \mathbb{K}^n$, we define a function $\hat{\xi} \colon [-r, 0] \to \mathbb{K}^n$ by

$$\hat{\xi}(heta) \coloneqq egin{cases} 0 & (heta \in [-r,0)), \ \xi & (heta = 0). \end{cases}$$

 $\hat{0}$ is the constant function whose value is identically equal to the zero vector $0 \in \mathbb{K}^n$.

Since $\hat{\xi} \in \mathcal{M}^1([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$ for each $\xi \in \mathbb{K}^n$, one can consider the mild solution

$$x^{L}(\cdot;\hat{\xi}): [-r,\infty) \to \mathbb{K}^{n}$$

of the linear RFDE (1.1) under the initial condition $x_0 = \hat{\xi}$ from Theorem 2.14. Then Corollary 2.15 yields that the subset S given by

$$\mathcal{S} \coloneqq \left\{ x^L(\cdot; \hat{\xi}) \colon [-r, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n : \xi \in \mathbb{K}^n \right\}$$

forms a linear space. We have the following lemma.

Lemma 2.17. Let $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_m \in \mathbb{K}^n$ be vectors and let $x_j \coloneqq x^L(\cdot; \hat{\xi}_j) \colon [-r, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ for each $j \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$. Then the following properties are equivalent:

- (a) The system of vectors ξ_1, \ldots, ξ_m is linearly independent.
- (b) The system of functions x_1, \ldots, x_m is linearly independent.

Here the system of functions $x_1, ..., x_m$ is said to be *linearly independent* if for any scalars $\alpha_1, ..., \alpha_m, \alpha_1 x_1 + \cdots + \alpha_m x_m = 0$ implies $\alpha_1 = \cdots = \alpha_m = 0$.

Proof of Lemma 2.17. (a) \Rightarrow (b): Since $\alpha_1 x_1 + \cdots + \alpha_m x_m = 0$ implies

$$\alpha_1\xi_1+\cdots+\alpha_m\xi_m=(\alpha_1x_1+\cdots+\alpha_mx_m)(0)=0,$$

this part follows by the definition of linear independence for functions.

(b) \Rightarrow (a): We suppose $\alpha_1\xi_1 + \cdots + \alpha_m\xi_m = 0$ for $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_m \in \mathbb{K}$. Since this implies

$$\alpha_1\hat{\xi}_1+\cdots+\alpha_m\hat{\xi}_m=\hat{0}$$

(2.7) yields

$$\alpha_1 x_1 + \cdots + \alpha_m x_m = 0$$

Therefore, we have $\alpha_1 = \cdots = \alpha_m = 0$ by the assumption (b).

This completes the proof.

Theorem 2.18. The linear space S is *n*-dimensional.

Proof. Let b_1, \ldots, b_n be a basis of \mathbb{K}^n . From Lemma 2.17, the system of functions

$$x^L(\cdot; \hat{m{b}}_1), \ldots, x^L(\cdot; \hat{m{b}}_n) \in \mathcal{S}$$

is linearly independent. Furthermore, for any $x_1, \ldots, x_{n+1} \in S$, the system of functions is linearly dependent from Lemma 2.17 because the system $x_1(0), \ldots, x_{n+1}(0) \in \mathbb{K}^n$ of vectors is linearly dependent. Therefore, the statement holds.

Theorem 2.18 naturally leads us to the following definition.

Definition 2.19 (cf. [18], [19]). We call a basis of the *n*-dimensional linear space S a *fundamental system of solutions* to the linear RFDE (1.1). Equivalently, a fundamental system of solutions is the linear independent system

$$x^{L}(\cdot; \hat{\boldsymbol{b}}_{1}), \ldots, x^{L}(\cdot; \hat{\boldsymbol{b}}_{n}): [-r, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^{n}$$

for some basis b_1, \ldots, b_n of \mathbb{K}^n . We call a matrix-valued function having a fundamental system of solutions as its column vectors a *fundamental matrix solution*. In particular, we call the fundamental matrix solution

$$X: [-r, \infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$$

satisfying X(0) = I the principal fundamental matrix solution. Here I denotes the identity matrix.

The above definition is considered as a natural generalization of the corresponding definition for linear ODEs (see [6, Definition 2.12 in Section 2.1 of Chapter 2]). See also [37, Definition 5.10] for a related definition.

We hereafter use the following notation.

Notation 3. Let $X^L: [-r, \infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ denote the principal fundamental matrix solution of the linear RFDE (1.1). By the above definition,

$$X^{L}(\cdot) = \left(x^{L}(\cdot;\hat{\boldsymbol{e}}_{1}) \cdots x^{L}(\cdot;\hat{\boldsymbol{e}}_{n})\right)$$
(2.8)

holds. Here (e_1, \ldots, e_n) denotes the standard basis of \mathbb{K}^n .

Remark 2.20. Let $\xi = (\xi_1, \dots, \xi_n) \in \mathbb{K}^n$ be given. From (2.8), we have

$$X^{L}(\cdot)\xi = \xi_{1}x^{L}(\cdot;\hat{e}_{1}) + \cdots + \xi_{n}x^{L}(\cdot;\hat{e}_{n})$$

Here the right-hand side is equal to $x^{L}(\cdot;\xi_1\hat{e}_1 + \cdots + \xi_n\hat{e}_n)$ from (2.7). Therefore,

$$X^{L}(\cdot)\xi = x^{L}(\cdot;\hat{\xi})$$

holds.

Remark 2.21. We consider an autonomous linear ODE

$$\dot{x} = Ax \tag{2.9}$$

for some $A \in M_n(\mathbb{K})$. For a system of global solutions $y_1, \ldots, y_m \colon \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{K}^n$ to the linear ODE (2.9), the following statements are equivalent:

- (a) For any $t \in \mathbb{R}$, $y_1(t), \ldots, y_m(t) \in \mathbb{K}^n$ is linearly independent.
- (b) For some $t_0 \in \mathbb{R}$, $y_1(t_0), \ldots, y_m(t_0) \in \mathbb{K}^n$ is linearly independent.
- (c) The system of functions y_1, \ldots, y_m is linearly independent.

The nontrivial part is (c) \Rightarrow (a), which is proved by the principle of superposition and by the unique existence of a solution of (2.9) under an initial condition

$$x(t_0) = \xi \in \mathbb{K}^n$$

Compared with this situation, the linear independence of vectors $x_1(t_0), \ldots, x_m(t_0) \in \mathbb{K}^n$ for each $t_0 > 0$ is not necessarily guaranteed for the functions x_1, \ldots, x_m in Lemma 2.17 under the assumption that (a) or (b) in Lemma 2.17 holds. This should be compared with an example given by Popov [29], which is a three dimensional system of linear DDEs whose solution values are contained in a hyperplane of \mathbb{R}^3 after a certain amount of time has elapsed. See also [19, Section 3.5] and [22, Section 3.5].

2.5 Remarks

2.5.1 Consideration by Delfour

The definition of a mild solution in Definition 2.5 is also related to the consideration by Delfour [8]. In that paper, the author considered a continuous linear map

$$L: W^{1,p}((-r,0), \mathbb{R}^n) \to \mathbb{R}^n$$

for some $p \in [1, \infty)$. Here $W^{1,p}((-r, 0), \mathbb{R}^n)$ is the Sobolev space (e.g., see Brezis [4, Section 8.2]). The author used the integral representation of *L* given by

$$L\phi := \int_{-r}^{0} [A_1(\theta)\phi(\theta) + A_2(\theta)\phi'(\theta)] \,\mathrm{d}\theta, \qquad (2.10)$$

where $A_1, A_2: (-r, 0) \to M_n(\mathbb{R})$ are $n \times n$ real matrix-valued *q*-integrable functions with (1/p) + (1/q) = 1. For the first term of the right-hand side of (2.10), we have

$$\int_0^t \left(\int_{-r}^0 A_1(\theta) x(s+\theta) \, \mathrm{d}\theta \right) \mathrm{d}s = \int_{-r}^0 A_1(\theta) \left(\int_0^t x(s+\theta) \, \mathrm{d}s \right) \mathrm{d}\theta$$

under the exchange of order of integration. Here we have replaced ϕ with x_s and have integrated from 0 to *t* with respect to *s*. In view of the above equality, it can be said that the concept of mild solutions in Definition 2.5 is also hidden in [8]. Theorem 2.14 and its proof should be compared with the existence and uniqueness result in [8].

2.5.2 Mild solutions for linear differential difference equations

We consider an autonomous linear differential difference equation

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + \sum_{k=1}^{m} B_k x(t - \tau_k) \quad (t \ge 0)$$
(2.11)

for $n \times n$ matrices $A, B_1, \ldots, B_m \in M_n(\mathbb{K})$ and $\tau_1, \ldots, \tau_m \in (0, r]$. We refer the reader to [2] as a general reference of the theory of differential difference equations.

The linear DDE (2.11) can be expressed in the form of the linear RFDE (1.1) by defining a continuous linear map $L: C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ by

$$L\psi = A\psi(0) + \sum_{k=1}^{m} B_k \psi(-\tau_k)$$
(2.12)

for $\psi \in C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$. Let $\phi \in \mathcal{M}^1([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$ be given and $x := x^L(\cdot; \phi)$ for the above continuous linear map *L*. By the definition of mild solutions (see Definitions 2.5 and 2.7), *x* satisfies

$$\begin{aligned} x(t) &= \phi(0) + L \int_0^t x_s \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \phi(0) + A \int_0^t x(s) \, \mathrm{d}s + \sum_{k=1}^m B_k \int_{-\tau_k}^{t-\tau_k} x(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \end{aligned}$$

for all $t \ge 0$. Since the last term is equal to

$$\phi(0) + \int_0^t Ax(s) \,\mathrm{d}s + \sum_{k=1}^m \int_{-\tau_k}^{t-\tau_k} B_k x(s) \,\mathrm{d}s,$$

x also satisfies

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + \sum_{k=1}^{m} B_k x(t - \tau_k)$$
 (a.e. $t \ge 0$)

by the Lebesgue differentiation theorem (see Subsection 3.1).

3 Differential equation satisfied by principal fundamental matrix solution

In this section, we consider the linear RFDE (1.1)

$$\dot{x}(t) = Lx_t \quad (t \ge 0)$$

for a continuous linear map $L: C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n) \to \mathbb{K}^n$. We choose a matrix-valued function $\eta: [-r, 0] \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ of bounded variation so that *L* is represented as the Riemann–Stieltjes integral (1.3)

$$L\psi = \int_{-r}^{0} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta)\,\psi(\theta)$$

for $\psi \in C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$. We recall that the domain of definition of η is extended to $(-\infty, 0]$ by letting $\eta(\theta) := \eta(-r)$ for $\theta \in (-\infty, -r]$. We will use the following notation.

Notation 4. Let $\check{\eta} \colon [0, \infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ be the function given by

$$\check{\eta}(u) \coloneqq -\eta(-u)$$

for $u \in [0, \infty)$.

In this paper, a function defined on $[0, \infty)$ is said to be of *locally bounded variation* if it is of bounded variation on any closed and bounded interval of $[0, \infty)$. A function of locally bounded variation is also called a *locally BV function*. Then the above function $\check{\eta}$ is a function of locally bounded variation whose value is constant on $[r, \infty)$. It is related to the reversal formula for Riemann–Stieltjes integrals (see Theorem A.9).

It will turn out that the notions of Volterra operator and Riemann–Stieltjes convolution are useful to deduce a differential equation that is satisfied by the principal fundamental matrix solution X^L : $[-r, \infty) \rightarrow M_n(\mathbb{K})$ of the linear RFDE (1.1).

3.1 Definitions

Definition 3.1. For each $f \in \mathcal{L}^1_{loc}([0,\infty), M_n(\mathbb{K}))$, let $Vf: [0,\infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ be the function defined by

$$(Vf)(t) = \int_0^t f(s) \,\mathrm{d}s.$$
 (3.1)

Here the right-hand side is a Lebesgue integral. We call V the Volterra operator.

For details related to the Volterra operator as a linear operator on $C([0, T], \mathbb{K})$ for each T > 0, see [31]. By using the Lebesgue differentiation theorem (e.g., see [32, Theorem 1.3 in Section 1 of Chapter 3]) component-wise, it holds that Vf is *locally absolutely continuous* (i.e., locally absolutely continuous on any closed and bounded interval of $[0, \infty)$), differentiable almost everywhere on $[0, \infty)$, and

$$(Vf)'(t) = f(t)$$

holds for almost all $t \in [0, \infty)$.

Definition 3.2. For each function $\alpha : [0, \infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ of locally bounded variation and for each continuous function $f : [0, \infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$, we define a function $d\alpha * f : [0, \infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ by

$$(\mathrm{d}\alpha * f)(t) := \int_0^t \mathrm{d}\alpha(u) f(t-u).$$

Here the right-hand side is a Riemann–Stieltjes integral. This function is called a *Riemann–Stieltjes convolution*.

See [31, Definition 10.3 in Section 10.3] for the scalar-valued case. The above definition should be compared with the treatment in [34, Eq. (2.13) in Chapter 2] and [14, Corollary 2.5 in Section I.2 of Appendix I], where an appearing integral is not a Riemann–Stieltjes integral but a Lebesgue–Stieltjes integral.

3.2 Motivation

The following lemma motivates the use of Volterra operator and Riemann–Stieltjes convolution. **Lemma 3.3.** If $x \in \mathcal{L}^1_{loc}([-r, \infty), \mathbb{K}^n)$ satisfies $x_0 = \hat{\xi}$ for some $\xi \in \mathbb{K}^n$, then

$$L\int_0^t x_s \,\mathrm{d}s = \int_{-t}^0 \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) \left(\int_0^{t+\theta} x(s) \,\mathrm{d}s\right) = \int_0^t \mathrm{d}\check{\eta}(u) \left(\int_0^{t-u} x(s) \,\mathrm{d}s\right)$$

holds for all $t \ge 0$.

Proof. Let t > 0 be fixed. By the assumption, $\int_{\theta}^{0} x(s) ds = 0$ holds for all $\theta \in [-r, 0]$. Therefore, we have

$$L\int_0^t x_s \,\mathrm{d}s = \int_{-r}^0 \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) \left(\int_{\theta}^{t+\theta} x(s) \,\mathrm{d}s\right) = \int_{-r}^0 \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) \left(\int_0^{t+\theta} x(s) \,\mathrm{d}s\right)$$

We examine the last term by dividing the consideration into the following cases:

• Case: $t \in [0, r)$. In this case, $t + \theta \ge 0$ is equivalent to $\theta \ge -t$ for each $\theta \in [-r, 0]$. Since $\int_0^{t+\theta} x(s) ds = 0$ for $\theta \in [-r, -t)$,

$$L\int_0^t x_s \,\mathrm{d}s = \int_{-t}^0 \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) \left(\int_0^{t+\theta} x(s) \,\mathrm{d}s\right)$$

holds by the additivity of Riemann-Stieltjes integrals on sub-intervals.

• Case: $t \ge r$. In this case, $t + \theta \ge 0$ holds for all $\theta \in [-r, 0]$. Since η is constant on [-t, -r],

$$L\int_0^t x_s \,\mathrm{d}s = \int_{-t}^0 \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) \left(\int_0^{t+\theta} x(s) \,\mathrm{d}s\right)$$

holds.

Therefore, the expressions of $L \int_0^t x_s ds$ are obtained in combination with the reversal formula for Riemann–Stieltjes integrals (see Theorem A.9).

3.3 Properties of Volterra operator and Riemann–Stieltjes convolution

Throughout this subsection, let $\alpha \colon [0, \infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ be a function of locally bounded variation and $f \colon [0, \infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ be a continuous function.

3.3.1 Continuity and local integrability

The following is a simple result about the continuity of Riemann-Stieltjes convolution.

Lemma 3.4. If f(0) = O, then $d\alpha * f$ is continuous.

Proof. We extend the domain of definition of f to \mathbb{R} by defining f(t) := f(0) = O for $t \leq 0$. Then the obtained function $f : \mathbb{R} \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ is continuous. Let $s, t \in [0, \infty)$ be given so that s < t. By the additivity of Riemann–Stieltjes integrals on sub-intervals,

$$(\mathrm{d}\alpha * f)(s) = \int_0^s \mathrm{d}\alpha(u) f(s-u)$$
$$= \int_0^t \mathrm{d}\alpha(u) f(s-u) - \int_s^t \mathrm{d}\alpha(u) f(s-u)$$

holds. Since

$$\int_{s}^{t} \mathrm{d}\alpha(u) f(s-u) = [\alpha(t) - \alpha(s)]f(0) = O,$$

we have

$$(\mathrm{d}\alpha * f)(t) - (\mathrm{d}\alpha * f)(s) = \int_0^t \mathrm{d}\alpha(u) \left[f(t-u) - f(s-u) \right].$$

By combining this and the uniform continuity of *f* on closed and bounded intervals, the continuity of $d\alpha * f$ is obtained.

See [31, Lemma 10.4 in Section 10.3] for the corresponding result for scalar-valued functions. In this paper, we say that a function is *locally Riemann integrable* if it is Riemann integrable on any closed and bounded interval.

Theorem 3.5. $d\alpha * f$ is a sum of a continuous function and a function of locally bounded variation. Consequently, $d\alpha * f$ is locally Riemann integrable.

Proof. By using f = (f - f(0)) + f(0), we have

$$d\alpha * f = d\alpha * (f - f(0)) + d\alpha * f(0).$$
(3.2)

The first term in the right-hand side is continuous from Lemma 3.4. The second term is of locally bounded variation since

$$(\mathbf{d}\alpha * f(0))(t) = [\alpha(t) - \alpha(0)]f(0)$$

holds for all $t \ge 0$. Therefore, the conclusion holds.

Remark 3.6. Theorem 3.5 yields that $V(d\alpha * f)$ makes sense. Furthermore if α is continuous, then (3.2) shows that $d\alpha * f$ is also continuous.

3.3.2 Riemann-Stieltjes convolution under Volterra operator

The Riemann-Stieltjes convolution and Volterra operator are related in the following way.

Theorem 3.7. *The equality*

$$V(\mathrm{d}\alpha * f) = \mathrm{d}\alpha * Vf \tag{3.3}$$

holds. Consequently, $d\alpha * Vf$ is locally absolutely continuous, differentiable almost everywhere, and satisfies

$$(\mathbf{d}\alpha * Vf)'(t) = (\mathbf{d}\alpha * f)(t)$$

holds for almost all $t \ge 0$.

For the proof, we need the following theorem. It contains the result on iterated Riemann integrals for continuous functions on rectangles as a special case.

Theorem 3.8. Let [a, b] and [c, d] be closed and bounded intervals of \mathbb{R} . If $f : [a, b] \times [c, d] \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ is continuous and $\alpha : [a, b] \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ is a function of bounded variation, then

$$\int_{a}^{b} d\alpha(x) \left(\int_{c}^{d} f(x, y) dy \right) = \int_{c}^{d} \left(\int_{a}^{b} d\alpha(x) f(x, y) \right) dy$$
(3.4)

holds.

See also [39, Theorem 15a in Section 15 of Chapter I]. We will give the proof in Appendix A.7.

Proof of Theorem 3.7. We extend the domain of definition of f to \mathbb{R} by defining f(t) := f(0) for $t \le 0$. By the proof of Lemma 3.4, we have

$$V(\mathrm{d}\alpha * f)(t) = \int_0^t \left(\int_0^t \mathrm{d}\alpha(u) f(s-u) \right) \mathrm{d}s - \int_0^t [\alpha(t) - \alpha(s)] f(0) \, \mathrm{d}s$$

for $t \ge 0$, where

$$\int_0^t \left(\int_0^t d\alpha(u) f(s-u) \right) ds = \int_0^t d\alpha(u) \left(\int_0^t f(s-u) ds \right)$$

holds from Theorem 3.8. The last term is expressed by

$$(\mathrm{d}\alpha * Vf)(t) + \int_0^t \mathrm{d}\alpha(u) \int_{-u}^0 f(s) \,\mathrm{d}s$$

by using the Volterra operator and the Riemann–Stieltjes convolution. Since $\int_{-u}^{0} f(s) ds = uf(0)$ for $u \in [0, t]$, the proof is complete by showing

$$\int_0^t [\alpha(t) - \alpha(s)] \, \mathrm{d}s = \int_0^t u \, \mathrm{d}\alpha(u).$$

This is indeed true because

$$\int_0^t u \, \mathrm{d}\alpha(u) = [u\alpha(u)]_{u=0}^t - \int_0^t \alpha(u) \, \mathrm{d}u$$
$$= t\alpha(t) - \int_0^t \alpha(u) \, \mathrm{d}u$$

holds by the integration by parts formula for Riemann–Stieltjes integrals. See Theorem A.10 for the detail. $\hfill \Box$

The following is a corollary of Theorem 3.7. It will not be used in the sequel.

Corollary 3.9. Furthermore, if f is continuously differentiable, then $d\alpha * f$ is expressed by

$$\mathrm{d}\alpha * f = (\alpha - \alpha(0))f(0) + V(\mathrm{d}\alpha * f').$$

Consequently, $d\alpha * f$ is of locally bounded variation, differentiable almost everywhere, and satisfies

$$(\mathbf{d}\alpha * f)'(t) = \alpha'(t)f(0) + (\mathbf{d}\alpha * f')(t)$$

for almost all $t \ge 0$.

Proof. By the fundamental theorem of calculus, f = f(0) + Vf' holds. By combining this and (3.3), the expression of $d\alpha * f$ is obtained. Since $V(d\alpha * f')$ is locally absolutely continuous, it is also of locally bounded variation. Therefore, the expression of $d\alpha * f$ yields that $d\alpha * f$ is of locally bounded variation. The remaining properties are consequences of the fact that matrix-valued functions of bounded variation are differentiable almost everywhere. This is obtained by applying the corresponding result¹ for real-valued functions component-wise.

¹See [32, Theorem 3.4 in Subsection 3.1 of Chapter 3], for example.

3.4 Differential equation and principal fundamental matrix solution

As an application of Theorem 3.7, one can derive a differential equation that is satisfied by $x^{L}(\cdot; \hat{\zeta})$ for each $\xi \in \mathbb{K}^{n}$.

Theorem 3.10. Let $x \coloneqq x^L(\cdot; \hat{\xi})$ for some $\xi \in \mathbb{K}^n$. Then x satisfies

$$x(t) = \xi + \int_{-t}^{0} d\eta(\theta) \left(\int_{0}^{t+\theta} x(s) ds \right) = \xi + (d\check{\eta} * Vx|_{[0,\infty)})(t)$$
(3.5)

for all $t \ge 0$. Furthermore, $x|_{[0,\infty)}$ is locally absolutely continuous, differentiable almost everywhere, and satisfies

$$\dot{x}(t) = \int_{-t}^{0} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) \, x(t+\theta) = \left(\mathrm{d}\check{\eta} * x|_{[0,\infty)}\right)(t) \tag{3.6}$$

for almost all $t \in [0, \infty)$.

Proof. By definition, *x* satisfies

$$x(t) = \xi + L \int_0^t x_s \, \mathrm{d}s$$

for all $t \ge 0$, and $x|_{[0,\infty)}$ is continuous. Then Eq. (3.5) is a consequence of Lemma 3.3. Theorem 3.7 and Eq. (3.5) yield that

$$x(t) = \xi + V(\mathrm{d}\check{\eta} * x|_{[0,\infty)})(t)$$

holds for all $t \ge 0$. Therefore, it holds that $x|_{[0,\infty)}$ is locally absolutely continuous, differentiable almost everywhere, and satisfies

$$\dot{x}(t) = \left(\mathrm{d}\check{\eta} * x|_{[0,\infty)}\right)(t)$$

for almost all $t \ge 0$. The remaining expression in Eq. (3.6) is a consequence of the reversal formula for Riemann–Stieltjes integrals.

The following theorem also holds.

Theorem 3.11. Let $x \in \mathcal{L}^1_{loc}([-r,\infty), \mathbb{K}^n)$ be given so that $x_0 = \hat{\xi}$ for some $\xi \in \mathbb{K}^n$. If x satisfies (3.5) for all $t \ge 0$, then $x = x^L(\cdot; \hat{\xi})$.

Proof. From Lemma 3.3, *x* satisfies

$$x(t) = \xi + L \int_0^t x_s \, \mathrm{d}s$$

for all $t \ge 0$. From Lemma 2.8 and by the continuity of *L*, the right-hand side is continuous with respect to $t \ge 0$. Therefore, *x* is a mild solution of the linear RFDE (1.1) under the initial condition $x_0 = \hat{\xi}$. By the uniqueness (see Theorem 2.14), the conclusion is obtained.

We obtain the following result as a direct consequence of Theorem 3.10 and (2.8). We omit the proof.

Theorem 3.12 (cf. [34]). The principal fundamental matrix solution $X^L: [-r, \infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ of the linear RFDE (1.1) satisfies

$$X^{L}(t) = I + \int_{-t}^{0} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) \left(\int_{0}^{t+\theta} X^{L}(s) \,\mathrm{d}s \right) = I + \left(\mathrm{d}\check{\eta} * VX^{L}|_{[0,\infty)} \right)(t)$$
(3.7)

for all $t \ge 0$. Furthermore, $X^L|_{[0,\infty)}$ is locally absolutely continuous, differentiable almost everywhere, and satisfies

$$\dot{X}^{L}(t) = \int_{-t}^{0} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) X^{L}(t+\theta) = \left(\mathrm{d}\check{\eta} * X^{L}|_{[0,\infty)}\right)(t)$$
(3.8)

for almost all $t \in [0, \infty)$.

Roughly speaking, Eq. (3.8) is used as the defining equation of the fundamental matrix solution in [34, (9.1) in Chapter 9].

4 Non-homogeneous linear RFDEs

In this section, we study a non-homogeneous linear RFDE (1.2)

$$\dot{x}(t) = Lx_t + g(t)$$
 (a.e. $t \ge 0$)

for a continuous linear map $L: C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ and some $g \in \mathcal{L}^1_{loc}([0, \infty), \mathbb{K}^n)$.

4.1 Non-homogeneous linear RFDE and mild solutions

It is natural to define the notion of mild solutions to Eq. (1.2) in the following way.

Definition 4.1. Let $t_0 \ge 0$ and $\phi \in \mathcal{M}^1([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$ be given. We say that a function $x \colon [t_0 - r, \infty) \supset \operatorname{dom}(x) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ is a *mild solution* of Eq. (1.2) under the initial condition $x_{t_0} = \phi$ if the following conditions are satisfied: (i) $x_{t_0} = \phi$, (ii) $[t_0, \infty) \subset \operatorname{dom}(x)$, (iii) $x|_{[t_0,\infty)}$ is continuous, and (iv) for all $t \ge t_0$,

$$x(t) = \phi(0) + L \int_{t_0}^t x_s \, \mathrm{d}s + \int_{t_0}^t g(s) \, \mathrm{d}s$$

holds.

We note that $\int_{t_0}^t x_s ds \in C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$ is defined by

$$\left(\int_{t_0}^t x_s \,\mathrm{d}s\right)(\theta) \coloneqq \int_{t_0}^t x(s+\theta) \,\mathrm{d}s = \int_{t_0+\theta}^{t+\theta} x(s) \,\mathrm{d}s$$

for $\theta \in [-r, 0]$, and

$$\operatorname{dom}(x) = (t_0 + \operatorname{dom}(\phi)) \cup [t_0, \infty) = t_0 + (\operatorname{dom}(\phi) \cup [0, \infty))$$

holds for a mild solution of Eq. (1.2) under the initial condition $x_{t_0} = \phi$.

Lemma 4.2. Let $t_0 \ge 0$ and $\phi \in C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$ be given. If $x : [t_0 - r, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ is a mild solution of Eq. (1.2) under the initial condition $x_{t_0} = \phi$, then x satisfies

$$\dot{x}(t) = Lx_t + g(t)$$

for almost all $t \geq t_0$.

Proof. By the translation, we may assume $t_0 = 0$. Since $L: C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ is a bounded linear operator,

$$x(t) = \phi(0) + \int_0^t Lx_s \, ds + \int_0^t g(s) \, ds$$

holds for all $t \ge 0$ from Corollary 2.12. Then the fundamental theorem of calculus and the Lebesgue differentiation theorem yield that $x|_{[0,\infty)}$ is differentiable almost everywhere and

$$\dot{x}(t) = Lx_t + g(t)$$

holds for almost all $t \ge 0$.

Remark 4.3. Let $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$. We assume that dom $(g) = [0, \infty)$ and consider the function $F: [0, \infty) \times C([-r, 0], \mathbb{R}^n) \to \mathbb{R}^n$ defined by

$$F(t,\phi) \coloneqq L\phi + g(t).$$

Then *F* satisfies the Carathéodory condition. See [19, Section 2.6 of Chapter 2] and [22, Section 2.6 of Chapter 2] for the detail of the Carathéodory condition for RFDEs. Lemma 4.2 shows that a mild solution $x: [t_0 - r, \infty) \rightarrow \mathbb{R}^n$ of Eq. (1.2) under the initial condition $x_{t_0} = \phi \in C([-r, 0], \mathbb{R}^n)$ is a solution (in the Carathéodory sense).

4.2 Integral equation with a general forcing term

More generally, for a given $t_0 \ge 0$ and a given continuous function $G: [t_0, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ with $G(t_0) = 0$, we can discuss a solution of the following integral equation

$$x(t) = \phi(0) + L \int_{t_0}^t x_s \, \mathrm{d}s + G(t) \quad (t \ge t_0)$$
(4.1)

under an initial condition $x_{t_0} = \phi \in \mathcal{M}^1([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$. Here the assumption $G(t_0) = 0$ is natural because the right-hand side of (4.1) is equal to

$$\phi(0) + G(t_0)$$

at $t = t_0$. The notion of a solution of (4.1) can be defined in a similar way as in Definition 4.1. The following theorem holds.

Theorem 4.4. Let $t_0 \ge 0$ be given. Suppose that $G: [t_0, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ is a continuous function with $G(t_0) = 0$. Then for any $\phi \in \mathcal{M}^1([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$, Eq. (4.1) has a unique solution under the initial condition $x_{t_0} = \phi$.

The following proof should be compared with the proof of Theorem 2.14.

Proof of Theorem 4.4. By the translation, it is sufficient to consider the case $t_0 = 0$. We will solve the integral equation locally and will connect the obtained local solutions. For this purpose, we need to consider an integral equation under the initial condition $x_{\sigma} = \psi$ for each $\sigma \ge 0$ and each $\psi \in \mathcal{M}^1([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$. Here an appropriate forcing term is given by

$$G(t,\sigma) \coloneqq G(t) - G(\sigma)$$

for $t \ge \sigma$. Then we are going to consider an integral equation

$$x(t) = \psi(0) + L \int_{\sigma}^{t} x_s \, \mathrm{d}s + G(t,\sigma) \qquad (t \ge \sigma)$$
(4.2)

under the initial condition $x_{\sigma} = \psi$. The remainder of the proof is divided into the following steps.

Step 1: Existence and uniqueness of a local solution. We fix the above σ and ψ . By defining a continuous function $y: [-r, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ by

$$y(s) \coloneqq \begin{cases} x(\sigma+s) - \bar{\psi}(s) & (\sigma+s \in \operatorname{dom}(x)), \\ 0 & (\sigma+s \notin \operatorname{dom}(x)), \end{cases}$$

Eq. (4.2) is transformed into

$$y(s) = \int_0^s Ly_u \,\mathrm{d}u + L \int_0^s \bar{\psi}_u \,\mathrm{d}u + G(\sigma + s, \sigma) \quad (s \ge 0),$$

which is an integral equation under the initial condition $y_0 = 0$. We choose a constant a > 0 so that

and consider a closed subset *Y* of the Banach space $C([-r, a], \mathbb{K}^n)$ given by

$$Y \coloneqq \{y \in C([-r,a],\mathbb{K}^n) : y_0 = 0\}.$$

Furthermore, we define a transformation $T: Y \to Y$ by $(Ty)_0 = 0$ and

$$(Ty)(s) := \int_0^s Ly_u \, \mathrm{d}u + L \int_0^s \bar{\psi}_u \, \mathrm{d}u + G(\sigma + s, \sigma) \quad (s \ge 0).$$

Then it holds that *T* is contractive, and the application of the contraction mapping principle yields the unique existence of a fixed point y_* of *T*. By defining a function $x_* : [\sigma - r, \sigma + a] \rightarrow \mathbb{K}^n$ by

$$x_*(\sigma+s) \coloneqq y_*(s) + \bar{\psi}(s) \quad (s \in \operatorname{dom}(\psi) \cup [0,a])$$

it is concluded that x_* is a solution of Eq. (4.2). We note that such a local solution is unique by the choice of the above *a*.

Step 2: Existence and uniqueness of a (global) solution. We note that the time a > 0 of existence of a local solution to Eq. (4.2) in Step 1 does not depend on the considered integral equation (4.2) and the specified initial condition $x_{\sigma} = \psi$. In this step, we will show that by connecting these local solutions, we obtain a global solution. For this purpose, for each $\sigma \ge 0$ and each $\psi \in \mathcal{M}^1([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$, let

$$x(\cdot;\sigma,\psi)\colon [\sigma-r,\sigma+a]\to\mathbb{K}^n$$

be the obtained unique solution of Eq. (4.2) under an initial condition $x_{\sigma} = \psi$. We fix σ and ψ . Let

$$x := x(\cdot; \sigma, \psi)$$
 and $y := x(\cdot; \sigma + a, x_{\sigma+a})$.

We now claim that the function $z: [\sigma - r, \sigma + 2a] \rightarrow \mathbb{K}^n$ defined by

$$z(t) := \begin{cases} x(t) & (t \in [\sigma - r, \sigma + a]) \\ y(t) & (t \in [\sigma + a - r, \sigma + 2a]) \end{cases}$$

is a solution to Eq. (4.2). We note that this definition makes sense because $y_{\sigma+a} = x_{\sigma+a}$. To show the claim, it is sufficient to consider the case $t \in [\sigma + a, \sigma + 2a]$. In this case, we have

$$z(t) = y(t) = x_{\sigma+a}(0) + L \int_{\sigma+a}^{t} y_s \,\mathrm{d}s + G(t,\sigma+a),$$

where

$$x_{\sigma+a}(0) = x(\sigma+a) = \phi(0) + L \int_{\sigma}^{\sigma+a} x_s \,\mathrm{d}s + G(\sigma+a,\sigma).$$

In the above equations, one can replace y_s and x_s with z_s . Therefore, in view of

$$G(t, \sigma + a) + G(\sigma + a, \sigma) = G(t, \sigma),$$

it holds that *z* is a solution of Eq. (4.2) under the initial condition $x_{t_0} = \phi$.

By repeating the above procedure, a global solution of the original integral equation (4.1) is obtained. By the uniqueness of each local solution, such a global solution is unique. \Box

Remark 4.5. Let $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$. In [21], Hale and Meyer studied the following equation

$$x(t) = \phi(0) + g(t, x_t) - g(t_0, \phi) + \int_{t_0}^t f(s, x_s) \, \mathrm{d}s + \int_{t_0}^t h(s) \, \mathrm{d}s$$

under an initial condition $x_{t_0} = \phi \in C([-r, 0], \mathbb{R}^n)$ for each $t_0 \in \mathbb{R}$. Here

$$f,g: \mathbb{R} \times C([-r,0],\mathbb{R}^n) \to \mathbb{R}^n$$

are continuous maps with the properties that

$$C([-r,0],\mathbb{R}^n) \ni \phi \mapsto f(t,\phi) \in \mathbb{R}^n \text{ and } C([-r,0],\mathbb{R}^n) \ni \phi \mapsto g(t,\phi) \in \mathbb{R}^n$$

are linear for each $t \in \mathbb{R}$, and $h: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^n$ is a locally Lebesgue integrable function. In [21, Theorem 1 in Chapter II], it is shown that the above problem has a unique solution under an additional assumption of the non-atomicity of *g* at 0. See [21, Chapter I] for the detail of this condition. The proof of Theorem 4.4 should be compared with [21, Proof of Theorem 1 in Chapter II].

We hereafter use the following notation.

Notation 5. Let $G: [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ be a continuous function with G(0) = 0 and

$$\phi \in \mathcal{M}^1([-r,0],\mathbb{K}^n)$$

be given. The unique solution of Eq. (1.6)

$$x(t) = \phi(0) + L \int_0^t x_s \, \mathrm{d}s + G(t) \quad (t \ge 0)$$

is denoted by $x^{L}(\cdot;\phi,G): [-r,\infty) \to \mathbb{K}^{n}$. Then $x^{L}(\cdot;\phi,0) = x^{L}(\cdot;\phi)$.

We obtain the following corollary. It will be a basics of considering a variation of constants formula for Eq. (1.6).

Corollary 4.6. For any $\phi \in \mathcal{M}^1([-r,0],\mathbb{K}^n)$ and any continuous function $G: [0,\infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ with G(0) = 0,

$$x^{L}(\cdot;\phi,G) = x^{L}(\cdot;\phi,0) + x^{L}(\cdot;0,G)$$

holds.

Proof. Let $x := x^L(\cdot; \phi, 0) + x^L(\cdot; 0, G)$. Then *x* satisfies $x_0 = \phi$. Furthermore, we have

$$\begin{aligned} x(t) &= x^{L}(t;\phi,0) + x^{L}(t;0,G) \\ &= \phi(0) + L \int_{0}^{t} x^{L}(\cdot;\phi,0)_{s} \, \mathrm{d}s + L \int_{0}^{t} x^{L}(\cdot;0,G)_{s} \, \mathrm{d}s + G(t) \end{aligned}$$

for all $t \ge 0$. Since the last term is equal to

$$\phi(0) + L \int_0^t x_s \,\mathrm{d}s + G(t)$$

by the linearity of *L*, Theorem 4.4 yields $x = x^{L}(\cdot; \phi, G)$.

In the same way as in Theorems 3.10 and 3.11 under Theorem 4.4, we obtain the following theorems. The proof can be omitted.

Theorem 4.7. Let $G: [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ be a continuous function with G(0) = 0 and $x := x^L(\cdot; \hat{\xi}, G)$ for some $\xi \in \mathbb{K}^n$. Then x satisfies

$$x(t) = \xi + \int_{-t}^{0} d\eta(\theta) \left(\int_{0}^{t+\theta} x(s) ds \right) + G(t) = \xi + \left(d\check{\eta} * Vx|_{[0,\infty)} \right)(t) + G(t)$$
(4.3)

for all $t \geq 0$.

Theorem 4.8. Let $G: [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ be a continuous function with G(0) = 0 and

$$x \in \mathcal{L}^1_{\mathrm{loc}}([-r,\infty),\mathbb{K}^n)$$

be given so that $x_0 = \hat{\xi}$ for some $\xi \in \mathbb{K}^n$. If x satisfies (4.3) for all $t \ge 0$, then $x = x^L(\cdot; \hat{\xi}, G)$.

5 Convolution and Volterra operator

5.1 A motivation to introduce convolution

5.1.1 Variation of constants formula for non-homogeneous linear ODEs

As a motivation to introduce convolution for locally Riemann integrable functions on $[0, \infty)$, we first recall the variation of constants formula for a non-homogeneous linear ODE

$$\dot{x} = Ax + f(t) \tag{5.1}$$

for an $n \times n$ matrix $A \in M_n(\mathbb{K})$ and a continuous function $f \colon \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{K}^n$. The unique global solution $x^A(\cdot; t_0, \xi, f) \colon \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{K}^n$ of Eq. (5.1) satisfying an initial condition $x(t_0) = \xi \in \mathbb{K}^n$ is expressed by

$$x^{A}(t;t_{0},\xi,f) = e^{tA} \left[e^{-t_{0}A}\xi + \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{-uA}f(u) du \right] \quad (t \in \mathbb{R})$$

$$(5.2)$$

with the matrix exponential. This is the *variation of constants formula* for (5.1), which is obtained by finding an equation of y = y(t) under the change of variable $x(t) = e^{tA}y(t)$. Indeed, the function *y* must satisfy an initial condition $y(t_0) = e^{-t_0A}\xi$ and

$$\dot{y}(t) = e^{-tA}f(t) \quad (t \in \mathbb{R}).$$

This procedure to derive the formula (5.2) corresponds to replacing a constant vector $v \in \mathbb{K}^n$ in the general solution

$$x(t) = e^{tA}v$$

for the linear ODE (2.9) with a vector-valued function y = y(t). This is the reason for the terminology of the variation of constants formula.

The above method to derive (5.2) should be called the *method of variation of constants*. Unfortunately, this method does not exist for a non-homogeneous linear RFDE (1.2) because the solution space of the linear RFDE (1.1) is infinite-dimensional and (1.1) does not have a general solution. Even if the method itself does not exist for (1.2), a formula similar to (5.2) if it exists will be useful to analyze the dynamics of RFDEs near equilibria. For this purpose, a form

$$x^{A}(t;\xi,f) = e^{tA}\xi + \int_{0}^{t} e^{(t-u)A}f(u) \,\mathrm{d}u,$$
(5.3)

which is equivalent to (5.2) is helpful. Here the initial time t_0 is set to 0, and it has been omitted in $x^A(t;\xi, f)$. The first term of the right-hand side of (5.3) is the solution of the linear ODE (2.9) under the initial condition $x(0) = \xi$. Therefore, the second term of the right-hand side of (5.3) is the solution of (5.1) under the initial condition x(0) = 0. This can be checked directly by differentiating the second term as

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \int_0^t \mathrm{e}^{(t-u)A} f(u) \,\mathrm{d}u = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left[\mathrm{e}^{tA} \int_0^t \mathrm{e}^{-uA} f(u) \,\mathrm{d}u \right]$$
$$= f(t) + A \mathrm{e}^{tA} \int_0^t \mathrm{e}^{-uA} f(u) \,\mathrm{d}u.$$

We note that this gives another proof of (5.3).

5.1.2 Convolution and non-homogeneous linear RFDEs

For a continuous linear map $L: C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ and a continuous function $f: [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$, we consider the non-homogeneous linear RFDE (1.7)

$$\dot{x}(t) = Lx_t + f(t) \quad (t \ge 0).$$

Since $\mathbb{R} \ni t \mapsto e^{tA} \in M_n(\mathbb{K})$ is the *principal fundamental matrix solution* of the linear ODE (2.9) in the sense that it is a matrix solution to (2.9) and $e^{tA}|_{t=0}$ is the identity matrix, it is natural to ask whether the function $x(\cdot; f): [-r, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ defined by $x(\cdot; f)_0 = 0$ and (1.8)

$$x(t;f) \coloneqq \int_0^t X^L(t-u)f(u) \,\mathrm{d} u$$

for $t \ge 0$ is a solution to Eq. (1.7). Here $X^L: [-r, \infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ is the principal fundamental matrix solution of the linear RFDE (1.1)

$$\dot{x}(t) = Lx_t \quad (t \ge 0).$$

In Theorem 3.12, we obtained the differential equation that is satisfied by X^L . However, one can not directly prove that the function $x(\cdot; f)$ is a solution to (1.7) by differentiating the right-hand side of (1.8) as in the case of the non-homogeneous linear ODE (5.1) because one cannot take the term $X^L(t)$ out of the integral. This comes from the property that initial value

problems of RFDEs cannot be solved backward in general. Therefore, one needs to treat the integral of the right-hand side of (1.8) as it is.

Such an integral is a convolution for locally (Riemann) integrable functions, which should be distinguished from the convolution for integrable functions. The convolution for locally integrable functions has been used in the literature of DDEs. For example, see [2, Chapter 1] with the context of the Laplace transform. The convolution is also used in [34] and [14], however, the detail has been omitted there.

5.2 Convolution and Riemann–Stieltjes convolution

In this subsection, we study a convolution of the following type.

Definition 5.1. For each pair of locally Riemann integrable functions $f, g: [0, \infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$, we define a function $g * f: [0, \infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ by

$$(g*f)(t) \coloneqq \int_0^t g(t-u)f(u)\,\mathrm{d}u = \int_0^t g(u)f(t-u)\,\mathrm{d}u$$

for $t \ge 0$. Here the above integrals are Riemann integrals. We call the function g * f the *convolution* of g and f.

See [31, Section 5.3] for the convolution of continuous functions. We note that when f is a constant function,

$$(g * f)(t) = \int_0^t g(u)f(0) \, \mathrm{d}u = (Vg)(t)f(0)$$
(5.4)

holds for all $t \ge 0$. In the same way, g * f = g(0)Vf holds when g is constant.

Lemma 5.2 (cf. [31]). Let $f, g: [0, \infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ be locally Riemann integrable functions. If f is continuous, then g * f is a sum of a continuous function and a locally absolutely continuous function.

Proof. By using (5.4),

$$g * f = g * (f - f(0)) + (Vg)f(0)$$

holds. Therefore, the conclusion is obtained by showing that g * f is continuous when f(0) = O. We extend the domain of definition of f to \mathbb{R} by defining f(t) := f(0) = O for $t \le 0$. Let $s, t \in [0, \infty)$ be given so that s < t. By the same reasoning as in the proof of Lemma 3.4, we have

$$(g * f)(t) - (g * f)(s) = \int_0^t g(u) [f(t - u) - f(s - u)] du.$$

By combining this and the uniform continuity of f on closed and bounded intervals, the continuity of g * f is obtained.

5.2.1 Convolution of locally BV functions and continuous functions

By using Theorem 3.7, one can obtain the following result on the regularity of convolution.

Theorem 5.3 (cf. [33]). If $f: [0, \infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ is continuous and $g: [0, \infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ is of locally bounded variation, then

$$g * f = g(0)Vf + dg * (Vf) = V(g(0)f + dg * f)$$
(5.5)

holds. Consequently, the convolution g * f is locally absolutely continuous, differentiable almost everywhere, and satisfies

$$(g * f)'(t) = g(0)f(t) + (dg * f)(t)$$

for almost all $t \geq 0$.

The above result is considered as the finite-dimensional version of [33, Theorem 3.2] (i.e., the case that the Banach space X in [33, Theorem 3.2] is finite-dimensional) except for the equality

$$g * f = g(0)Vf + dg * (Vf).$$

In the following, we give a simpler proof of Theorem 5.3 based on Theorem 3.7.

Proof of Theorem 5.3. Since Vf is continuously differentiable and (Vf)(0) = O,

$$[dg * (Vf)](t) = [g(u)(Vf)(t-u)]_{u=0}^{t} + \int_{0}^{t} g(u)f(t-u)du$$
$$= -g(0)(Vf)(t) + (g * f)(t)$$

holds for all $t \ge 0$ by the integration by parts formula for Riemann–Stieltjes integrals and from Theorem A.19. By combining the obtained equality

$$g * f = g(0)(Vf) + dg * (Vf)$$

and Theorem 3.7, the equality (5.5) is obtained.

Remark 5.4. Let $f: [0, \infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ be a continuous function and $g: [0, \infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ be a function of locally bounded variation. By defining a function $V(dg): [0, \infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ by

$$V(\mathrm{d}g)(t) \coloneqq g(t) - g(0)$$

for $t \ge 0$, we have

$$V(\mathrm{d}g * f) = \mathrm{d}g * (Vf) = V(\mathrm{d}g) * f$$

from Theorems 3.7 and 5.3. This formula is easy to remember. We note that the above definition of V(dg) is reasonable because

$$\int_0^t \mathrm{d}g(u) = g(t) - g(0)$$

holds for all $t \ge 0$.

We have the following corollaries.

Corollary 5.5. If $f: [0, \infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ is continuous and $g: [0, \infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ is of locally bounded variation, then

$$V(g * f) = g * (Vf)$$

holds.

Proof. From Theorems 5.3 and 3.7, we have

$$V(g * f) = g(0)(V^2 f) + dg * (V^2 f),$$

where $V^2 f := V(Vf)$. Since the right-hand side is equal to g * (Vf) from Theorem 5.3, the equality is obtained.

Corollary 5.6. Let $f: [0, \infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ be a continuous function and $g: [0, \infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ be a function of locally bounded variation. Then the following statements hold:

1. If g is continuous or f(0) = O, then g * f is continuously differentiable and

$$(g*f)' = g(0)f + dg*f$$

holds.

2. If g is locally absolutely continuous, then g * f is continuously differentiable and

$$(g*f)' = g(0)f + g'*f$$

holds. Here $g' * f : [0, \infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ is the function defined by

$$(g'*f)(t) := \int_0^t g'(t-u)f(u) \, \mathrm{d}u = \int_0^t g'(u)f(t-u) \, \mathrm{d}u$$

for $t \ge 0$, where the integrals are Lebesgue integrals.

Proof. 1. Under the assumption, dg * f is continuous from Lemma 3.4 and Remark 3.6. Therefore, the conclusion follows by the formula (5.5).

2. The continuous differentiability of g * f follows by the statement 1. When g is locally absolutely continuous,

dg * f = g' * f

holds from Theorem A.20.

5.2.2 Associativity of Riemann–Stieltjes convolution

For the proof of Theorem 5.9 below, we need the following result.

Theorem 5.7 (refs. [17], [31]). Let $\alpha : [0, \infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ be a function of locally bounded variation. Then for any continuous functions $f, g : [0, \infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$,

$$d\alpha * (g * f) = (d\alpha * g) * f$$
(5.6)

holds.

Remark 5.8. Both sides of Eq. (5.6) are meaningful from Lemma 5.2 and Theorem 3.5. Eq. (3.3) is a special case of (5.6) since we have

$$Vf = f * \mathcal{I} = \mathcal{I} * f$$

for any $f \in \mathcal{L}^1_{loc}([0,\infty), M_n(\mathbb{K}))$. Here $\mathcal{I}: [0,\infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ denotes the constant function whose value is equal to the identity matrix *I*.

The above is a result on the associativity for Riemann–Stieltjes convolutions. The corresponding statements in a more general setting are given in [17, Section 6 in Chapter 3]. See also [31, Proposition D.9 in Appendix D] for a similar result to Theorem 5.7.

One can prove Theorem 5.7 by the same reasoning as in the proof of Theorem 3.7, however, we give an outline of the proof for reader's convenience.

Outline of the proof of Theorem 5.7. We extend the domain of definition of g to \mathbb{R} by defining g(t) := g(0) for $t \le 0$. Then the obtained function $g: \mathbb{R} \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ is continuous. Let t > 0 be fixed. By the proof of Lemma 3.4, we have

$$(\mathrm{d}\alpha \ast g)(u) = \int_0^t \mathrm{d}\alpha(v) g(u-v) - [\alpha(t) - \alpha(u)]g(0)$$

for $u \in [0, t]$. Therefore, $[(d\alpha * g) * f](t)$ is expressed as

$$[(\mathrm{d}\alpha \ast g) \ast f](t) = \int_0^t \left(\int_0^t \mathrm{d}\alpha(v)g(u-v)\right) f(t-u)\,\mathrm{d}u - \int_0^t [\alpha(t)-\alpha(u)]g(0)f(t-u)\,\mathrm{d}u.$$

Since

$$[0,t] \times [0,t] \ni (u,v) \mapsto g(u-v)f(t-u) \in M_n(\mathbb{K})$$

is continuous, the first term of the right-hand side becomes

$$\int_0^t \mathrm{d}\alpha(v) \left(\int_0^t g(u-v) f(t-u) \,\mathrm{d}u \right)$$

from Theorem 3.8. Here the integrand also becomes

$$\int_{-v}^{t-v} g(u)f(t-u-v)\,\mathrm{d}u = (g*f)(t-v) + \int_{-v}^{0} g(0)f(t-u-v)\,\mathrm{d}u$$

Then the proof is complete by showing

$$\int_0^t [\alpha(t) - \alpha(u)]g(0)f(t-u)\,\mathrm{d}u = \int_0^t \mathrm{d}\alpha(v)\left(\int_{-v}^0 g(0)f(t-u-v)\,\mathrm{d}u\right).$$

One can prove this by using the integration by parts formula for Riemann–Stieltjes integrals. $\hfill \Box$

5.3 A formula for non-homogeneous equations with trivial initial history

Let $L: C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ be a continuous linear map. We recall that for a continuous map $G: [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ with G(0) = 0, the function $x^L(\cdot; 0, G): [-r, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ denotes the unique solution of an integral equation

$$x(t) = L \int_0^t x_s \, ds + G(t) \quad (t \ge 0)$$
(5.7)

under the initial condition $x_0 = 0$.

In this subsection, as an application of the results in Subsection 5.2, we show that the function $x(\cdot; f): [-r, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ defined by $x(\cdot; f)_0 = 0$ and (1.8) is a solution to the non-homogeneous linear RFDE (1.7).

Theorem 5.9 (cf. [35]). Let $f: [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ be a continuous function. Then

$$x^{L}(t;0,Vf) = \int_{0}^{t} X^{L}(t-u)f(u) \,\mathrm{d}u$$
(5.8)

holds for all $t \geq 0$ *.*

We note that $x^{L}(\cdot; 0, Vf)$ is a solution to Eq. (1.7) (see Lemma 4.2).

Proof of Theorem 5.9. Let $x \coloneqq x(\cdot; f)|_{[0,\infty)}$ and $X \coloneqq X^L|_{[0,\infty)}$. Since *X* is locally absolutely continuous (see Theorem 3.12) and X(0) = I,

$$x = X * f = Vf + \dot{X} * (Vf)$$

holds from Corollary 5.6. For the term $\dot{X} * (Vf)$, we have

$$\dot{X} * (Vf) = (d\check{\eta} * X) * (Vf)$$
$$= d\check{\eta} * [X * (Vf)]$$
$$= d\check{\eta} * V(X * f)$$

from Theorems 3.12, 5.7, and Corollary 5.5. This shows that $x(\cdot; f)$ satisfies

$$x(t;f) = \left(\mathrm{d}\check{\eta} * Vx(\cdot;f)|_{[0,\infty)}\right)(t) + (Vf)(t)$$

for all $t \ge 0$. Therefore, the equality (5.8) is obtained from Theorem 4.8.

The above proof of Theorem 5.9 is different from the proofs in the literature (e.g., see [35, Section 4]).

6 Variation of constants formula

Let $L: C([-r,0], \mathbb{K}^n) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ be a continuous linear map and $X^L: [-r,\infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ be the principal fundamental matrix solution of the linear RFDE (1.1)

$$\dot{x}(t) = Lx_t \quad (t \ge 0).$$

In this section, we obtain a "variation of constants formula" for the non-homogeneous linear RFDE (1.2)

$$\dot{x}(t) = Lx_t + g(t)$$
 (a.e. $t \ge 0$)

for some $g \in \mathcal{L}^1_{loc}([0,\infty), \mathbb{K}^n)$ expressed by X^L . In view of Corollary 4.6, we will divide our consideration into the following steps:

- Step 1: To find a formula for the mild solution $x^{L}(\cdot; 0, Vg)$ of Eq. (1.2) under the initial condition $x_0 = 0$.
- Step 2: To find a formula for the mild solution x^L(·; φ, 0) of Eq. (1.1) under the initial condition x₀ = φ ∈ M¹([-r, 0], Kⁿ).

Then the full formula for the mild solution of (1.2) under the initial condition $x_0 = \phi \in \mathcal{M}^1([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$ is obtained by combining the above formulas. In Step 1, for a given continuous function $G: [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ with G(0) = 0, we indeed consider the integral equation (5.7)

$$x(t) = L \int_0^t x_s \, \mathrm{d}s + G(t) \quad (t \ge 0)$$

under the initial condition $x_0 = 0$ and try to find a formula for the solution $x^L(\cdot; 0, G)$ expressed by X^L .

Remark 6.1. Since $x_0 = 0 = \hat{0}$, Eq. (5.7) is equivalent to

$$x(t) = \int_{-t}^{0} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) \left(\int_{0}^{t+\theta} x(s) \,\mathrm{d}s \right) + G(t) \quad (t \ge 0)$$

from Lemma 3.3.

The following is the main result of this section.

Theorem 6.2. Let $G: [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ be a continuous function with G(0) = 0 and $\phi \in \mathcal{M}^1([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$ be given. Then the solution $x^L(\cdot; \phi, G)$ of the integral equation (1.6)

$$x(t) = \phi(0) + L \int_0^t x_s \, ds + G(t) \quad (t \ge 0)$$

under the initial condition $x_0 = \phi$ satisfies (1.9)

$$x^{L}(t;\phi,G) = X^{L}(t)\phi(0) + \left[G^{L}(t;\phi) + G(t)\right] + \int_{0}^{t} \dot{X}^{L}(t-u)\left[G^{L}(u;\phi) + G(u)\right] du$$

for all $t \geq 0$.

We will call the formula (1.9) the *variation of constants formula* for Eq. (1.6). The definition of the function $G^{L}(\cdot; \phi) : [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^{n}$ for $\phi \in \mathcal{M}^{1}([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^{n})$ will be given later. For this definition, the expression of *L* by the Riemann–Stieltjes integral (1.3)

$$L\psi = \int_{-r}^{0} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta)\,\psi(\theta)$$

for $\psi \in C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$ is a key tool.

6.1 Motivation: Naito's consideration

We first concentrate our consideration to the case that $g \in C([0, \infty), \mathbb{K}^n)$ and $\phi \in C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$. From Theorem 5.9, we only need to find a formula for $x^L(\cdot; \phi, 0)$ in this case.

Naito [26, Theorem 6.5] has discussed an expression of the form

$$x(t) = \phi(0) + \int_0^t X(t-u) L \overline{\phi}_u \,\mathrm{d}u \quad (t \ge 0).$$

In the above formula, $x: [-r, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ is the solution of the linear RFDE (1.1) under the initial condition $x_0 = \phi \in C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$, and $\overline{\phi}: [-r, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ is the function defined by

$$ar{\phi}(t)\coloneqq egin{cases} \phi(t) & (t\in [-r,0]), \ \phi(0) & (t\geq 0). \end{cases}$$

See also Notation 1. Although the study of [26] is in the setting of infinite retardation, we are now interpreting this in the setting of finite retardation (i.e., the history function space is $C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$). We note that the matrix-valued function $X: [0, \infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ is defined by using the inverse Laplace transform. See [26] for the detail. See also [27], where an interpretation of the matrix-valued function X is given.

In our setting, a formula expressed by the principal fundamental matrix solution X^L

$$x^{L}(t;\phi,0) = \phi(0) + \int_{0}^{t} X^{L}(t-u) L\bar{\phi}_{u} \,\mathrm{d}u \quad (t \ge 0)$$
(6.1)

is true. To see this, let $y(t) \coloneqq x^L(t; \phi, 0) - \overline{\phi}(t)$ for $t \in [-r, \infty)$. Then the function $y \colon [-r, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ satisfies $y_0 = 0$ and

$$\dot{y}(t) = Ly_t + L\bar{\phi}_t \quad (t \ge 0).$$

See also the proof of Theorem 2.14. Since the function $[0, \infty) \ni t \mapsto L\bar{\phi}_t \in \mathbb{K}^n$ is continuous, we obtain

$$y(t) = \int_0^t X^L(t-u) L \bar{\phi}_u \, \mathrm{d}u \quad (t \ge 0)$$

by applying Theorem 5.9.

6.2 Derivation of a general forcing term

The formula (6.1) is not sufficient for the application to the linearized stability. See Section 8 for the detail of the application of the variation of constants formula to the linearized stability. We now introduce the following function.

Notation 6. For each $\phi \in \mathcal{M}^1([-r,0],\mathbb{K}^n)$, we define a function $z^L(\cdot;\phi): [-r,\infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ by $z^L(\cdot;\phi)_0 = 0$ and (1.11)

$$z^{L}(t;\phi) \coloneqq x^{L}(t;\phi,0) - X^{L}(t)\phi(0)$$

for $t \ge 0$.

Remark 6.3. Since

$$z^{L}(0;\phi) = \phi(0) - X^{L}(0)\phi(0) = 0,$$

the function $z^{L}(\cdot;\phi)$ is continuous. In view of $X^{L}(\cdot)\phi(0) = x^{L}(\cdot;\widehat{\phi(0)},0)$, we also have

$$z^{L}(t;\phi) = x^{L}\left(t;\phi-\widehat{\phi(0)},0\right) \quad (t \ge 0)$$

from Corollary 2.15. We note that this equality is not valid for $t \in [-r, 0)$ because $z^{L}(\cdot; \phi)_{0} = 0$.

From the expression (2.2) for a mild solution, the function $z^{L}(\cdot;\phi)$ satisfies

$$z^{L}(t;\phi) = \int_{-r}^{0} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) \left(\int_{\theta}^{0} \phi(s) \,\mathrm{d}s \right) + \int_{-r}^{0} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) \left(\int_{0}^{t+\theta} x^{L} \left(s;\phi - \widehat{\phi(0)}, 0\right) \,\mathrm{d}s \right)$$

for all $t \ge 0$. The second term of the right-hand side is further calculated as follows:

• When $t \in [0, r)$, $\theta \in [-r, 0]$ satisfies $t + \theta \ge 0$ if and only if $\theta \in [-t, 0]$. Since

$$x^{L}\left(s;\phi-\widehat{\phi(0)},0
ight)=\phi(s)$$

for $s \in \text{dom}(\phi) \setminus \{0\}$, the second term is decomposed by

$$\int_{-r}^{-t} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) \left(\int_{0}^{t+\theta} \phi(s) \,\mathrm{d}s \right) + \int_{-t}^{0} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) \left(\int_{0}^{t+\theta} z^{L}(s;\phi) \,\mathrm{d}s \right)$$

by the additivity of Riemann-Stieltjes integrals on sub-intervals.

• When $t \ge r$, the second term is equal to $\int_{-r}^{0} d\eta(\theta) \left(\int_{0}^{t+\theta} z^{L}(s;\phi) ds \right)$.

This leads to the following definition.
Definition 6.4. For each $\phi \in \mathcal{M}^1([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$, we define a function $G^L(\cdot; \phi) \colon [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ by

$$G^{L}(t;\phi) \coloneqq \int_{-r}^{0} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) \left(\int_{\theta}^{0} \phi(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \right) + \int_{-r}^{-t} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) \left(\int_{0}^{t+\theta} \phi(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \right)$$

for $t \in [0, r)$ and

$$G^{L}(t; \phi) \coloneqq \int_{-r}^{0} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) \left(\int_{\theta}^{0} \phi(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \right)$$

for $t \in [r, \infty)$.

By definition, $G^{L}(0;\phi) = 0$ holds. Summarizing the above discussion, we obtain the following lemma.

Lemma 6.5. For each $\phi \in \mathcal{M}^1([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$, the function $z := z^L(\cdot; \phi)$ is a solution of an integral equation (1.12)

$$z(t) = L \int_0^t z_s \, \mathrm{d}s + G^L(t;\phi) \quad (t \ge 0)$$

under the initial condition $z_0 = 0$.

6.3 Regularity of the general forcing term

To study Eq. (1.12), it is important to reveal the regularity of the function $G^{L}(\cdot;\phi)$ for each $\phi \in \mathcal{M}^{1}([-r,0],\mathbb{K}^{n})$.

6.3.1 Forcing terms for continuous initial histories

Before we tackle this problem, we find a differential equation satisfied by $z \coloneqq z^{L}(\cdot; \phi)$ for $\phi \in C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^{n})$. It should be noted that this is not straightforward because (1.11) is only valid for $t \ge 0$.

Let $x := x^L(\cdot; \phi, 0)$ and $\tilde{x} := x^L(\cdot; \widehat{\phi(0)}, 0)$. In view of

$$Lz_t = \int_{-r}^0 d\eta(\theta) z(t+\theta) = \int_{-t}^0 d\eta(\theta) z(t+\theta)$$

for each $t \ge 0$, we express the linear RFDE (1.1) as

$$\dot{x}(t) = \int_{-t}^{0} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) \, x(t+\theta) + \int_{-r}^{-t} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) \, \phi(t+\theta)$$

by using the additivity of Riemann–Stieltjes integrals on sub-intervals. Here we are interpreting that the second term of the right-hand side is equal to 0 when $t \ge r$. More precisely, we introduce the following.

Definition 6.6 (cf. [3], [9], [25]). For each $\phi \in C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$, we define a function

$$g^{L}(\cdot;\phi)\colon [0,\infty)\to\mathbb{K}^{n}$$

by

$$g^{L}(t;\phi) \coloneqq \int_{-r}^{-t} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) \phi(t+\theta)$$

for $t \in [0, r)$ and $g^{L}(t; \phi) = 0$ for $t \ge r$. Here the right-hand side is a Riemann–Stieltjes integral.

We note that similar concepts have appeared in the literature. See [3, (3.1) and (3.2)], [9, (2.7) and (2.13)], and [25, Lemma 1.10], for example.

From Theorem 3.10, \tilde{x} satisfies

$$\dot{\tilde{x}}(t) = \int_{-t}^{0} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) \, \tilde{x}(t+\theta)$$

for almost all $t \ge 0$. In combination with the above consideration, *z* satisfies

$$\dot{z}(t) = \dot{x}(t) - \dot{\tilde{x}}(t)$$
$$= \int_{-t}^{0} d\eta(\theta) z(t+\theta) + g^{L}(t;\phi)$$

for almost all $t \ge 0$. Here the property that $t + \theta \ge 0$ for all $\theta \in [-t, 0]$ is used.

In summary, we have the following statement.

Lemma 6.7. For each $\phi \in C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$, $z \coloneqq z^L(\cdot; \phi)$ is locally absolutely continuous, differentiable almost everywhere, and

$$\dot{z}(t) = Lz_t + g^L(t;\phi) \tag{6.2}$$

holds for almost all $t \ge 0$.

We note that since $g^L(\cdot; \phi)$ is not necessarily continuous, Theorem 5.9 is not sufficient to obtain an expression of $z = z^L(\cdot; \phi)$ by X^L .

6.3.2 Relationship with the forcing terms

Comparing (1.12) and (6.2), it is natural to expect that

$$G^{L}(t;\phi) = \int_{0}^{t} g^{L}(s;\phi) \,\mathrm{d}s \tag{6.3}$$

holds for all $t \ge 0$ when $\phi \in C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$. We now justify this relationship.

Lemma 6.8. Suppose $\phi \in C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$. Then

$$g^{L}(t;\phi) = L\bar{\phi}_{t} - [\eta(0) - \eta(-t)]\phi(0)$$
(6.4)

holds for all $t \ge 0$. *Consequently,* $g^{L}(\cdot; \phi)$ *is a locally Riemann integrable function vanishing at* $[r, \infty)$. *Proof.* When $t \ge r$,

$$L\bar{\phi}_t = \int_{-r}^0 d\eta(\theta) \phi(0) = [\eta(0) - \eta(-r)]\phi(0)$$

holds. Therefore, the right-hand side of (6.4) is equal to 0 for all $t \ge r$. We next consider the case $t \in [0, r)$. In this case, we have

$$g^{L}(t;\phi) = \int_{-r}^{-t} d\eta(\theta) \bar{\phi}(t+\theta)$$
$$= \int_{-r}^{0} d\eta(\theta) \bar{\phi}(t+\theta) - \int_{-t}^{0} d\eta(\theta) \bar{\phi}(t+\theta)$$

by the additivity of Riemann-Stieltjes integrals on sub-intervals. Since

$$\int_{-t}^{0} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta)\,\bar{\phi}(t+\theta) = \int_{-t}^{0} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta)\,\phi(0) = [\eta(0) - \eta(-t)]\phi(0),$$

the expression (6.4) is obtained. Since $[0, \infty) \ni t \mapsto L\bar{\phi}_t \in \mathbb{K}^n$ is continuous and $[0, \infty) \ni t \mapsto \eta(-t)\phi(0)$ is of locally bounded variation, the local Riemann integrability of $g^L(\cdot;\phi)$ follows by the expression (6.4).

Remark 6.9. The expression (6.4) also shows that $g^{L}(\cdot; \phi)$ is continuous if $\phi(0) = 0$. This should be compared with [9, Theorem 2.1(ii) and Remark 2.1].

The following theorem reveals a connection between $G^{L}(\cdot;\phi)$ and $g^{L}(\cdot;\phi)$.

Theorem 6.10. Let $\phi \in \mathcal{M}^1([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$ be given. Then for all $t \ge 0$,

$$G^{L}(t;\phi) = L \int_{0}^{t} \bar{\phi}_{s} \,\mathrm{d}s - \int_{0}^{t} [\eta(0) - \eta(-s)]\phi(0) \,\mathrm{d}s \tag{6.5}$$

holds.

Proof. For the first term of the definition of $G^{L}(t; \phi)$, we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{-r}^{0} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) \left(\int_{\theta}^{0} \phi(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \right) &= \int_{-r}^{0} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) \left(\int_{\theta}^{0} \bar{\phi}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \right) \\ &= \int_{-r}^{0} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) \left(\int_{\theta}^{t+\theta} \bar{\phi}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \right) - \int_{-r}^{0} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) \left(\int_{0}^{t+\theta} \bar{\phi}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \right), \end{split}$$

where the first term of the last equation is equal to $L \int_0^t \bar{\phi}_s ds$. The remainder of the proof is divided into the cases $t \in [0, r]$ and $t \in (r, \infty)$ in order to study the term $\int_{-r}^0 d\eta(\theta) \left(\int_0^{t+\theta} \bar{\phi}(s) ds \right)$.

Case 1: $t \in [0, r]$. When t = r, we have

$$\int_{-r}^{0} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) \left(\int_{0}^{t+\theta} \bar{\phi}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \right) = \int_{-r}^{0} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) \left(r+\theta \right) \phi(0)$$

because $r + \theta \ge 0$ for all $\theta \in [-r, 0]$. We next consider the case $t \in [0, r)$. In this case,

$$\int_{-r}^{0} d\eta(\theta) \left(\int_{0}^{t+\theta} \bar{\phi}(s) ds \right)$$

= $\int_{-r}^{-t} d\eta(\theta) \left(\int_{0}^{t+\theta} \phi(s) ds \right) + \int_{-t}^{0} d\eta(\theta) \left(\int_{0}^{t+\theta} \bar{\phi}(s) ds \right)$

holds by the additivity of Riemann–Stieltjes integrals on sub-intervals and by the property that $t + \theta \le 0$ for all $\theta \in [-r, -t]$. Here the second term of the right-hand side is equal to

$$\int_{-t}^{0} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) \, (t+\theta)\phi(0).$$

Therefore, the definition of $G^L(t; \phi)$ yields

$$G^{L}(t;\phi) = L \int_{0}^{t} \bar{\phi}_{s} \,\mathrm{d}s - \int_{-t}^{0} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) \left(\int_{0}^{t+\theta} \bar{\phi}(s) \,\mathrm{d}s \right)$$
$$= L \int_{0}^{t} \bar{\phi}_{s} \,\mathrm{d}s - \int_{-t}^{0} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) \left(t+\theta\right) \phi(0)$$

including the case t = r. The proof is complete in view of

$$\int_{-t}^{0} (t+\theta) \, \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) = [(t+\theta)\eta(\theta)]_{\theta=-t}^{0} - \int_{-t}^{0} \eta(\theta) \, \mathrm{d}\theta$$
$$= t\eta(0) - \int_{0}^{t} \eta(-s) \, \mathrm{d}s,$$

where the integration by parts formula for Riemann-Stieltjes integrals is used.

Case 2: $t \in (r, \infty)$. Since we have shown that (6.5) holds for t = r,

$$G^{L}(t;\phi) = L \int_{0}^{r} \bar{\phi}_{s} \,\mathrm{d}s - \int_{0}^{r} [\eta(0) - \eta(-s)]\phi(0) \,\mathrm{d}s$$

holds for all $t \ge r$. Here the property that $G^{L}(\cdot;\phi)$ is constant on $[r,\infty)$ is used. Then the proof is complete by showing that the right-hand side of (6.5) is constant on $[r,\infty)$. For this purpose, we calculate

$$L\int_0^t\bar{\phi}_s\,\mathrm{d}s-L\int_0^r\bar{\phi}_s\,\mathrm{d}s.$$

By the linearity of *L*, it is calculated as

$$\int_{-r}^{0} d\eta(\theta) \left(\int_{r+\theta}^{t+\theta} \bar{\phi}(s) ds \right) = \int_{-r}^{0} d\eta(\theta) (t-r)\phi(0)$$
$$= (t-r)[\eta(0) - \eta(-r)]\phi(0)$$

Since η is constant on $(-\infty, -r]$, the last value is expressed as

$$\int_r^t [\eta(0) - \eta(-s)]\phi(0) \,\mathrm{d}s$$

This shows that

$$L\int_0^t \bar{\phi}_s \,\mathrm{d}s = L\int_0^r \bar{\phi}_s \,\mathrm{d}s + \int_r^t [\eta(0) - \eta(-s)]\phi(0) \,\mathrm{d}s,$$

which also implies that the right-hand side of (6.5) is equal to

$$L\int_0^r \bar{\phi}_s \,\mathrm{d}s - \int_0^r [\eta(0) - \eta(-s)]\phi(0) \,\mathrm{d}s$$

for all $t \ge r$.

Remark 6.11. $G^L(t; \phi)$ is also expressed as

$$G^{L}(t;\phi) = \int_{-r}^{0} [\eta(\theta) - \eta(\theta - t)]\phi(\theta) d\theta.$$

See [14, Section I.2 of Chapter I] for the detail. See also [34, Remark 2.10(iii) in Chapter 2]. In this paper, we do not need the above expression.

By combining the obtained results, we obtain the following result on the regularity of $G^{L}(\cdot;\phi)$. See also [34, Remark 2.10(ii) in Chapter 2].

Theorem 6.12. For any $\phi \in \mathcal{M}^1([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$, the function $G^L(\cdot; \phi)$ is continuous with $G^L(0; \phi) = 0$. Furthermore, if $\phi \in C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$, then it is locally absolutely continuous, differentiable almost everywhere, and

$$\dot{G}^{L}(t;\phi) = g^{L}(t;\phi)$$

holds for almost all $t \in [0, \infty)$. Here $\dot{G}^L(t; \phi)$ denotes the derivative of $G^L(\cdot; \phi)$ at t.

Proof. Let $\phi \in \mathcal{M}^1([-r,0],\mathbb{K}^n)$ be given. Then (6.5) yields the continuity of $G^L(\cdot;\phi)$ from Lemma 2.8 and by the continuity of *L*. The property $G^L(0;\phi) = 0$ follows by definition. We next assume $\phi \in C([-r,0],\mathbb{K}^n)$. Since $\bar{\phi}: [-r,\infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ is continuous, Theorem 6.10, Corollary 2.12, and Lemma 6.8 show that (6.3)

$$G^{L}(t;\phi) = (Vg^{L}(\cdot;\phi))(t)$$

holds for all $t \ge 0$. This yields the properties of $G^L(\cdot; \phi)$.

6.4 Derivation of the variation of constants formula

6.4.1 Formulas for trivial initial histories

For the derivation of the variation of constants formula, we use the following result.

Theorem 6.13. Let [a,b] be a closed and bounded interval of \mathbb{R} . If $F, G: [a,b] \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ are absolutely continuous, then

$$\int_{a}^{b} F'(x)G(x) \, \mathrm{d}x = [F(x)G(x)]_{x=a}^{b} - \int_{a}^{b} F(x)G'(x) \, \mathrm{d}x$$

holds.

This should be called the integration by parts formula for matrix-valued absolutely continuous functions. We note that the above result also holds when $G: [a, b] \to \mathbb{K}^n$ is an absolutely continuous function. Since the Lebesgue integral of a matrix-valued function is defined component-wise, Theorem 6.13 can be obtained by the corresponding result for scalar-valued functions in combination with the linearity of Lebesgue integration. We note that the result for scalar-valued functions is mentioned in [30, Exercise 14 of Chapter 7]. One can also give a direct proof based on the matrix product.

By using the local absolute continuity of $X^{L}|_{[0,\infty)}$ (see Theorem 3.12), Theorem 6.13 shows that

$$\int_0^t X^L(t-u)g(u) \, \mathrm{d}u = [X^L(t-u)(Vg)(u)]_{u=0}^t + \int_0^t \dot{X}^L(t-u)(Vg)(u) \, \mathrm{d}u$$
$$= (Vg)(t) + \int_0^t \dot{X}^L(t-u)(Vg)(u) \, \mathrm{d}u$$

holds for any $g \in \mathcal{L}^{1}_{loc}([0,\infty),\mathbb{K}^{n})$. Here $X^{L}(0) = I$ and (Vg)(0) = 0 are also used. The following theorem is motivated by this.

Theorem 6.14. Let $G: [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ be a continuous function with G(0) = 0. Then (1.10)

$$x^{L}(t;0,G) = G(t) + \int_{0}^{t} \dot{X}^{L}(t-u)G(u) \,\mathrm{d}u$$

holds for all $t \geq 0$ *.*

Proof. Let $X := X^L|_{[0,\infty)}$. We define a function $x : [-r, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ by $x_0 = 0$ and

$$x(t) \coloneqq G(t) + (\dot{X} * G)(t)$$

for $t \ge 0$. By applying Corollary 5.6 in combination with the fundamental theorem of calculus, we have $Vx|_{[0,\infty)} = X * G$. Here (X * G)(0) = 0 is also used. Furthermore, we have

$$x(t) = G(t) + [d\check{\eta} * (X * G)](t) \quad (t \ge 0)$$

from Theorems 3.12 and 5.7. Therefore, x satisfies

$$x(t) = G(t) + \left(\mathrm{d}\check{\eta} * Vx|_{[0,\infty)} \right)(t)$$

for all $t \ge 0$. This implies that (1.10) holds by applying Theorem 4.8.

The following corollary is obtained from Theorem 6.14 by using the discussion before Theorem 6.14. It is an extension of Theorem 5.9.

Corollary 6.15 (cf. [18], [19]). *Let* $g \in \mathcal{L}^{1}_{loc}([0, \infty), \mathbb{K}^{n})$. *Then*

$$x^{L}(t;0,Vg) = \int_{0}^{t} X^{L}(t-u)g(u) \,\mathrm{d}u$$
(6.6)

holds for all $t \geq 0$.

6.4.2 Formulas for homogeneous equations

We next find an expression of $x^{L}(\cdot; \phi, 0)$ by X^{L} as an application of Theorem 6.14.

Theorem 6.16. Let $\phi \in \mathcal{M}^1([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$. Then

$$x^{L}(t;\phi,0) = X^{L}(t)\phi(0) + G^{L}(t;\phi) + \int_{0}^{t} \dot{X}^{L}(t-u)G^{L}(u;\phi) \,\mathrm{d}u$$
(6.7)

holds for all $t \ge 0$.

Proof. From Lemma 6.5 and Theorem 6.14 together with Theorem 6.12,

$$z^{L}(t;\phi) = G^{L}(t;\phi) + \int_{0}^{t} \dot{X}^{L}(t-u)G^{L}(u;\phi) du$$

holds for all $t \ge 0$. Then the formula (6.7) is obtained in view of

$$z^{L}(t;\phi) = x^{L}(t;\phi,0) - X^{L}(t)\phi(0)$$

for $t \ge 0$.

Remark 6.17. The above proof of Theorem 6.16 is considered to be a reorganization of [14, Section I.2 of Chapter I]. It leads us to the understanding of the variation of constants formula for non-homogeneous linear RFDEs that does not rely on the theory of Volterra convolution integral equations.

We have the following corollary.

Corollary 6.18 (cf. [25]). *Let* $\phi \in C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$. *Then*

$$x^{L}(t;\phi,0) = X^{L}(t)\phi(0) + \int_{0}^{t} X^{L}(t-u)g^{L}(u;\phi) \,\mathrm{d}u$$
(6.8)

holds for all $t \geq 0$.

Proof. From Theorem 6.12,

$$G^{L}(\cdot;\phi) = V(g^{L}(\cdot;\phi))$$

holds. Therefore, the formula (6.8) is obtained from (6.7) by using the integration by parts formula for matrix-valued absolutely continuous functions. \Box

Corollary 6.18 should be compared with [25, Theorem 1.11], where the inverse Laplace transform is used to obtain a formula.

6.4.3 Derivation of the main result of this section

Theorem 6.2 is a combination of Theorems 6.14 and 6.16 in view of Corollary 4.6. Therefore, the proof can be omitted. The following is a corollary of Theorem 6.2, which is a combination of Corollaries 6.15 and 6.18 in view of Corollary 4.6. The proof can be omitted.

Corollary 6.19. If
$$\phi \in C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$$
 and $G = Vg$ for some $g \in \mathcal{L}^1_{loc}([0, \infty), \mathbb{K}^n)$, then

$$x^{L}(t;\phi,G) = X^{L}(t)\phi(0) + \int_{0}^{t} X^{L}(t-u)[g^{L}(u;\phi) + g(u)] du$$

holds for all $t \geq 0$.

6.5 Variation of constants formula for linear differential difference equations

We apply Theorem 6.16 to an autonomous linear differential difference equation (2.11)

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + \sum_{k=1}^{m} B_k x(t - \tau_k)$$
 $(t \ge 0)$

for $n \times n$ matrices $A, B_1, \ldots, B_m \in M_n(\mathbb{K})$ and $\tau_1, \ldots, \tau_m \in (0, r]$. We recall that the linear DDE (2.11) can be expressed in the form of the linear RFDE (1.1) by defining a continuous linear map $L: C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ by (2.12)

$$L\psi = A\psi(0) + \sum_{k=1}^{m} B_k \psi(-\tau_k)$$

for $\psi \in C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$.

For the above mentioned application, we need to calculate the function $G^{L}(\cdot;\phi)$ for each $\phi \in \mathcal{M}^{1}([-r,0],\mathbb{K}^{n})$ based on Definition 6.4. By the linearity of $L \mapsto G^{L}(\cdot;\phi)$, this can be reduced to the calculation of $G^{L_{k}}(\cdot;\phi)$ for each $k \in \{0,\ldots,m\}$, where $L_{k}: C([-r,0],\mathbb{K}^{n}) \to \mathbb{K}^{n}$ is the continuous linear map given by

$$L_0\psi\coloneqq A\psi(0),$$

and

$$L_k \psi := B_k \psi(-\tau_k)$$

for $k \in \{1, ..., m\}$. We have the following lemma.

Lemma 6.20. Let $\phi \in \mathcal{M}^1([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$ be given. Then the following statements hold:

- 1. $G^{L_0}(\cdot;\phi) = 0.$
- 2. For each $k \in \{1, ..., m\}$, $G^{L_k}(0; \phi) = 0$ and

$$G^{L_k}(t;\phi) = \begin{cases} B_k \int_{-\tau_k}^{t-\tau_k} \phi(s) \, \mathrm{d}s & (t \in (0,\tau_k]), \\ B_k \int_{-\tau_k}^0 \phi(s) \, \mathrm{d}s & (t \in (\tau_k,\infty)). \end{cases}$$

holds.

Proof. 1. Let $\eta_0: [-r, 0] \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ be the matrix-valued function given by

$$\eta_0(heta)\coloneqq egin{cases} O & (-r\leq heta < 0), \ A & (heta = 0). \end{cases}$$

Then L_0 is expressed as

$$L_0\psi=\int_{-r}^0\mathrm{d}\eta_0(\theta)\,\psi(\theta)$$

for $\psi \in C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$. Therefore, the definition of $G^L(\cdot; \phi)$ yields the conclusion.

2. Let $k \in \{1, ..., m\}$ be fixed and $\eta_k \colon [-r, 0] \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ be the matrix-valued function given by

$$\eta_k(heta) := egin{cases} O & (-r \leq heta \leq - au_k), \ B_k & (- au_k < heta \leq 0). \end{cases}$$

Then L_k is expressed as

$$L_k \psi = \int_{-r}^0 \mathrm{d}\eta_k(\theta) \,\psi(\theta)$$

for $\psi \in C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$. By the definition of L_k , we have

$$\int_{-r}^{0} \mathrm{d}\eta_k(\theta) \left(\int_{\theta}^{0} \phi(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \right) = B_k \int_{-\tau_k}^{0} \phi(s) \, \mathrm{d}s.$$

Furthermore, the integral $\int_{-r}^{-t} d\eta_k(\theta) \left(\int_0^{t+\theta} \phi(s) ds \right)$ is calculated as

$$\int_{-r}^{-t} \mathrm{d}\eta_k(\theta) \left(\int_0^{t+\theta} \phi(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \right) = \begin{cases} B_k \int_0^{t-\tau_k} \phi(s) \, \mathrm{d}s & (t \in [0, \tau_k]), \\ 0 & (t \in (\tau_k, \infty)). \end{cases}$$

By combining the above expressions, the conclusion is obtained.

Theorem 6.21 (cf. [19], [22]). Let $L: C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ be the continuous linear map given by (2.12). Then for any $\phi \in \mathcal{M}^1([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$,

$$x^{L}(t;\phi,0) = X^{L}(t)\phi(0) + \sum_{k=1}^{m} \int_{-\tau_{k}}^{0} X^{L}(t-\tau_{k}-\theta)B_{k}\phi(\theta) \,\mathrm{d}\theta$$
(6.9)

holds for all $t \geq 0$.

Proof. Let $\phi \in \mathcal{M}^1([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$ be given. From Lemma 6.20,

$$G^L(\cdot;\phi) = \sum_{k=1}^m G^{L_k}(\cdot;\phi)$$

is locally absolutely continuous. Therefore, Theorem 6.16 and the integration by parts formula for absolutely continuous functions yield that

$$x^{L}(t;\phi,0) = X^{L}(t)\phi(0) + \sum_{k=1}^{m} \int_{0}^{t} X^{L}(t-u)\dot{G}^{L_{k}}(u;\phi) du$$

holds for all $t \ge 0$. We now fix $k \in \{1, ..., m\}$ and find an expression of the integral

$$\int_0^t X^L(t-u)\dot{G}^{L_k}(u;\phi)\,\mathrm{d} u.$$

Lemma 6.20 shows that $\dot{G}^{L_k}(t;\phi) = B_k\phi(t-\tau_k)$ holds for almost all $t \in [0,\tau_k]$, and $\dot{G}^{L_k}(t;\phi) = 0$ holds for all $t \in (\tau_k,\infty)$. Then the integral is expressed as follows:

• When $t \in [0, \tau_k]$, the integral becomes

$$\int_0^t X^L(t-u) B_k \phi(u-\tau_k) \, \mathrm{d}u = \int_{-\tau_k}^{t-\tau_k} X^L(t-\tau_k-\theta) B_k \phi(\theta) \, \mathrm{d}\theta$$
$$= \int_{-\tau_k}^0 X^L(t-\tau_k-\theta) B_k \phi(\theta) \, \mathrm{d}\theta$$

because $t - \tau_k \leq 0$.

• When $t \in (\tau_k, \infty)$, the integral becomes

$$\int_0^{\tau_k} X^L(t-u) B_k \phi(u-\tau_k) \, \mathrm{d}u = \int_{-\tau_k}^0 X^L(t-\tau_k-\theta) B_k \phi(\theta) \, \mathrm{d}\theta.$$

This completes the proof.

Remark 6.22. Suppose $\phi \in C([-r, 0], \mathbb{R})$ and m = 1. In [19, Theorem 6.1 in Section 1.6] and [22, Theorem 6.1 in Section 1.6], (6.9) is obtained by using the Laplace transform. See also [28, Theorem 4.2], where (6.9) is obtained under different assumptions for a linear evolution equation with commensurate delays.

6.6 Remarks on definitions of "fundamental matrix"

6.6.1 Definition by Hale

Let $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$. In [18, Theorem 16.3 and Corollary 16.1] and [19, Theorem 2.1 and Corollary 2.1 in Chapter 6], a matrix-valued function $X: [0, \infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{R})$ is defined by using the property that for every $t \ge 0$,

$$\mathcal{L}^{1}_{\mathrm{loc}}([0,\infty),\mathbb{R}^{n}) \ni g \mapsto x^{L}(t;0,Vg) \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$$

is a bounded linear operator to show

$$x^{L}(t;0,Vg) = \int_{0}^{t} X(t-u)g(u) \,\mathrm{d}u \quad (t \ge 0).$$

Furthermore, by the formal exchange of order of integration, the function *X* is interpreted as a "matrix-valued solution" to the linear RFDE (1.1). Indeed, Hale argued that *X* satisfies (i) $X_0 = \hat{I}$, (ii) $X|_{[0,\infty)}$ is locally absolutely continuous, and (iii) *X* satisfies

$$\dot{X}(t) = \int_{-r}^{0} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta) X(t+\theta)$$

for almost all $t \in [0, \infty)$. Here $\hat{I} : [-r, 0] \to M_n(\mathbb{R})$ is defined by (1.5)

$$\hat{I}(heta)\coloneqq egin{cases} O & (heta\in [-r,0)), \ I & (heta=0). \end{cases}$$

However, the above integral does not make sense in general because *X* is not continuous.

6.6.2 Volterra convolution integral equations and fundamental matrix solutions

Let $x \coloneqq x^L(\cdot; \hat{\xi})|_{[0,\infty)}$ for some $\xi \in \mathbb{K}^n$ and suppose $\eta(0) = O$. By using the integration by parts formula for Riemann–Stieltjes integrals and Theorem A.19 in (3.5)

$$x = \xi + \mathrm{d}\check{\eta} * V x,$$

we have

$$\begin{aligned} x(t) &= \xi + [\check{\eta}(u)(Vx)(t-u)]_{u=0}^t + \int_0^t \check{\eta}(u)x(t-u)\,\mathrm{d}u \\ &= \xi + (\check{\eta} * x)(t) \end{aligned}$$

for all $t \ge 0$. Here (Vx)(0) = 0 is also used. The above calculation shows that the function $x: [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{K}^n$ satisfies

$$x = \check{\eta} * x + \xi,$$

which is a Volterra convolution integral equation with the kernel function $\check{\eta}$ and with the constant forcing term ξ . Therefore, $X \coloneqq X^L|_{[0,\infty)}$ satisfies

$$X = \check{\eta} * X + I.$$

This means that the restriction $X = X^L|_{[0,\infty)}$ is the *fundamental matrix solution* for the Volterra convolution integral equation with the kernel function $\check{\eta}$ under the assumption that $\eta(0) = O$. For an approach by the Volterra convolution integral equation, see [14, Section I.2 of Chapter I].

7 Exponential stability of principal fundamental matrix solution

For a continuous linear map $L: C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n) \to \mathbb{K}^n$, we consider a linear RFDE (1.1)

 $\dot{x}(t) = Lx_t \quad (t \ge 0).$

Let $X^L : [-r, \infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ be the principal fundamental matrix solution. We use the following terminology.

Definition 7.1. We say that the principal fundamental matrix solution X^L is *exponentially stable* if there exist constants $M \ge 1$ and $\alpha > 0$ such that

 $\left|X^{L}(t)\right| \le M \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha t} \tag{7.1}$

holds for all $t \ge 0$. We also say that X^L is α -exponentially stable.

In the following calculations, it is useful to extend the domain of definition of X^L to \mathbb{R} by letting $X^L(t) := O$ for $t \in (-\infty, -r)$.

Lemma 7.2. If X^L is α -exponentially stable for some $\alpha > 0$, then there exists a constant $M \ge 1$ such that

$$\sup_{\theta \in [-r,0]} \left| X^{L}(t+\theta) \right| \le M \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha}$$

holds for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$ *.*

Proof. By the assumption, one can choose a constant $M_0 \ge 1$ so that

$$\left|X^{L}(t)\right| \leq M_0 \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha t}$$

holds for all $t \ge 0$. Since the statement is trivial when $t \le 0$, we only have to consider the case t > 0. Let $\theta \in [-r, 0]$. When $t + \theta \ge 0$, we have

$$\left|X^{L}(t+\theta)\right| \leq M_{0}\mathrm{e}^{-\alpha(t+\theta)} \leq M_{0}\mathrm{e}^{\alpha r}\mathrm{e}^{-\alpha t}.$$

The above estimate also holds when $t + \theta < 0$ because $X^L(t + \theta) = O$ in this case. Therefore, the conclusion is obtained.

Theorem 7.3 (cf. [19], [22]). If X^L is α -exponentially stable for some $\alpha > 0$, then the C_0 -semigroup $(T^L(t))_{t>0}$ on $C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$ defined by (1.13)

$$T^L(t)\phi \coloneqq x^L(\cdot;\phi,0)_t$$

for $(t, \phi) \in [0, \infty) \times C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$ is uniformly α -exponentially stable, i.e., there exists a constant $M \ge 1$ such that for all $t \ge 0$,

$$\left\|T^{L}(t)\right\| \leq M \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha t}$$

holds.

Proof. By applying Lemma 7.2, we choose a constant $M_0 \ge 1$ so that

$$\sup_{\theta \in [-r,0]} \left| X^L(t+\theta) \right| \le M_0 \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha t}$$

holds for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$. Since the statement is trivial when t = 0, we only have to consider the case t > 0. Let $\theta \in [-r, 0]$ and $\phi \in C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$ be given. Then

$$\begin{bmatrix} T^{L}(t)\phi \end{bmatrix}(\theta) = \begin{cases} X^{L}(t+\theta)\phi(0) + \int_{0}^{t+\theta} X^{L}(t+\theta-u)g^{L}(u;\phi) \, \mathrm{d}u & (t+\theta \ge 0), \\ \phi(t+\theta) & (t+\theta \in [-r,0]) \end{cases}$$

holds from Corollary 6.18 (see Definition 6.6 for the definition of $g^{L}(t;\phi)$). We divide the consideration into the following cases.

Case 1: $t + \theta \ge 0$. For the first term of the right-hand side,

$$\left|X^{L}(t+\theta)\phi(0)\right| \leq M_{0}e^{-\alpha t}|\phi(0)| \leq M_{0}e^{-\alpha t}||\phi|$$

holds. For the second term,

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \int_0^{t+\theta} X^L(t+\theta-u) g^L(u;\phi) \, \mathrm{d}u \right| &\leq \int_0^{t+\theta} \left| X^L(t-u+\theta) \right| \left| g^L(u;\phi) \right| \mathrm{d}u \\ &\leq \int_0^{t+\theta} M_0 \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha(t-u)} \left| g^L(u;\phi) \right| \mathrm{d}u \end{aligned}$$

holds from Lemma 7.2. Since

$$\left|g^{L}(t;\phi)\right| = \left|\int_{-r}^{-t} \mathrm{d}\eta(\theta)\phi(t+\theta)\right| \le \operatorname{Var}(\eta)\|\phi\|$$

holds for all $t \in [0, r)$ (see Lemma A.4) and $g^{L}(t; \phi) = 0$ for all $t \ge r$, we have

$$\int_0^{t+\theta} M_0 \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha(t-u)} \left| g^L(u;\phi) \right| \mathrm{d}u \le \int_0^r M_0 \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha(t-u)} \operatorname{Var}(\eta) \|\phi\| \mathrm{d}u$$
$$= M_0 \left(\int_0^r \mathrm{e}^{\alpha u} \mathrm{d}u \right) \operatorname{Var}(\eta) \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha t} \|\phi\|.$$

We note that

$$\int_0^r \mathrm{e}^{\alpha u} \,\mathrm{d}u = \frac{1}{\alpha} (\mathrm{e}^{\alpha r} - 1)$$

holds.

Case 2: $t + \theta < 0$. In this case, we have

$$|\phi(t+\theta)| \le e^{-\alpha(t+\theta)} |\phi(t+\theta)| \le e^{\alpha r} e^{-\alpha t} ||\phi||.$$

By combining the estimates obtained in Cases 1 and 2, one can choose a constant $M \ge 1$ so that

$$\sup_{\theta \in [-r,0]} \left| \left[T^{L}(t)\phi \right](\theta) \right| \le M \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha t} \|\phi\|$$

holds for all $(t, \phi) \in [0, \infty) \times C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$. This completes the proof.

The converse of Theorem 7.3 also holds.

Theorem 7.4 (cf. [19], [22]). If $(T^L(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is uniformly α -exponentially stable for some $\alpha > 0$, then X^L is α -exponentially stable.

Proof. By the assumption, we choose a constant $M_0 \ge 1$ so that

$$\left\|T^{L}(t)\right\| \leq M_{0}\mathrm{e}^{-\alpha t}$$

holds for all $t \ge 0$. We fix $\xi \in \mathbb{K}^n$ and let

$$\phi_{\xi} := x^L(\cdot; \hat{\xi})_r \in C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n).$$

Then the map $\mathbb{K}^n \ni \xi \mapsto \phi_{\xi} \in C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$ is linear from Corollary 2.7. Since $X^L(\cdot)\xi = x^L(\cdot; \hat{\xi})$, we have

$$\left\| \phi_{\xi} \right\| = \sup_{t \in [0,r]} \left| x^L(t; \hat{\xi}) \right| \le \left(\sup_{t \in [0,r]} \left| X^L(t) \right| \right) \cdot |\xi|$$

This yields that the linear operator $\mathbb{K}^n \ni \xi \mapsto \phi_{\xi} \in C([-r, 0], \mathbb{K}^n)$ is bounded.

We now show that X^L is α -exponentially stable by dividing into the following cases.

Case 1: $t \ge r$. From Theorem 2.14, we have

$$x^{L}(t;\hat{\xi}) = x^{L}(t-r;\phi_{\xi}),$$

where the right-hand side is equal to $[T^{L}(t-r)\phi_{\xi}](0)$. Therefore,

$$\left|X^{L}(t)\xi\right| \leq \left\|T^{L}(t-r)\right\| \left\|\phi_{\xi}\right\|$$

holds. Since $||T^L(t-r)|| \le M_0 e^{\alpha r} e^{-\alpha t}$, we obtain

$$\left|X^{L}(t)\right| \leq \left(M_{0}\mathrm{e}^{\alpha r}\sup_{t\in[0,r]}\left|X^{L}(t)\right|\right)\cdot\mathrm{e}^{-\alpha t}$$

by combining the above estimate on $\|\phi_{\xi}\|$.

Case 2: $t \in [0, r]$. In this case, $|X^{L}(t)|$ is estimated by

$$\left|X^{L}(t)\right| \leq \left(e^{\alpha r} \sup_{t \in [0,r]} \left|X^{L}(t)\right|\right) \cdot e^{-\alpha t}.$$

Here $1 = e^{-\alpha t} e^{\alpha t}$ is used.

By combining the above estimates, the conclusion is obtained.

See [19, Lemmas 6.1, 6.2, and 6.3 in Chapter 6] and [22, Lemmas 5.1, 5.2, and 5.3 in Chapter 6] for related results. We note that the statements of Theorems 7.3 and 7.4 are included in these results, where the detailed proofs are not given.

8 Principle of linearized stability and Poincaré–Lyapunov theorem

Throughout this section, let $L: C([-r, 0], \mathbb{R}^n) \to \mathbb{R}^n$ be a continuous linear map. We consider a non-autonomous RFDE

$$\dot{x}(t) = Lx_t + f(t, x_t) \tag{8.1}$$

for some continuous map

$$f: \mathbb{R} \times C([-r, 0], \mathbb{R}^n) \supset \operatorname{dom}(f) \to \mathbb{R}^n.$$

Let $X^L: [-r, \infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{R})$ be the principal fundamental matrix solution of the linear RFDE (1.1)

$$\dot{x}(t) = Lx_t \quad (t \ge 0)$$

and $(T^{L}(t))_{t>0}$ be the C_0 -semigroup on $C([-r, 0], \mathbb{R}^n)$ generated by (1.1). See also Section 7.

We recall the definition of a solution to the RFDE (8.1). For each $(t_0, \phi) \in \text{dom}(f)$ and each T > 0, a continuous function

$$x: [t_0 - r, t_0 + T] \rightarrow \mathbb{R}^n$$

is called a *solution* of (8.1) under an initial condition $x_{t_0} = \phi$ if the following conditions are satisfied: (i) $x_{t_0} = \phi$, (ii) $(t, x_t) \in \text{dom}(f)$ for all $t \in [t_0, t_0 + T]$, and (iii) $x|_{[t_0, t_0 + T]}$ is differentiable and satisfies the RFDE (8.1) for all $t \in [t_0, t_0 + T]$. Here the derivative of x at t_0 and $t_0 + T$ are understood as the right-hand derivative at t_0 and the left-hand derivative at $t_0 + T$, respectively.

8.1 Variation of constants formula and nonlinear equations

Theorem 8.1. Let $(t_0, \phi) \in \text{dom}(f)$ and T > 0 be given. Then for a continuous function $x: [t_0 - r, t_0 + T] \rightarrow \mathbb{R}^n$ with the properties (i) $x_{t_0} = \phi$ and (ii) $(t, x_t) \in \text{dom}(f)$ for all $t \in [t_0, t_0 + T]$, x is a solution of the RFDE (8.1) under the initial condition $x_{t_0} = \phi$ if and only if x satisfies

$$x(t) = x^{L}(t - t_{0}; \phi, 0) + \int_{t_{0}}^{t} X^{L}(t - u) f(u, x_{u}) du$$

for all $t \in [t_0, t_0 + T]$.

We note that the above statement is not a simple application of Corollaries 4.6 and 6.15 because there is no method of variation of constants for RFDEs (see Subsection 5.1).

Proof of Theorem 8.1. Let $x: [t_0 - r, t_0 + T] \to \mathbb{R}^n$ be a continuous function with the properties (i) and (ii) in Theorem 8.1. Then it is a solution of the RFDE (8.1) under the initial condition $x_{t_0} = \phi$ if and only if

$$x(t) = \phi(0) + \int_{t_0}^t [Lx_s + f(s, x_s)] ds$$

holds for all $t \in [t_0, t_0 + T]$. Let $z \colon [-r, T] \to \mathbb{R}^n$ be the function defined by

$$z(s) \coloneqq x(t_0 + s) - x^L(s;\phi)$$

for $s \in [-r, T]$. Then *z* satisfies $z_0 = 0$ and an integral equation

$$z(s) = \int_0^s Lz_u \, \mathrm{d}u + \int_0^s f(t_0 + u, x_{t_0 + u}) \, \mathrm{d}u$$

for $s \in [0, T]$. Since $[0, T] \ni u \mapsto f(t_0 + u, x_{t_0+u}) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ is continuous, $z|_{[0,T]}$ is expressed by

$$z(s) = \int_0^s X^L(s-u) f(t_0+u, x_{t_0+u}) \, \mathrm{d}u \quad (s \in [0, T])$$

from Theorem 5.9 or Corollary 6.15. Therefore, we have

$$x(t_0 + s) = x^L(s;\phi) + \int_0^s X^L(s-u)f(t_0 + u, x_{t_0+u}) \,\mathrm{d}u$$

for $s \in [0, T]$. The expression of x is obtained by the change of variable $t_0 + s = t$.

8.2 Stability part of principle of linearized stability

In this subsection, we consider a continuous map

$$h: \mathbb{R} \times C([-r,0],\mathbb{R}^n) \supset \mathbb{R} \times U_0 \to \mathbb{R}^n$$

for some open neighborhood U_0 of 0 in $C([-r, 0], \mathbb{R}^n)$ with the property that $h(t, \phi) = o(||\phi||)$ as $||\phi|| \to 0$ uniformly in *t*. This means that for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists a $\delta > 0$ such that for all $(t, \phi) \in \mathbb{R} \times U_0$, $||\phi|| < \delta$ implies

$$|h(t,\phi)| \le \varepsilon \|\phi\|.$$

In the following theorem, we suppose that dom(f) = $\mathbb{R} \times U_0$ and $f(t, \phi) = h(t, \phi)$ holds for all $(t, \phi) \in \mathbb{R} \times U_0$ in the RFDE (8.1). Then (8.1) is considered as a perturbation of the linear RFDE (1.1). Since f(t, 0) = 0 holds for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$, (8.1) has the zero solution. The statement in the following theorem is the stability part of the *principle of linearized stability* for RFDEs.

Theorem 8.2 (cf. [14]). If X^L is exponentially stable, then there exist $M \ge 1$, $\beta > 0$, and a neighborhood U of 0 in $C([-r, 0], \mathbb{R}^n)$ such that for every $t_0 \in \mathbb{R}$, every $\phi \in U$, and every non-continuable solution x of (8.1) under the initial condition $x_{t_0} = \phi$, x is defined for all $t \ge t_0$ and satisfies

$$\|x_t\| \leq M \mathrm{e}^{-\beta(t-t_0)} \|\phi\|$$

for all $t \geq t_0$.

Remark 8.3. See [2, Chapter 11] for the corresponding result for differential difference equations. See [11] for the general result of the principle of linearized stability in the context of nonlinear semigroups. See also [14, Chapter VII] for a general treatment of the principle of linearized stability and its application to RFDEs under the local Lipschitz continuity of h.

In the proof of Theorem 8.2 given below, the Peano existence theorem and the continuation of solutions for RFDEs play key roles. See [19, Chapter 2] and [22, Chapter 2] for the fundamental theory of RFDEs.

Proof of Theorem 8.2. From Lemma 7.2 and Theorem 7.3, we choose constants $M \ge 1$ and $\alpha > 0$ so that

$$\sup_{\theta \in [-r,0]} \left| X^{L}(t+\theta) \right| \le M \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha t} \quad (t \in \mathbb{R})$$

and

$$\left\| T^{L}(t) \right\| \le M \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha t} \quad (t \ge 0)$$

hold. We also choose an $\varepsilon > 0$ so that

$$-\beta := M\varepsilon - \alpha < 0.$$

We divide the proof into the following steps.

Step 1: Choice of a neighborhood of 0 and a non-continuable solution. Since $f(t, \phi) = o(\|\phi\|)$ as $\|\phi\| \to 0$ uniformly in *t*, there exists a $\delta > 0$ for this $\varepsilon > 0$ with the following properties:

- (i) For all $\phi \in C([-r, 0], \mathbb{R}^n)$, $\|\phi\| < \widetilde{\delta}$ implies $\phi \in U_0$.
- (ii) $\|\phi\| < \tilde{\delta}$ implies $|f(t,\phi)| \le \varepsilon \|\phi\|$ for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$.

Let $\delta := \tilde{\delta} / M$. We define open sets *U* and \tilde{U} by

$$U := \{ \phi \in C([-r,0], \mathbb{R}^n) : \|\phi\| < \delta \},$$
$$\widetilde{U} := \Big\{ \phi \in C([-r,0], \mathbb{R}^n) : \|\phi\| < \widetilde{\delta} \Big\}.$$

Then

$$U \subset \tilde{U} \subset U_0$$

holds. From now on, we fix $t_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\phi \in U$ and proceed with the discussion. By applying the Peano existence theorem for RFDEs, the RFDE

$$\dot{x}(t) = L|_{\widetilde{U}}(x_t) + f|_{\mathbb{R} \times \widetilde{U}}(t, x_t)$$
(8.2)

has a solution under the initial condition $x_{t_0} = \phi$. Let *x* be a non-continuable solution of the RFDE (8.2) under this initial condition. Then its domain of definition is written as $[t_0 - r, t_0 + T)$ for some $T \in (0, \infty]$.

Step 2: Estimate by Gronwall's inequality. Let $t \in [t_0, t_0 + T)$ and $\theta \in [-r, 0]$. By applying Theorem 8.1,

$$x(t) = x^{L}(t - t_{0}; \phi, 0) + \int_{t_{0}}^{t} X^{L}(t - u)f(u, x_{u}) du \quad (t \in [t_{0}, t_{0} + T])$$

holds for this non-continuable solution $x: [t_0 - r, t_0 + T) \rightarrow \mathbb{R}^n$. When $t + \theta \ge t_0$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} |x(t+\theta)| &\leq \left| x^{L}(t+\theta-t_{0};\phi,0) \right| + \int_{t_{0}}^{t+\theta} \left| X^{L}(t-u+\theta) \right| |f(u,x_{u})| \,\mathrm{d}u \\ &\leq \left\| T^{L}(t-t_{0})\phi \right\| + \int_{t_{0}}^{t} M \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha(t-u)} |f(u,x_{u})| \,\mathrm{d}u \\ &\leq M \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha(t-t_{0})} \|\phi\| + \int_{t_{0}}^{t} M \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha t} \mathrm{e}^{\alpha u} \varepsilon \|x_{u}\| \,\mathrm{d}u. \end{aligned}$$

When $t + \theta < t_0$, the estimate

$$|x(t+\theta)| \le M \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha(t-t_0)} \|\phi\| + \int_{t_0}^t M \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha t} \mathrm{e}^{\alpha u} \varepsilon \|x_u\| \,\mathrm{d} u$$

also holds in view of

$$|x(t+\theta)| = |\phi(t-t_0+\theta)| = |[T^L(t-t_0)\phi](\theta)| \le Me^{-\alpha(t-t_0)} ||\phi||.$$

These estimates yield

$$e^{\alpha(t-t_0)} \|x_t\| \le M \|\phi\| + \int_{t_0}^t M \varepsilon e^{\alpha(u-t_0)} \|x_u\| du,$$

and we obtain

$$\mathbf{e}^{\alpha(t-t_0)} \|x_t\| \le M \|\phi\| \mathbf{e}^{M\varepsilon(t-t_0)}\|$$

by applying Gronwall's inequality (see Lemma C.1). This means that

$$\|x_t\| \le M \|\phi\| e^{-\beta(t-t_0)}$$
(8.3)

holds for all $t \in [t_0, t_0 + T)$.

Step 3: Proof by contradiction. We next show that *T* is equal to ∞ , i.e., the non-continuable solution *x* is defined on $[t_0 - r, \infty)$. We suppose $T < \infty$ and derive a contradiction. Since $||x_t|| < \delta$ holds for all $t \in [t_0, t_0 + T)$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\dot{x}(t)| &\leq \|L\| \|x_t\| + |f(t, x_t)| \\ &\leq (\|L\| + \varepsilon) \widetilde{\delta} \\ &< \infty. \end{aligned}$$

This shows that $x|_{[t_0,t_0+T)}$ is Lipschitz continuous. In particular, $x|_{[t_0,t_0+T)}$ is uniformly continuous, and therefore, the limit $\lim_{t\uparrow t_0+T} x(t)$ exists. Since this yields the existence of the limit

$$\lim_{t\uparrow t_0+T} x_t \eqqcolon \psi \in C([-r,0],\mathbb{R}^n).$$

we have

 $\|\psi\| \le M \|\phi\| e^{-\beta T} < M\delta = \widetilde{\delta},$

i.e., $\psi \in \tilde{U}$, by taking the limit as $t \uparrow t_0 + T$ in the inequality (8.3). Then the RFDE (8.2) has a solution under the initial condition $x_{t_0+T} = \psi$ by the Peano existence theorem for RFDEs, and one can construct a continuation of x. It contradicts the property that x is non-continuable. Therefore, T should be infinity.

The above steps yield the conclusion.

The above proof of Theorem 8.2 is an appropriate modification of the stability part of the principle of linearized stability for ODEs (e.g., see [6, Section 2.3]). It also should be compared with [35, Theorem 2 and its proof]. We note that the continuity of the higher-order term f in the RFDE (8.1) is sufficient for the proof.

8.3 Poincaré–Lyapunov theorem for RFDEs

In this subsection, we consider the continuous map $h: \mathbb{R} \times C([-r, 0], \mathbb{R}^n) \supset \mathbb{R} \times U_0 \rightarrow \mathbb{R}^n$ used in Subsection 8.2 and a map

$$N: \mathbb{R} \times C([-r, 0], \mathbb{R}^n) \to \mathbb{R}^n$$

with the following properties:

• For each $t \in \mathbb{R}$, the map $N(t) \colon C([-r, 0], \mathbb{R}^n) \to \mathbb{R}^n$ defined by

$$N(t)\phi \coloneqq N(t,\phi)$$

for $\phi \in C([-r, 0], \mathbb{R}^n)$ is a bounded linear operator.

- $\mathbb{R} \ni t \mapsto N(t) \in \mathcal{B}(C([-r, 0], \mathbb{R}^n), \mathbb{R}^n)$ is continuous.
- $\lim_{t\to\infty} ||N(t)|| = 0$ holds.

We note that the map N with the above properties is continuous.

Lemma 8.4. Suppose that f satisfies dom $(f) = \mathbb{R} \times U_0$ and $f(t,\phi) = N(t)\phi + h(t,\phi)$ for all $(t,\phi) \in \mathbb{R} \times U_0$. Then for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there exist $a \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\tilde{\delta} > 0$ such that

$$|f(t,\phi)| \le \varepsilon \|\phi\|$$

holds for all $t \ge a$ and all $\|\phi\| < \tilde{\delta}$.

Proof. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. Then we can choose $a \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\delta > 0$ with the following properties:

- $||N(t)|| < \varepsilon/2$ holds for all $t \ge a$.
- For all $\phi \in C([-r, 0], \mathbb{R}^n)$, $\|\phi\| < \widetilde{\delta}$ implies $\phi \in U_0$.
- $|h(t,\phi)| \le (\varepsilon/2) \|\phi\|$ holds for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$ and all $\|\phi\| < \widetilde{\delta}$.

Then for all $t \ge a$ and all $\|\phi\| < \tilde{\delta}$,

$$|f(t,\phi)| \le \|N(t)\| \|\phi\| + |h(t,\phi)| \le \varepsilon \|\phi\|$$

holds.

Lemma 8.5. Suppose that f satisfies dom $(f) = \mathbb{R} \times U_0$ and $f(t,\phi) = N(t)\phi + h(t,\phi)$ for all $(t,\phi) \in \mathbb{R} \times U_0$. Let $\sigma \in \mathbb{R}$ be given. Then for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there exist $a \in \mathbb{R}$, $\tilde{\delta} > 0$, and a continuous function $R: [\sigma, \infty) \to (0, \infty)$ with the following properties: (i) $R(t) \le \varepsilon$ for all $t \ge a$, (ii) there exists an $R_0 > \varepsilon$ such that $R(t) \le R_0$ holds for all $t \in [\sigma, a]$, and (iii)

 $|f(t,\phi)| \le R(t) \|\phi\|$

holds for all $t \geq \sigma$ *and all* $\|\phi\| < \tilde{\delta}$ *.*

Proof. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. In the same way as in the proof of Lemma 8.4, we choose a > 0 and $\tilde{\delta} > 0$. When $\sigma \ge a$, the condition (ii) in Lemma 8.5 is vacuous, and one can choose the constant function whose value is equal to ε as a function *R*. When $\sigma < a$, we choose $R_0 > \varepsilon$ so that

$$\sup_{t\in[\sigma,\infty)}\|N(t)\|+\frac{\varepsilon}{2}< R_0.$$

We note that $\sup_{t \in [\sigma,\infty)} ||N(t)|| < \infty$ holds because $||N(t)|| < \varepsilon/2$ for all $t \ge a$ and $t \mapsto ||N(t)||$ is continuous. Then the continuous function $R: [\sigma, \infty) \to (0, \infty)$ given by

$$R(t) := \|N(t)\| + \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$$

satisfies the properties (i), (ii), and (iii).

J. Nishiguchi

Theorem 8.6. Suppose that the map f in the RFDE (8.1) satisfies dom $(f) = \mathbb{R} \times U_0$ and the conclusion of Lemma 8.5. If X^L is exponentially stable, then for each given $\sigma \in \mathbb{R}$, there exist $M \ge 1$, $\beta > 0$, and a neighborhood U of 0 in $C([-r, 0], \mathbb{R}^n)$ with the following property: for every $t_0 \ge \sigma$, every $\phi \in U$, and every non-continuable solution x of (8.1) under the initial condition $x_{t_0} = \phi$, x is defined for all $t \ge t_0$ and satisfies

$$\|x_t\| \le M \mathrm{e}^{-\beta(t-t_0)} \|\phi\|$$

for all $t \geq t_0$.

Proof. From Lemma 7.2 and Theorem 7.3, we choose constants $M_0 \ge 1$ and $\alpha > 0$ so that

$$\sup_{\theta \in [-r,0]} \left| X^{L}(t+\theta) \right| \le M_0 \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha t} \quad (t \in \mathbb{R})$$

and

$$\left\|T^{L}(t)\right\| \leq M_{0} \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha t} \quad (t \geq 0)$$

hold. We also choose an $\varepsilon > 0$ so that

$$-\beta \coloneqq M_0\varepsilon - \alpha < 0.$$

For this $\varepsilon > 0$, we choose the $a \in \mathbb{R}$, $\delta > 0$, and the continuous function $R : [\sigma, \infty) \to (0, \infty)$ in Lemma 8.5. We divide the proof into the following cases: (I) $\sigma \ge a$, (II) $\sigma < a$.

When (I) $\sigma \ge a$, the completely same argument as in the proof of Theorem 8.2 is valid by choosing $M_0 := M$. See also Lemma 8.4. Therefore, we only have to consider the case (II) $\sigma < a$. In this case, we further divide the proof into the following steps.

Step 1: Choice of a neighborhood of 0 and a non-continuable solution. Let

$$M \coloneqq M_0 \mathrm{e}^{M_0(R_0 - \varepsilon)(a - \sigma)}$$
 and $\delta \coloneqq \frac{\widetilde{\delta}}{M}$

We define open sets *U* and \tilde{U} by

$$U \coloneqq \{ \phi \in C([-r,0], \mathbb{R}^n) : \|\phi\| < \delta \},$$
$$\widetilde{U} \coloneqq \left\{ \phi \in C([-r,0], \mathbb{R}^n) : \|\phi\| < \widetilde{\delta} \right\}.$$

Since $M > M_0 \ge 1$,

$$U\subset \widetilde{U}\subset U_0$$

holds. We now fix $t_0 \ge \sigma$ and $\phi \in U$, and let $x \colon [t_0 - r, t_0 + T) \to \mathbb{R}^n$ be a non-continuable solution of the RFDE (8.2)

$$\dot{x}(t) = L|_{\widetilde{U}}(x_t) + f|_{\mathbb{R} \times \widetilde{U}}(t, x_t)$$

under the initial condition $x_{t_0} = \phi$.

Step 2: Estimate by Gronwall's inequality. A similar argument as in Step 2 of the proof of Theorem 8.2 yields that

$$e^{\alpha(t-t_0)} \|x_t\| \le M_0 \|\phi\| \exp\left(\int_{t_0}^t M_0 R(u) \,\mathrm{d}u\right)$$

holds for all $t \in [t_0, t_0 + T)$ by Gronwall's inequality (see Lemma C.1). This is just obtained by replacing *M* and ε with M_0 and R(u), respectively. The above inequality means that

$$\|x_t\| \leq M_0 \|\phi\| \exp\left(\int_{t_0}^t [M_0 R(u) - \alpha] \,\mathrm{d}u\right)$$

holds for all $t \in [t_0, t_0 + T)$. We now estimate

$$C(t) := \exp\left(\int_{t_0}^t [M_0 R(u) - \alpha] \,\mathrm{d}u\right)$$

from above for $t \in [t_0, t_0 + T)$ by dividing into the following cases:

• Case: $t_0 + T < a$. Since t < a, we have

$$C(t) \le \mathrm{e}^{(M_0 R_0 - \alpha)(t - t_0)}$$

by the property (ii) in Lemma 8.5. Here the right-hand side is equal to

$$\mathrm{e}^{M_0(R_0-\varepsilon)(t-t_0)}\mathrm{e}^{-\beta(t-t_0)}$$

by the choice of β . In view of $\sigma \le t_0 \le t < a$, the above is further estimated from above by

$$e^{M_0(R_0-\varepsilon)(a-\sigma)}e^{-\beta(t-t_0)}$$

Therefore, inequality (8.3)

$$\|x_t\| \le M \|\phi\| \mathrm{e}^{-\beta(t-t_0)}$$

holds for all $t \in [t_0, t_0 + T)$ with $M = M_0 e^{M_0(R_0 - \varepsilon)(a - \sigma)}$.

• Case: $t_0 + T \ge a$. The integral in C(t) is estimated from above by

$$\int_{t_0}^{a} (M_0 R_0 - \alpha) \, \mathrm{d}u + \int_{a}^{t} (M_0 \varepsilon - \alpha) \, \mathrm{d}u = (M_0 R_0 - \alpha)(a - t_0) + (-\beta)(t - a).$$

Here $-\beta = M_0\varepsilon - \alpha$ is used. In view of $t - a = (t - t_0) + (t_0 - a)$, the above value becomes

$$(M_0R_0 - \alpha + \beta)(a - t_0) + (-\beta)(t - t_0) = M_0(R_0 - \varepsilon)(a - t_0) + (-\beta)(t - t_0).$$

The last term is also estimated from above by

$$M_0(R_0 - \varepsilon)(a - \sigma) + (-\beta)(t - t_0)$$

because of $t_0 \ge \sigma$ and $M_0(R_0 - \varepsilon) > 0$. Therefore, inequality (8.3) holds for all $t \in [t_0, t_0 + T)$ with $M = M_0 e^{M_0(R_0 - \varepsilon)(a - \sigma)}$.

Step 3: Proof by contradiction. We next show that *T* is equal to ∞ , i.e., the non-continuable solution *x* is defined on $[t_0 - r, \infty)$. We suppose $T < \infty$ and derive a contradiction. Since $||x_t|| < \delta$ holds for all $t \in [t_0, t_0 + T)$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\dot{x}(t)| &\leq \|L\| \|x_t\| + |f(t, x_t)| \\ &\leq (\|L\| + R(t))\widetilde{\delta} \\ &< \infty. \end{aligned}$$

We note that the continuous function *R* is bounded. The remainder of the proof is completely same as in Step 3 of the proof of Theorem 8.2.

The above steps yield the conclusion.

As a consequence of Theorem 8.6 and Lemma 8.5, the following *Poincaré–Lyapunov theorem* for RFDEs is obtained. See [6, Exercise 2.79] for the theorem for ODEs. In the theorem, we suppose that dom(f) = $\mathbb{R} \times U_0$ and $f(t, \phi) = N(t)\phi + h(t, \phi)$ holds for all $(t, \phi) \in \mathbb{R} \times U_0$ in the RFDE (8.1).

Theorem 8.7. If X^L is exponentially stable, then for each given $\sigma \in \mathbb{R}$, there exist $M \ge 1$, $\beta > 0$, and a neighborhood U of 0 in $C([-r, 0], \mathbb{R}^n)$ with the following property: for every $t_0 \ge \sigma$, every $\phi \in U$, and every non-continuable solution x of the RFDE (8.1) under the initial condition $x_{t_0} = \phi$, x is defined for all $t \ge t_0$ and satisfies

$$\|x_t\| \le M \mathrm{e}^{-\beta(t-t_0)} \|\phi\|$$

for all $t \geq t_0$.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by JSPS Grant-in-Aid for Young Scientists Grant Number JP19K14565, JP23K12994.

A Riemann–Stieltjes integrals with respect to matrix-valued functions

Throughout this appendix, let $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$ or \mathbb{C} , $n \ge 1$ be an integer, and [a, b] be a closed and bounded interval of \mathbb{R} . In this appendix, we study Riemann–Stieltjes integrals with respect to matrix-valued functions. We refer the reader to [39, Chapter 1] and [31, Appendix D] as references of Riemann–Stieltjes integrals for scalar-valued functions. See also [24, Section 3.1] and [14, Section I.1 in Appendix I].

A.1 Definitions

Definition A.1. A finite sequence $(x_k)_{k=0}^m$ for some integer $m \ge 1$ satisfying

$$a = x_0 < x_1 < \cdots < x_m = b$$

is called a *partition* of [a, b]. This is also denoted by a symbol $P : a = x_0 < x_1 < \cdots < x_m = b$. For a finite sequence $\xi := (\xi_k)_{k=1}^m$ satisfying

$$x_{k-1} \leq \xi_k \leq x_k \quad (k \in \{1, \dots, m\}),$$

we call a pair (P,ξ) a *tagged partition* of [a,b]. For the tagged partition (P,ξ) , let

$$|(P,\xi)| \coloneqq |P| \coloneqq \max_{1 \le k \le m} (x_k - x_{k-1}),$$

which is called the *norm* of (P, ξ) .

The above terminology of tagged partition comes from [15].

Definition A.2. Let $f, \alpha: [a, b] \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ be functions. For a tagged partition (P, ξ) of [a, b] given in Definition A.1, let

$$S(f;\alpha,(P,\xi)) := \sum_{k=1}^{m} [\alpha(x_k) - \alpha(x_{k-1})]f(\xi_k).$$

We call $S(f; \alpha, (P, \xi))$ the *Riemann–Stieltjes sum* of f with respect to α under the tagged partition (P, ξ) .

Definition A.3. Let $f, \alpha \colon [a, b] \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ be functions. We say that f is *Riemann–Stieltjes integrable with respect to* α if there exists a $J \in M_n(\mathbb{K})$ with the following property: For every $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists a $\delta > 0$ such that for all tagged partition (P, ξ) of $[a, b], |(P, \xi)| < \delta$ implies

$$|S(f;\alpha,(P,\xi))-J|<\varepsilon.$$

We note that such a *J* is unique if it exists. It is called the *Riemann–Stieltjes integral of f with respect to* α and is denoted by $\int_{a}^{b} d\alpha(x) f(x)$.

A.1.1 Remarks

Remark A.4. One can also consider a sum

$$\sum_{k=1}^m f(\xi_k)[\alpha(x_k) - \alpha(x_{k-1})],$$

which is different from $S(f; \alpha, (P, \xi))$ in general. If a limit of the above sum as $|(P, \xi)| \to 0$ exists in the sense of Definition A.3, we will write the limit as $\int_a^b f(x) d\alpha(x)$. By taking the transpose,

$$\left(\int_{a}^{b} \mathrm{d}\alpha(x) f(x)\right)^{\mathrm{T}} = \int_{a}^{b} f(x)^{\mathrm{T}} \mathrm{d}\alpha(x)^{\mathrm{T}}$$

holds. Here A^{T} denotes the transpose of a matrix $A \in M_{n}(\mathbb{K})$. When n = 1,

$$\int_{a}^{b} \mathrm{d}\alpha(x) f(x) = \int_{a}^{b} f(x) \,\mathrm{d}\alpha(x)$$

holds.

Remark A.5. The notions of the Riemann–Stieltjes sum $S(f; \alpha, (P, \xi))$ and the Riemann–Stieltjes integrability of f with respect to α are also defined for functions

$$f: [a,b] \to \mathbb{K}^n$$
 and $\alpha: [a,b] \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$.

In this case, the sum $S(f; \alpha, (P, \xi))$ and the integral $\int_a^b d\alpha(x) f(x)$ belong to \mathbb{K}^n .

A.2 Reduction to scalar-valued case

Since the linear space $M_n(\mathbb{K})$ is finite-dimensional, the operator norm $|\cdot|$ on $M_n(\mathbb{K})$ is equivalent to the norm $|\cdot|_2$ on $M_n(\mathbb{K})$ defined by

$$|A|_{2} \coloneqq \sqrt{\sum_{i,j \in \{1,\dots,n\}} |a_{i,j}|^{2}},$$
 (A.1)

where $a_{i,j}$ is the (i,j)-component of the matrix $A \in M_n(\mathbb{K})$. This means that the notion of convergence in $M_n(\mathbb{K})$ can be treated component-wise.

Lemma A.6. Let $f, \alpha \colon [a, b] \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ be functions. Then the following properties are equivalent:

- (a) f is Riemann–Stieltjes integrable with respect to α .
- (b) For each column vector $f_j: [a,b] \to \mathbb{K}^n$ of $f = (f_1 \cdots f_n)$, it is Riemann–Stieltjes integrable with respect to α .

Furthermore,

$$\int_a^b \mathrm{d}\alpha(x) f(x) = \left(\int_a^b \mathrm{d}\alpha(x) f_1(x) \cdots \int_a^b \mathrm{d}\alpha(x) f_n(x)\right)$$

holds when one of the above properties are satisfied.

The proof is based on the definition of the matrix product and on the property that the operator norm $|\cdot|$ is equivalent to the norm $|\cdot|_2$ given in (A.1). Therefore, we omit the proof.

Lemma A.7. Let $f: [a,b] \to \mathbb{K}^n$ and $\alpha: [a,b] \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ be functions with $f = (f_1, \ldots, f_n)$ and $\alpha = (\alpha_{i,j})_{i,j \in \{1,\ldots,n\}}$. If $f_j: [a,b] \to \mathbb{K}$ is Riemann–Stieltjes integrable with respect to $\alpha_{i,j}: [a,b] \to \mathbb{K}$ for every $i, j \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, then so is f with respect to α . Furthermore,

$$\int_{a}^{b} \mathrm{d}\alpha(x) f(x) = \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} \int_{a}^{b} f_{j}(x) \,\mathrm{d}\alpha_{i,j}(x)\right)_{i=1}^{n}$$

holds.

Proof. By the definition of the product of a matrix and a vector, the *i*-th component of

$$S(f;\alpha,(P,\xi)) \in \mathbb{K}^n$$

is equal to

$$\sum_{j=1}^n S(f_j; \alpha_{i,j}, (P,\xi)).$$

Therefore, the conclusion is obtained by the triangle inequality.

The converse of Lemma A.7 does not necessarily hold as the following example shows.

Example A.8. Let n = 2 and $g, \beta \colon [a, b] \to \mathbb{K}$ be given functions. Let

$$f := (g, -g) \colon [a, b] \to \mathbb{K}^2$$
 and $\alpha := (\beta)_{i, j \in \{1, 2\}} \colon [a, b] \to M_2(\mathbb{K}),$

i.e., $f_1 = f$, $f_2 = -f$, and $\alpha_{i,j} = \beta$. Then the Riemann–Stieltjes sum of f with respect to α is equal to 0 under any tagged partition of [a, b]. This means that f is Riemann–Stieltjes integrable with respect to α for any pair (g, β) of functions.

In view of the above example, the Riemann–Stieltjes integration of vector-valued functions with respect to matrix-valued functions is not completely reduced to that for scalar-valued functions. However, it is often useful to reduce the integration to scalar-valued case in view of Lemma A.7.

A.3 Fundamental results

The following are fundamental results on Riemann–Stieltjes integrals for matrix-valued functions.

A.3.1 Reversal formula

Theorem A.9. Let $f, \alpha \colon [a, b] \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ be functions. We define functions $\overline{f}, \overline{\alpha} \colon [-b, -a] \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ by

$$\overline{f}(y) \coloneqq f(-y), \quad \overline{\alpha}(y) \coloneqq \alpha(-y)$$

for $y \in [-b, -a]$. If f is Riemann–Stieltjes integrable with respect to α , then so is \overline{f} with respect to $\overline{\alpha}$. Furthermore,

$$\int_{-b}^{-a} \mathrm{d}\bar{\alpha}(y)\bar{f}(y) = -\int_{a}^{b} \mathrm{d}\alpha(x)f(x) \tag{A.2}$$

holds.

We call Eq. (A.2) the *reversal formula* for Riemann–Stieltjes integrals. The proof is obtained by returning to the definition of Riemann–Stieltjes integrals. Therefore, it can be omitted.

A.3.2 Integration by parts formula

The following is the *integration by parts formula* for Riemann–Stieltjes integrals with respect to matrix-valued functions.

Theorem A.10. Let $f, \alpha \colon [a, b] \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ be functions. If f is Riemann–Stieltjes integrable with respect to α , then so is α with respect to f. Furthermore,

$$\int_a^b \mathrm{d}\alpha(x) f(x) = [\alpha(x)f(x)]_{x=a}^b - \int_a^b \alpha(x) \,\mathrm{d}f(x)$$

holds. Here $[\alpha(x)f(x)]_{x=a}^b \coloneqq \alpha(b)f(b) - \alpha(a)f(a)$.

The proof is basically same as the proof for the case n = 1 (i.e., the scalar-valued case). See [31, Proposition D.3] for the proof of this case. See also [39, Theorems 4a and 4b in Chapter 1].

A.4 Integrability

A.4.1 Matrix-valued functions of bounded variation

We first recall the definition of matrix-valued functions of bounded variation.

Definition A.11. Let α : $[a,b] \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ be a function. For each partition $P : a = x_0 < x_1 < \cdots < x_m = b$ of [a,b], let

$$\operatorname{Var}(\alpha; P) := \sum_{k=1}^{m} |\alpha(x_k) - \alpha(x_{k-1})|,$$

which is called the *variation* of α under the partition *P*. The value

$$\operatorname{Var}(\alpha) \coloneqq \sup \{\operatorname{Var}(\alpha; P) : P \text{ is a partition of } [a, b] \}$$

is called the *total variation* of α . α is said to be *of bounded variation* if $Var(\alpha) < \infty$.

Since the operator norm $|\cdot|$ on $M_n(\mathbb{K})$ and the norm $|\cdot|_2$ on $M_n(\mathbb{K})$ given in (A.1) are equivalent, a matrix-valued function $\alpha \colon [a, b] \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ is of bounded variation if and only if each component function $\alpha_{i,i} \colon [a, b] \to \mathbb{K}$ is of bounded variation.

Remark A.12. Let α : $[a, b] \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ be a function. Then for any $c \in (a, b)$,

$$\operatorname{Var}(\alpha|_{[a,c]}) + \operatorname{Var}(\alpha|_{[c,b]}) = \operatorname{Var}(\alpha)$$
(A.3)

holds. This equality is obtained from

$$\operatorname{Var}(\alpha|_{[a,c]}; P_1) + \operatorname{Var}(\alpha|_{[c,b]}; P_2) = \operatorname{Var}(\alpha; P),$$

where P_1 is a partition of [a, c], P_2 is a partition of [c, b], and P is the partition of [a, b] obtained by joining P_1 and P_2 .

Lemma A.13. Let $f, \alpha: [a, b] \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ be functions. If f is Riemann–Stieltjes integrable with respect to α , then

$$\left| \int_{a}^{b} d\alpha(x) f(x) \right| \le \operatorname{Var}(\alpha) \cdot \sup_{x \in [a,b]} |f(x)|$$
(A.4)

holds.

Proof. Let (P,ξ) be a tagged partition of [a,b] given in Definition A.1. Since $|AB| \leq |A||B|$ holds for any $A, B \in M_n(\mathbb{K})$, we have

$$|S(f;\alpha,(P,\xi))| \leq \sum_{k=1}^{m} |\alpha(x_k) - \alpha(x_{k-1})| |f(\xi_k)| \leq \operatorname{Var}(\alpha) \cdot \sup_{x \in [a,b]} |f(x)|.$$

Then the remaining proof is essentially same as the scalar-valued case.

Remark A.14. In the completely similar way, (A.4) also holds for any function $f: [a, b] \rightarrow \mathbb{K}^n$ which is Riemann–Stieltjes integrable with respect to α . This can also be seen from Lemma A.13 because for any $A \in M_n(\mathbb{K})$ of the form

$$A = (a \ 0 \ \cdots \ 0) \quad (a \in \mathbb{K}^n, 0 \in \mathbb{K}^n),$$

|A| = |a| holds.

A.4.2 Integrability of matrix-valued functions

The following is a fundamental theorem on the Riemann–Stieltjes integrability for scalarvalued functions.

Theorem A.15. Let $f, \alpha \colon [a, b] \to \mathbb{K}$ be functions. If f is continuous and α is of bounded variation, then f is Riemann–Stieltjes integrable with respect to α .

See [31, Theorem D.1] for a proof, which is valid for the case $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$ because it does not use the order structure. By using Theorem A.15, one can obtain the following.

Theorem A.16. Let $f, \alpha: [a, b] \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ be functions. If f is continuous and α is of bounded variation, then f is Riemann–Stieltjes integrable with respect to α .

Proof. From Lemma A.6, the problem is reduced to the Riemann–Stieltjes integrability of each column vector of f with respect to α . From Lemma A.7, it is sufficient to show that each component $f_{i,j}: [a, b] \to \mathbb{K}$ of f is Riemann–Stieltjes integrable with respect to each component $\alpha_{i,j}: [a, b] \to \mathbb{K}$ of α . Since each $f_{i,j}$ is continuous and each $\alpha_{i,j}$ is of bounded variation, the conclusion is obtained from Theorem A.15.

The following is the result on additivity of Riemann–Stieltjes integrals with respect to matrix-valued functions on sub-intervals.

Theorem A.17. Let $f: [a,b] \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ be a continuous function and $\alpha: [a,b] \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ be a function of bounded variation. Then for any $c \in (a,b)$,

$$\int_{a}^{b} \mathrm{d}\alpha(x) f(x) = \int_{a}^{c} \mathrm{d}\alpha(x) f(x) + \int_{c}^{b} \mathrm{d}\alpha(x) f(x)$$

holds.

The proof is same as that for the case n = 1. See [31, Proposition D.2] for the proof. We note that the statement can be proved by considering partitions of [a, b] with $c \in (a, b)$ as an intermediate point.

Remark A.18. In Theorem A.17, the assumptions that f is continuous and α is of bounded variation are essential because these assumptions ensure the existence of three integrals (see (A.3) and Theorem A.16). Without these assumptions, the integral in the left-hand side does not necessarily exist even if the integrals in the right-hand side exist. Such a situation will occur when the functions f and α share a discontinuity at c. See [39, Section 5 in Chapter I] for the detail.

A.5 Integration with respect to continuously differentiable functions

The following theorem shows a relationship between Riemann–Stieltjes integrals and Riemann integrals.

Theorem A.19. Let $f : [a, b] \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ be a Riemann integrable function and $\alpha : [a, b] \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ be a continuously differentiable function. Then f is Riemann–Stieltjes integrable with respect to α , and

$$\int_{a}^{b} \mathrm{d}\alpha(x) f(x) = \int_{a}^{b} \alpha'(x) f(x) \,\mathrm{d}x$$

holds. Here the right-hand side is a Riemann integral.

Since the above statement is not mentioned in [39] and [31] even for the case n = 1, we now give an outline of the proof.

Outline of the proof of Theorem A.19. Let (P, ξ) be a tagged partition of [a, b] given in Definition A.1. Let

$$S(\alpha' f; (P, \xi)) \coloneqq \sum_{k=1}^{m} (x_k - x_{k-1}) \alpha'(\xi_k) f(\xi_k).$$

Since

$$\alpha(x_k) - \alpha(x_{k-1}) = \int_{x_{k-1}}^{x_k} \alpha'(t) \,\mathrm{d}t$$

holds for each $k \in \{1, ..., m\}$ by the fundamental theorem of calculus, we have

$$S(f;\alpha,(P,\xi)) - S(\alpha'f;(P,\xi)) = \sum_{k=1}^{m} \int_{x_{k-1}}^{x_k} [\alpha'(t) - \alpha'(\xi_k)] dt \cdot f(\xi_k).$$

From this, we also have

$$\left|S(f;\alpha,(P,\xi))-S(\alpha'f;(P,\xi))\right| \leq \sum_{k=1}^{m} \int_{x_{k-1}}^{x_{k}} |\alpha'(t)-\alpha'(\xi_{k})| \,\mathrm{d}t \cdot |f(\xi_{k})|.$$

By combining this and the uniform continuity of α' , one can obtain the conclusion.

When n = 1 and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$, one can use the mean value theorem for the proof of Theorem A.19.

A.6 Integration with respect to absolutely continuous functions

The following theorem should be compared with Theorem A.19.

Theorem A.20. Let $f: [a,b] \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ be a continuous function and $\alpha: [a,b] \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ be an absolutely continuous function. Then

$$\int_{a}^{b} \mathrm{d}\alpha(x) f(x) = \int_{a}^{b} \alpha'(x) f(x) \,\mathrm{d}x$$

holds. Here the right-hand side is a Lebesgue integral.

See [39, Theorem 6a in Chapter I] for the proof of the scalar-valued case. We note that the existence of the Riemann–Stieltjes integral in the left-hand side is ensured by Theorem A.16 because the absolutely continuous function α is of bounded variation. We also note that the function $[a, b] \ni x \mapsto \alpha'(x) f(x) \in M_n(\mathbb{K})$ is Lebesgue integrable because it is measurable and

$$\int_{a}^{b} |\alpha'(x)f(x)| \, \mathrm{d}x \leq \int_{a}^{b} |\alpha'(x)| |f(x)| \, \mathrm{d}x \leq \|\alpha'\|_{1} \|f\| < \infty$$

holds.

Since it is interesting to compare the proof of Theorem A.19 and the proof of Theorem A.20, we now give an outline of the proof.

Outline of the proof of Theorem A.20. Let (P, ξ) be a tagged partition of [a, b] given in Definition A.1. Since $\alpha = \alpha(0) + V\alpha'$,

$$S(f;\alpha,(P,\xi)) = \sum_{k=1}^{m} \int_{x_{k-1}}^{x_k} \alpha'(t) \,\mathrm{d}t \cdot f(\xi_k)$$

holds. Therefore, we have

$$\int_{a}^{b} \alpha'(x) f(x) \, \mathrm{d}x - S(f; \alpha, (P, \xi)) = \sum_{k=1}^{m} \int_{x_{k-1}}^{x_k} \alpha'(t) [f(t) - f(\xi_k)] \, \mathrm{d}t.$$

In combination with the uniform continuity of *f*, the conclusion is obtained by taking the limit as $|(P,\xi)| \rightarrow 0$.

A.7 Proof of the theorem on iterated integrals

In this subsection, we give a proof of Theorem 3.8.

Proof of Theorem 3.8. We define a bounded linear operator $T: C([a, b], M_n(\mathbb{K})) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ by

$$Tg := \int_a^b \mathrm{d}\alpha(x) g(x)$$

for $g \in C([a, b], M_n(\mathbb{K}))$. From Lemma 2.9, the left-hand side of (3.4) is equal to

$$T\int_c^d f(\cdot,y)\,\mathrm{d}y,$$

which is also equal to $\int_{c}^{d} Tf(\cdot, y) \, dy$ since *T* is a bounded linear operator. By the definition of *T*, this integral is equal to the right-hand side of (3.4). This completes the proof.

B Riesz representation theorem

Throughout this appendix, let $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$ or \mathbb{C} and let [a, b] be a closed and bounded interval of \mathbb{R} .

The following is the cerebrated *Riesz representation theorem*.

Theorem B.1. For any continuous linear functional $A: C([a, b], \mathbb{K}) \to \mathbb{K}$, there exists a function $\alpha: [a, b] \to \mathbb{K}$ with the following properties: (i) $Var(\alpha) = ||A||$, (ii) every $f \in C([a, b], \mathbb{K})$ is Riemann–Stieltjes integrable with respect to α , and (iii)

$$A(f) = \int_{a}^{b} f(x) \, \mathrm{d}\alpha(x)$$

holds for all $f \in C([a, b], \mathbb{K})$ *.*

In a proof of Theorem B.1 (e.g., see discussions on [31, Chapter 9]), we construct such a function α by using a continuous linear extension

$$\bar{A}: B([a,b],\mathbb{K}) \to \mathbb{K}$$

of *A* with $\|\bar{A}\| = \|A\|$. Here $B([a, b], \mathbb{K})$ denotes the linear space of all bounded functions from [a, b] to \mathbb{K} endowed with the supremum norm. Its existence is ensured by the Hahn–Banach extension theorem in normed spaces (see [40, Theorem 1 in Section 5 of Chapter IV]). See also [1, Section 4 of Chapter IV].

Remark B.2. The Riemann-Stieltjes integrability of any $f \in C([a, b], \mathbb{K})$ with respect to the constructed function α is also obtained in the proof. This should be compared with Theorem A.15.

The following is a corollary of Theorem B.1.

Corollary B.3. For any integer $n \ge 1$ and any continuous linear map $A: C([a, b], \mathbb{K}^n) \to \mathbb{K}^n$, there exists a function $\alpha: [a, b] \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ of bounded variation such that

$$A(f) = \int_{a}^{b} \mathrm{d}\alpha(x) f(x)$$

holds for all $f \in C([a, b], \mathbb{K}^n)$.

Corollary B.3 has been used in the literature of RFDEs (e.g., see [18], [19], [22], and [14]). We now give the proof of Corollary B.3 because it is not given in these references.

Proof of Corollary B.3. Let (e_1, \ldots, e_n) be the standard basis of \mathbb{K}^n . For each $g \in C([a, b], \mathbb{K})$ and each $j \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, let $ge_j \in C([a, b], \mathbb{K}^n)$ be defined by

$$(ge_i)(x) \coloneqq g(x)e_i$$

for $x \in [a, b]$. For each $i, j \in \{1, ..., n\}$, we define a functional $A_{i,j}: C([a, b], \mathbb{K}) \to \mathbb{K}$ by

$$A_{i,j}(g) \coloneqq A(ge_j)_i$$

Here y_i denotes the *i*-th component of $y \in \mathbb{K}^n$. Since $A_{i,j}$ is a continuous linear functional, one can choose a function $\alpha_{i,j} \colon [a, b] \to \mathbb{K}$ of bounded variation so that

$$A_{i,j}(g) = \int_a^b g(x) \, \mathrm{d}\alpha_{i,j}(x)$$

holds for all $g \in C([a, b], \mathbb{K})$ from Theorem B.1. By using $f = \sum_{j=1}^{n} f_j e_j$ for $f = (f_1, \dots, f_n)$, we have

$$A(f)_i = \sum_{j=1}^n A(f_j e_j)_i = \sum_{j=1}^n A_{i,j}(f_j) = \sum_{j=1}^n \int_a^b f_j(x) \, \mathrm{d}\alpha_{i,j}(x).$$

From Lemma A.7, this yields that

$$A(f) = \int_{a}^{b} \mathrm{d}\alpha(x) f(x)$$

holds for all $f \in C([a, b], \mathbb{K}^n)$ by defining a matrix-valued function $\alpha \colon [a, b] \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ of bounded variation by $\alpha \coloneqq (\alpha_{i,j})_{i,j}$. This completes the proof.

C Variants of Gronwall's inequality

Throughout this appendix, let [a, b] be a closed and bounded interval of \mathbb{R} .

C.1 Gronwall's inequality and its generalization

The following is known as Gronwall's inequality.

Lemma C.1 (ref. [20]). Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ be a constant and $\beta : [a, b] \to [0, \infty)$ be a continuous function. If a continuous function $u : [a, b] \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfies

$$u(t) \le \alpha + \int_a^t \beta(s) u(s) \, \mathrm{d}s$$

for all $t \in [a, b]$, then

$$u(t) \le \alpha \exp\left(\int_a^t \beta(s) \,\mathrm{d}s\right)$$

holds for all $t \in [a, b]$.

Outline of the proof. To use a technique for scalar homogeneous linear ODEs, let

$$v(t) \coloneqq \int_a^t \beta(s) u(s) \, \mathrm{d}s.$$

Then the given inequality becomes

$$\dot{v}(t) \leq \beta(t)[v(t) + \alpha] \quad (t \in [a, b]),$$

where the non-negativity of β is used. Since the left-hand side is the derivative of the function $t \mapsto v(t) + \alpha$, it is natural to consider the derivative of

$$t \mapsto \exp\left(-\int_a^t \beta(s) \,\mathrm{d}s\right) [v(t) + \alpha].$$

Then it holds that this function is monotonically decreasing, which yields the conclusion. \Box

The following is a generalized version of Gronwall's inequality.

Lemma C.2 (refs. [19], [20], [22]). Let α : $[a,b] \to \mathbb{R}$ and β : $[a,b] \to [0,\infty)$ be given continuous functions. If a continuous function u: $[a,b] \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfies

$$u(t) \le \alpha(t) + \int_a^t \beta(s)u(s) \,\mathrm{d}s$$

for all $t \in [a, b]$, then

$$u(t) \le \alpha(t) + \int_{a}^{t} \alpha(s)\beta(s) \exp\left(\int_{s}^{t} \beta(\tau) \,\mathrm{d}\tau\right) \mathrm{d}s$$

holds for all $t \in [a, b]$. Furthermore, if α is monotonically increasing, then

$$u(t) \le \alpha(t) \exp\left(\int_a^t \beta(s) \, \mathrm{d}s\right)$$

holds.

By letting $v(t) := \int_a^t \beta(s)u(s) ds$, one can obtain

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \exp\left(-\int_a^t \beta(s) \,\mathrm{d}s\right) v(t) \le \exp\left(-\int_a^t \beta(s) \,\mathrm{d}s\right) \beta(t) \alpha(t)$$

Then the first inequality is obtained by integrating both sides in combination with $u(t) \le \alpha(t) + v(t)$. See [20, Section I.6], [19, Lemma 3.1 in Section 1.3], and [22, Lemma 3.1 in Section 1.3] for the detail of the proof.

C.2 Gronwall's inequality and RFDEs

In this subsection, let r > 0 and $E = (E, \|\cdot\|)$ be a normed space. For each continuous function $u: [a - r, b] \rightarrow E$ and each $t \in [a, b]$, let $u_t \in C([-r, 0], E)$ be defined by

$$u_t(\theta) := u(t+\theta) \quad (\theta \in [-r,0]).$$

It holds that the function $[a, b] \ni t \mapsto u_t \in C([-r, 0], E)$ is continuous.

In the context of RFDEs, it is often convenient to use the following result rather than to use Gronwall's inequality directly.

Lemma C.3 (cf. [23]). Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ be a constant and $\beta : [a, b] \to [0, \infty)$ be a given continuous function. *If a continuous function u*: $[a - r, b] \to E$ satisfies

$$\|u(t)\| \le \alpha + \int_a^t \beta(s) \|u_s\| \,\mathrm{d}s$$

for all $t \in [a, b]$, then

$$||u_t|| \leq \max\{||u_a||, \alpha\} \exp\left(\int_a^t \beta(s) \, \mathrm{d}s\right)$$

holds for all $t \in [a, b]$.

This should be compared with [23, Lemma 2.1]. We note that the argument of the proof has appeared in [19, Theorem 1.1 in Chapter 6] and [22, Theorem 1.1 in Chapter 6].

A generalization of Lemma C.3 is possible by using Lemma C.2.

Lemma C.4. Let α : $[a,b] \to \mathbb{R}$ and β : $[a,b] \to [0,\infty)$ be given continuous functions. If a continuous function u: $[a-r,b] \to E$ satisfies

$$\|u(t)\| \le \alpha(t) + \int_a^t \beta(s) \|u_s\| \,\mathrm{d}s$$

for all $t \in [a, b]$ and α is monotonically increasing, then

$$||u_t|| \le \max\{||u_a||, \alpha(t)\} \exp\left(\int_a^t \beta(s) \,\mathrm{d}s\right)$$

holds for all $t \in [a, b]$.

Proof. Let $t \in [a, b]$ be fixed and $\theta \in [-r, 0]$ be given. When $t + \theta \ge a$, we have

$$\|u(t+\theta)\| \le \alpha(t+\theta) + \int_a^{t+\theta} \beta(s) \|u_s\| \, \mathrm{d}s$$
$$\le \alpha(t) + \int_a^t \beta(s) \|u_s\| \, \mathrm{d}s.$$

Here the property that α is monotonically increasing and the non-negativity of β are used. When $t + \theta \leq a$, we have

$$\|u(t+\theta)\| \leq \|u_a\|.$$

By combining the above inequalities, we obtain

$$||u_t|| \le \max\{||u_a||, \alpha(t)\} + \int_a^t \beta(s)||u_s|| ds.$$

Since the functions $[a, b] \ni t \mapsto ||u_t|| \in [0, \infty)$ and $[a, b] \ni t \mapsto \max\{||u_a||, \alpha(t)\} \in \mathbb{R}$ are continuous, the conclusion is obtained by applying Lemma C.2.

D Lemmas on fixed point argument

Let $E = (E, \|\cdot\|)$ be a normed space and r > 0 be a constant. For each $\gamma > 0$, let

$$Y_{\gamma} := \left\{ y \in C([-r,\infty), E) : y_0 = 0, \|y\|_{\gamma} < \infty \right\}$$

be a normed space endowed with the norm $\|\cdot\|_{\gamma}$ given by

$$\|y\|_{\gamma} \coloneqq \sup_{t \ge 0} \left(\mathrm{e}^{-\gamma t} \|y_t\| \right) < \infty$$

For the notation $||y_t||$, see Subsection C.2.

Lemma D.1. For any continuous function $y: [-r, \infty) \to E$ with $y_0 = 0$,

$$||y||_{\gamma} = \sup_{t \ge 0} (e^{-\gamma t} ||y(t)||)$$

holds.

Proof. Since $||y(t)|| \le ||y_t||$ holds for all $t \ge 0$,

$$\sup_{t \ge 0} \left(e^{-\gamma t} \| y(t) \| \right) \le \| y \|_{\gamma}$$

holds. The reverse inequality also follows in view of

$$\mathbf{e}^{-\gamma t} \| y(t+\theta) \| = \mathbf{e}^{-\gamma(t+\theta)} \| y(t+\theta) \| \cdot \mathbf{e}^{\gamma \theta} \le \sup_{t \ge 0} \left(\mathbf{e}^{-\gamma t} \| y(t) \| \right)$$

for $t \ge 0$ and $\theta \in [-r, 0]$. Here $y_0 = 0$ and $e^{\gamma \theta} \le 1$ are used.

Lemma D.2. If *E* is a Banach space, then Y_{γ} is also a Banach space.

Proof. Let $(y^k)_{k=1}^{\infty}$ be a Cauchy sequence in Y_{γ} . We choose $\varepsilon > 0$. Then for all sufficiently large $k, \ell \ge 1$, we have $||y^k - y^{\ell}||_{\gamma} \le \varepsilon$. From Lemma D.1, this means that for all sufficiently large $k, \ell \ge 1$,

$$\left\|y^k(t) - y^\ell(t)\right\| \le \varepsilon \mathrm{e}^{\gamma t}$$

holds for all $t \ge 0$. This implies that $(y^k(t))_{k=1}^{\infty}$ is a Cauchy sequence for each $t \ge 0$, and therefore, $(y^k)_{k=1}^{\infty}$ has the limit function $y: [-r, \infty) \to E$ with $y_0 = 0$. Since the above relation shows that the convergence of $(y^k)_{k=1}^{\infty}$ to y is uniform on each closed and bounded interval of \mathbb{R} by taking the limit as $\ell \to \infty$, the limit function y is continuous. Then it is concluded that

$$\left\|y^k - y\right\|_{\gamma} \le \varepsilon$$

holds for all sufficiently large $k \ge 1$, which implies that $(y^k)_{k=1}^{\infty}$ converges to y in Y_{γ} .

E Convolution continued

In this appendix, we discuss the convolution for functions in $\mathcal{L}^1_{loc}([0,\infty), M_n(\mathbb{K}))$. The purpose is to share results on the convolution and their proofs in the literature of RFDEs. The results discussed here extend the results in Subsection 5.2, but they will not be used in this paper. See also [25, Proposition A.4, Theorems A.5, A.6, A.7 in Appendix A].

E.1 Convolution for locally essentially bounded functions and locally Lebesgue integrable functions

We first recall that a function $g \in \mathcal{L}^1_{loc}([0,\infty), M_n(\mathbb{K}))$ is said to be *locally essentially bounded* if

ess sup
$$|g(t)| := \inf \{M > 0 : |g(t)| \le M \text{ holds for almost all } t \in [0, T] \}$$

is finite for all T > 0. Let

$$\mathcal{L}^{\infty}_{\text{loc}}([0,\infty), M_n(\mathbb{K})) \coloneqq \left\{ g \in \mathcal{L}^1_{\text{loc}}([0,\infty), M_n(\mathbb{K})) : g \text{ is locally essentially bounded} \right\},\$$

which is a linear subspace of $\mathcal{L}^{1}_{loc}([0,\infty), M_n(\mathbb{K}))$. As in Definition 5.1, we introduce the following.

Definition E.1. For each $f \in \mathcal{L}^1_{\text{loc}}([0,\infty), M_n(\mathbb{K}))$ and each $g \in \mathcal{L}^\infty_{\text{loc}}([0,\infty), M_n(\mathbb{K}))$, we define a function $g * f : [0,\infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ by

$$(g*f)(t) \coloneqq \int_0^t g(t-u)f(u)\,\mathrm{d}u = \int_0^t g(u)f(t-u)\,\mathrm{d}u$$

for $t \ge 0$. Here the integrals are Lebesgue integrals. The function g * f is called the *convolution* of g and f.

We note that

$$|(g*f)(t)| \le \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{u \in [0,t]} |g(u)| \cdot \int_0^t |f(u)| \,\mathrm{d}u$$

holds for all $t \ge 0$. The following result should be compared with Lemma 5.2.

Lemma E.2. Let $f \in \mathcal{L}^1_{loc}([0,\infty), M_n(\mathbb{K}))$ and $g \in \mathcal{L}^\infty_{loc}([0,\infty), M_n(\mathbb{K}))$. Then g * f is continuous.

Outline of the proof. We show the continuity of g * f on [0, T] for each fixed T > 0. We define a function $\tilde{f} \colon \mathbb{R} \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ by

$$\tilde{f}(t) \coloneqq \begin{cases} f(t) & (t \in \operatorname{dom}(f) \cap [0, T]), \\ O & (\text{otherwise}). \end{cases}$$

Then $\tilde{f} \in \mathcal{L}^1(\mathbb{R}, M_n(\mathbb{K}))$, and

$$(g*f)(t) = \int_0^t g(u)\tilde{f}(t-u)\,\mathrm{d}u$$

holds for all $t \in [0, T]$. We fix $t_0 \in [0, T]$. By the reasoning as in the proof of Lemma 3.4, we have

$$(g*f)(t) - (g*f)(t_0) = \int_0^{t_0} g(u) \left[\tilde{f}(t-u) - \tilde{f}(t_0-u) \right] du + \int_{t_0}^t g(u) \tilde{f}(t-u) du$$

for all $t \in [0, T]$. Therefore, the continuity of g * f on [0, T] is obtained by Hölder's inequality, the continuity of the translation in \mathcal{L}^1 , and the integrability of \tilde{f} .

E.2 Convolution for locally Lebesgue integrable functions

The notion of convolution in Definition E.1 is not satisfactory in the sense that the condition on *f* and *g* is not symmetry. To introduce the notion of convolution for functions in $\mathcal{L}^1_{\text{loc}}([0,\infty), M_n(\mathbb{K}))$, we need the following.

Theorem E.3. Let $f, g \in \mathcal{L}^1_{loc}([0, \infty), M_n(\mathbb{K}))$ be given. Then the following statements hold:

- 1. For almost all t > 0, $u \mapsto g(t u)f(u)$ belongs to $\mathcal{L}^1([0, t], M_n(\mathbb{K}))$.
- 2. The function g * f defined by

$$(g*f)(t) \coloneqq \int_0^t g(t-u)f(u)\,\mathrm{d} u$$

for almost all $t \geq 0$ belongs to $\mathcal{L}^1_{loc}([0,\infty), M_n(\mathbb{K}))$.



Figure E.1: The light gray region is the subset *A*.

3. For all $T \ge 0$, $\int_0^T |(g * f)(t)| dt \le \left(\int_0^T |g(t)| dt\right) \cdot \left(\int_0^T |f(t)| dt\right)$

holds.

In the following, we give a direct proof of Theorem E.3 by using Fubini's theorem and Tonelli's theorem for functions on the Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^d . See [32, Theorems 3.1 and 3.2 in Section 3 of Chapter 2] for these statements and their proofs.

A direct proof of Theorem E.3. Let $\overline{f} \colon \mathbb{R} \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ be the function defined by

$$\bar{f}(t) \coloneqq \begin{cases} f(t) & (t \in \operatorname{dom}(f)), \\ O & (t \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \operatorname{dom}(f)). \end{cases}$$

In the same way, we define the function $\bar{g} \colon \mathbb{R} \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$. Then $\bar{f}, \bar{g} \colon \mathbb{R} \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ are locally Lebesgue integrable functions.

Let T > 0 be fixed. The remainder of the proof is divided into the following steps.

Step 1: Setting of triangle region and function. We consider a closed set *A* of \mathbb{R}^2 given by

$$A := \{ (t, u) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : t \in [0, T], u \in [0, t] \}$$

See Fig. E.1 for the picture of A. Then the characteristic function $\mathbf{1}_A$ is measurable and

$$\mathbf{1}_{A}(t,u) = \mathbf{1}_{[0,T]}(t)\mathbf{1}_{[0,t]}(u) = \mathbf{1}_{[0,T]}(u)\mathbf{1}_{[u,T]}(t)$$

holds for all $(t, u) \in \mathbb{R}^2$. We define a function $h: \mathbb{R}^2 \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ by

$$h(t,u) \coloneqq \mathbf{1}_A(t,u)\bar{g}(t-u)\bar{f}(u).$$

Then h is measurable because

$$\mathbb{R}^2 \ni (t, u) \mapsto \bar{g}(t - u) \in M_n(\mathbb{K}) \text{ and } \mathbb{R}^2 \ni (t, u) \mapsto \bar{f}(u) \in M_n(\mathbb{K})$$

are measurable.² This implies that the function $\mathbb{R}^2 \ni (t, u) \mapsto |h(t, u)| \in [0, \infty)$ is also measurable.

Step 2: Application of Tonelli's theorem. By applying Tonelli's theorem, the following statements hold:

²See [32, Corollary 3.7 and Proposition 3.9 in Section 3 of Chapter 2] for the results of scalar-valued case.

J. Nishiguchi

- For almost all $u \in \mathbb{R}$, the function $\mathbb{R} \ni t \mapsto |h(t, u)| \in [0, \infty)$ is measurable.
- For almost all $t \in \mathbb{R}$, the function $\mathbb{R} \ni u \mapsto |h(t, u)| \in [0, \infty)$ is measurable.
- The functions

$$u \mapsto \int_{\mathbb{R}} |h(t,u)| \, \mathrm{d}t \in [0,\infty], \quad t \mapsto \int_{\mathbb{R}} |h(t,u)| \, \mathrm{d}u \in [0,\infty]$$

are measurable functions defined almost everywhere.

• We have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} |h(t,u)| \, \mathrm{d}t \right) \mathrm{d}u = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} |h(t,u)| \, \mathrm{d}u \right) \mathrm{d}t = \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |h(t,u)| \, \mathrm{d}(t,u)$$

including the possibility that all the unsigned Lebesgue integrals are ∞ .

Step 3: Application of Fubini's theorem. By Step 2, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |h(t,u)| d(t,u) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} |h(t,u)| dt \right) du$$
$$\leq \int_0^T \left(\int_u^T |\bar{g}(t-u)| dt \right) |\bar{f}(u)| du$$
$$\leq \left(\int_0^T |g(t)| dt \right) \cdot \left(\int_0^T |f(t)| dt \right).$$

Since the last term is finite, it holds that h is integrable. By applying Fubini's theorem component-wise, the following statements hold:

- For almost all $u \in \mathbb{R}$, the function $\mathbb{R} \ni t \mapsto h(t, u) \in M_n(\mathbb{K})$ is Lebesgue integrable.
- For almost all $t \in \mathbb{R}$, the function $\mathbb{R} \ni u \mapsto h(t, u) \in M_n(\mathbb{K})$ is Lebesgue integrable.
- The functions

$$u\mapsto \int_{\mathbb{R}}h(t,u)\,\mathrm{d}t\in M_n(\mathbb{K}), \ t\mapsto \int_{\mathbb{R}}h(t,u)\,\mathrm{d}u\in M_n(\mathbb{K})$$

belong to $\mathcal{L}^1(\mathbb{R}, M_n(\mathbb{K}))$.

• The equalities

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} h(t, u) \, \mathrm{d}t \right) \mathrm{d}u = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} h(t, u) \, \mathrm{d}u \right) \mathrm{d}t = \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} h(t, u) \, \mathrm{d}(t, u)$$

hold.

Step 4: Conclusion. For each $t \in [0, T]$,

$$h(t,u) = g(t-u)f(u)$$

holds for almost all $u \in [0, t]$. Therefore, for almost all $t \in [0, T]$, the function $u \mapsto g(t-u)f(u)$ belongs to $\mathcal{L}^1([0, t], M_n(\mathbb{K}))$. Furthermore, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} h(t,u) \, \mathrm{d}u = \int_0^t g(t-u) f(u) \, \mathrm{d}u$$

for almost all $t \in [0, T]$, and it holds that the function

$$t\mapsto \int_0^t g(t-u)f(u)\,\mathrm{d} u$$

is a Lebesgue integrable function defined almost everywhere on [0, T]. Since T > 0 is arbitrary, the statements 1 and 2 hold. The statement 3 also holds because we have

$$\int_0^T |(g * f)(t)| dt \le \int_0^T \left(\int_0^t |g(t-u)f(u)| du \right) dt$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} |h(t,u)| du \right) dt$$
$$\le \left(\int_0^T |g(t)| dt \right) \cdot \left(\int_0^T |f(t)| dt \right)$$

where the calculation in Step 3 is used.

This completes the proof.

Another proof of Theorem E.3. Let T > 0 be fixed. We define $\tilde{f} \colon \mathbb{R} \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ by

$$\tilde{f}(t) \coloneqq \begin{cases} f(t) & (t \in \operatorname{dom}(f) \cap [0, T]), \\ O & (\text{otherwise}). \end{cases}$$

In the same way, we define the function $\tilde{g} \colon \mathbb{R} \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$. Since $\tilde{f}, \tilde{g} \colon \mathbb{R} \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ are Lebesgue integrable functions, one can prove the following statements as in the scalar-valued case:³

- 1'. For almost all $t \in \mathbb{R}$, the function $u \mapsto \tilde{g}(t-u)\tilde{f}(u)$ is a Lebesgue integrable function defined almost everywhere.
- 2'. The function $\tilde{g} \star \tilde{f}$ defined by

$$(\tilde{g}\star\tilde{f})(t)\coloneqq\int_{\mathbb{R}}\tilde{g}(t-u)\tilde{f}(u)\,\mathrm{d}u$$

for almost all $t \in \mathbb{R}$ belongs to $\mathcal{L}^1(\mathbb{R}, M_n(\mathbb{K}))$.

3'. An estimate

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \left| \left(\tilde{g} \star \tilde{f} \right)(t) \right| \mathrm{d}t \le \left\| \tilde{g} \right\|_1 \cdot \left\| \tilde{f} \right\|_1$$

holds.

1. For each $t \in [0, T]$, we have

$$\tilde{g}(t-u)\tilde{f}(u) = g(t-u)f(u)$$

for almost all $u \in [0, t]$. By combining this and the above statement 1', it holds that for almost all $t \in [0, T]$, $u \mapsto g(t - u)f(u)$ is a Lebesgue integrable function defined almost everywhere on [0, t]. Since T > 0 is arbitrary, the statement 1 holds.

2. By the definitions of \tilde{f} and \tilde{g} ,

$$\left(\tilde{g}\star\tilde{f}\right)(t)=\int_0^t\tilde{g}(t-u)\tilde{f}(u)\,\mathrm{d}u=\int_0^tg(t-u)f(u)\,\mathrm{d}u$$

³See [32, Exercise 21 in Chapter 2] and [30, 8.13 and 8.14 of Chapter 8] for the scalar-valued case.

holds for all $t \in \text{dom}(\tilde{g} \star \tilde{f}) \cap [0, T]$. Since T > 0 is arbitrary, this shows that

$$t\mapsto \int_0^t g(t-u)f(u)\,\mathrm{d} u$$

is a measurable function defined almost everywhere on $[0, \infty)$ from the statement 2'. Furthermore, we also have

$$\int_0^T \left| \int_0^t g(t-u)f(u) \, \mathrm{d}u \right| \mathrm{d}t = \int_0^T \left| \left(\tilde{g} \star \tilde{f} \right)(t) \right| \mathrm{d}t < \infty.$$

Since T > 0 is arbitrary, the statement 2 holds.

3. By combining the proof of the statement 2 and the inequality in the statement 3', we have

$$\int_0^T |(g * f)(t)| \, \mathrm{d}t \le \|\tilde{g}\|_1 \cdot \|\tilde{f}\|_1$$

Here

$$\|\tilde{f}\|_1 = \int_0^T |f(t)| dt, \quad \|\tilde{g}\|_1 = \int_0^T |g(t)| dt$$

holds since f(t) = g(t) = O for $t \in (-\infty, 0) \cup (T, \infty)$. Therefore, the inequality in the statement 3 is obtained.

The above proof of Theorem E.3 is not given in [34], [14], [25], and [17]. Based on Theorem E.3, we introduce the following.

Definition E.4. Let $f, g \in \mathcal{L}^{1}_{loc}([0, \infty), M_n(\mathbb{K}))$. We call $g * f \in \mathcal{L}^{1}_{loc}([0, \infty), M_n(\mathbb{K}))$ in Theorem E.3 defined by

$$(g*f)(t) \coloneqq \int_0^t g(t-u)f(u)\,\mathrm{d}u = \int_0^t g(u)f(t-u)\,\mathrm{d}u$$

the *convolution* of *f* and *g*.

E.3 Convolution under Volterra operator

The convolution for functions in $\mathcal{L}^{1}_{loc}([0,\infty), M_n(\mathbb{K}))$ and the Volterra operator are related in the following way.

Theorem E.5. For any pair of $f, g \in \mathcal{L}^1_{loc}([0, \infty), M_n(\mathbb{K}))$,

$$V(g * f) = (Vg) * f = g * (Vf)$$
 (E.1)

holds.

The above theorem is an extension of Corollary 5.5.

Proof of Theorem E.5. For each t > 0,

$$V(g*f)(t) = \int_0^t \left(\int_0^s g(s-u)f(u)\,\mathrm{d}u\right)\mathrm{d}s$$
holds by the definition of convolution for functions in $\mathcal{L}^1_{loc}([0,\infty), M_n(\mathbb{K}))$. By applying Fubini's theorem in a similar way as in the direct proof of Theorem E.3, the right-hand side is calculated as

$$\int_0^t \left(\int_0^s g(s-u)f(u) \, \mathrm{d}u \right) \mathrm{d}s = \int_0^t \left(\int_u^t g(s-u) \, \mathrm{d}s \right) f(u) \, \mathrm{d}u$$
$$= \int_0^t (Vg)(t-u)f(u) \, \mathrm{d}u,$$

where the last term is equal to [(Vg) * f](t). Therefore, the integration by parts formula for matrix-valued absolutely continuous functions (see Theorem 6.13) yields

$$[(Vg) * f](t) = [(Vg)(t - u)(Vf)(u)]_{u=0}^{t} + \int_{0}^{t} g(t - u)(Vf)(u) du$$

= [g * (Vf)](t),

where (Vg)(0) = (Vf)(0) = O is used. This completes the proof.

Remark E.6. Eq. (E.1) is a special case of the associativity of convolution

$$(h * g) * f = h * (g * f)$$
 (E.2)

for $f, g, h \in \mathcal{L}^1_{\text{loc}}([0, \infty), M_n(\mathbb{K}))$ because

$$(f * \mathcal{I})(t) = (\mathcal{I} * f)(t) = \int_0^t f(s) \, \mathrm{d}s = (Vf)(t) \qquad (t \ge 0)$$

holds for any $f \in \mathcal{L}^1_{loc}([0,\infty), M_n(\mathbb{K}))$. Here $\mathcal{I} \colon [0,\infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ denote the constant function whose value is equal to the identity matrix.

The following is a result on the regularity of convolution. It should be compared with Theorem 5.3.

Theorem E.7. Let $f \in \mathcal{L}^1_{loc}([0,\infty), M_n(\mathbb{K}))$ and $g: [0,\infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$ be a locally absolutely contin*uous function. Then* g * f *is expressed by*

$$g * f = V(g(0)f + g' * f).$$
 (E.3)

Consequently, g * f is locally absolutely continuous, differentiable almost everywhere, and satisfies

$$(g * f)'(t) = g(0)f(t) + (g' * f)(t)$$

for almost all $t \geq 0$.

We note that for a locally absolutely continuous function $g: [0, \infty) \to M_n(\mathbb{K})$, the derivative g' belongs to $\mathcal{L}^1_{loc}([0, \infty), M_n(\mathbb{K}))$. Therefore, the convolution g' * f makes sense from Theorem E.3.

Proof of Theorem E.7. Since g = g(0) + Vg', we obtain

$$g * f = g(0)Vf + (Vg') * f = g(0)Vf + V(g' * f)$$

by using Theorem E.5. This yields the expression (E.3) because the Volterra operator is linear. The remaining properties of g * f are derived by the properties of Volterra operator.

See also [17, 7.4 Corollary in Chapter 3] for related results.

Remark E.8. From Theorem E.7, we have

$$(Vg) * f = V(g * f)$$

for $f, g \in \mathcal{L}^1_{loc}([0, \infty), M_n(\mathbb{K}))$. We also have

$$g * (Vf) = V(g * f)$$

in a similar way.

We note that the statement 2 of Corollary 5.6 also follows by Lemma E.2 and Theorem E.7.

References

- S. BANACH, *Theory of linear operations*, Translated from the French by F. Jellett. With comments by A. Pełczyński and Cz. Bessaga. North-Holland Mathematical Library, 38. North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam, 1987. MR0880204; Zbl 0005.20901
- [2] R. BELLMAN, K. L. COOKE, Differential-difference equations, Academic Press, New York-London, 1963. MR0147745; Zbl 0105.06402
- [3] C. BERNIER, A. MANITIUS, On semigroups in Rⁿ × L^p corresponding to differential equations with delays, *Canadian J. Math.* **30**(1978), 897–914. https://doi.org/10.4153/CJM-1978-078-6; MR0508727; Zbl 0368.47026
- [4] H. BREZIS, Functional analysis, Sobolev spaces and partial differential equations, Universitext, Springer, New York, 2011. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-70914-7; MR2759829; Zbl 1220.46002
- [5] C. CHICONE, Inertial and slow manifolds for delay equations with small delays, J. Differential Equations 190(2003), No. 2, 364–406. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-0396(02) 00148-1; MR1970035; Zbl 1044.34026
- [6] C. CHICONE, Ordinary differential equations with applications, Second edition, Texts Appl. Math., Vol. 34. Springer, New York, 2006. https://doi.org/10.1007/0-387-35794-7; MR2224508; Zbl 1120.34001
- [7] PH. CLÉMENT, O. DIEKMANN, M. GYLLENBERG, H. J. A. M. HEIJMANS, H. R. THIEME, Perturbation theory for dual semigroups. I. The sun-reflexive case, *Math. Ann.* 277(1987), No. 4, 709–725. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01457866; MR0901713; Zbl 0634.47039
- [8] M. C. DELFOUR, The largest class of hereditary systems defining a C₀ semigroup on the product space, *Canad. J. Math.* **32**(1980), No. 4, 969–978. https://doi.org/10.4153/CJM-1980-074-8; MR0590659; Zbl 0448.34074
- [9] M. C. DELFOUR, A. MANITIUS, The structural operator *F* and its role in the theory of retarded systems. I, *J. Math. Anal. Appl.* **73**(1980), No. 2, 466–490. https://doi.org/10. 1016/0022-247X(80)90292-9; MR0563997; Zbl 0456.34041

- [10] M. C. DELFOUR, S. K. MITTER, Hereditary differential systems with constant delays.
 I. General case, J. Differential Equations 12(1972), 213–235; erratum, ibid. 14(1973), 397. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-0396(72)90030-7; MR0328261; Zbl 0242.34055
- W. DESCH, W. SCHAPPACHER, Linearized stability for nonlinear semigroups, in: Differential equations in Banach spaces (Bologna, 1985), Lecture Notes in Math., Vol. 1223, Springer, Berlin, 1986, pp. 61–73. https://doi.org/10.1007/BFb0099183; MR0872517; Zbl 0615.47048
- [12] O. DIEKMANN, Perturbed dual semigroups and delay equations, in: *Dynamics of infinite-dimensional systems (Lisbon, 1986)*, NATO Adv. Sci. Inst. Ser. F: Comput. Systems Sci., Vol. 37, Springer, Berlin, 1987, pp 67–73. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-86458-2_9; MR0921900; Zbl 0632.34067
- [13] O. DIEKMANN, M. GYLLENBERG, Equations with infinite delay: blending the abstract and the concrete, J. Differential Equations 252(2012), No. 2, 819–851. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jde.2011.09.038; MR2853522; Zbl 1237.34133
- [14] O. DIEKMANN, S. A. VAN GILS, S. M. VERDUYN LUNEL, H.-O. WALTHER, Delay Equations. Functional, complex, and nonlinear analysis, Appl. Math. Sci., Vol. 110. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1995. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-4206-2; MR1345150; Zbl 0826.34002
- [15] R. GORDON, Riemann integration in Banach spaces, *Rocky Mountain J. Math.* 21(1991), No. 3, 923–949. https://doi.org/10.1216/rmjm/1181072923; MR1138145; Zbl 0764.28008
- [16] L. M. GRAVES, Riemann integration and Taylor's theorem in general analysis, *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* 29(1927), No. 1, 163–177. https://doi.org/10.2307/1989284; MR1501382
- [17] G. GRIPENBERG, S.-O. LONDEN, O. STAFFANS, Volterra integral and functional equations, Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications, Vol. 34, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1990. https://doi.org/10.1017/CB09780511662805; MR1050319; Zbl 0695.45002
- [18] J. K. HALE, Functional differential equations, Appl. Math. Sci., Vol. 3, Springer-Verlag New York, New York–Heidelberg, 1971. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4615-9968-5; MR0466837; Zbl 0222.34003
- [19] J. K. HALE, Theory of functional differential equations, Second edition. Appl. Math. Sci., Vol. 3, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1977. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-9892-2; MR0508721; Zbl 0352.34001
- [20] J. K. HALE, Ordinary differential equations, Second edition. Robert E. Krieger Publishing Co., Inc., Huntington, N.Y., 1980. MR0587488; Zbl 0433.34003
- [21] J. K. HALE, K. R. MEYER, A class of functional equations of neutral type, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc., Vol. 76, American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I., 1967. https://doi.org/ 10.1090/memo/0076; MR0223842; Zbl 0179.20501
- [22] J. K. HALE, S. M. VERDUYN LUNEL, Introduction to functional differential equations, Appl. Math. Sci., Vol. 99, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1993. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-4342-7; MR1243878; Zbl 0787.34002

- [23] F. HARTUNG, Differentiability of solutions with respect to the initial data in differential equations with state-dependent delays, J. Dynam. Differential Equations 23(2011), 843–884. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10884-011-9218-1; MR2859943; Zbl 1244.34086
- [24] Y. HINO, S. MURAKAMI, T. NAITO, Functional-differential equations with infinite delay, Lecture Notes in Math., Vol. 1473, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1991. https://doi.org/10.1007/ BFb0084432; MR1122588; Zbl 0732.34051
- [25] F. KAPPEL, Linear autonomous functional differential equations, in: Delay differential equations and applications, NATO Sci. Ser. II Math. Phys. Chem., Vol. 205, Springer, Dordrecht, 2006, pp. 41–139. https://doi.org/10.1007/1-4020-3647-7_3; MR2337815; Zbl 1130.34039
- [26] T. NAITO, On linear autonomous retarded equations with an abstract phase space for infinite delay, J. Differential Equations 33(1979), No. 1, 74–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0022-0396(79)90081-0; MR0540818; Zbl 0384.34042
- [27] T. NAITO, Fundamental matrices of linear autonomous retarded equations with infinite delay, *Tohoku Math. J.* 32(1980), No. 4, 539–556. https://doi.org/10.2748/tmj/ 1178229539; MR0601925; Zbl 0438.34058
- [28] S. NAKAGIRI, On the fundamental solution of delay-differential equations in Banach spaces, J. Differential Equations 41(1981), No. 3, 349–368. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-0396(81)90043-7; MR0633823; Zbl 0441.35068
- [29] V. M. POPOV, Pointwise degeneracy of linear, time-invariant, delay-differential equations, J. Differential Equations 11(1972), 541–561. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-0396(72) 90066-6; MR0296455; Zbl 0238.34107
- [30] W. RUDIN, *Real and complex analysis*, Third edition. McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York, 1987. MR0924157; Zbl 0925.00005
- [31] J. H. SHAPIRO, Volterra adventures, Student Mathematical Library, Vol. 85. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1090/stml/085; MR3793153; Zbl 1408.46003
- [32] E. M. STEIN, R. SHAKARCHI, Real analysis. Measure theory, integration, and Hilbert spaces, Princeton Lectures in Analysis, Vol. 3. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 2005. MR2129625; Zbl 1081.28001
- [33] H. R. THIEME, Differentiability of convolutions, integrated semigroups of bounded semivariation, and the inhomogeneous Cauchy problem, J. Evol. Equ. 8(2008), No. 2, 283–305. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00028-007-0355-2; MR2407203; Zbl 1157.45007
- [34] S. M. VERDUYN LUNEL, Exponential type calculus for linear delay equations, CWI Tract, Vol. 57. Stichting Mathematisch Centrum, Centrum voor Wiskunde en Informatica, Amsterdam, 1989. MR0990243; Zbl 0672.34071
- [35] H.-O. WALTHER, Stability of attractivity regions for autonomous functional differential equations, *Manuscripta Math.* 15(1975), No. 4, 349–363. https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF01486605; MR0390435; Zbl 0321.34064

- [36] H.-O. WALTHER, Topics in delay differential equations, Jahresber. Dtsch. Math.-Ver. 116(2014), No. 2, 87–114. https://doi.org/10.1365/s13291-014-0086-6; MR3210290; Zbl 1295.34003
- [37] H.-O. WALTHER, Autonomous linear neutral equations with bounded Borel functions as initial data, arXiv preprint, arXiv:2001.11288, submitted on 30 Jan 2020. https://arxiv. org/abs/2001.11288
- [38] G. F. WEBB, Functional differential equations and nonlinear semigroups in L^p-spaces, J. Differential Equations 20(1976), No. 1, 71–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-0396(76) 90097-8; MR0390422; Zbl 0285.34046
- [39] D. V. WIDDER, *The Laplace transform*, Princeton Mathematical Series, Vol. 6, Princeton University Press, Princeton, N. J., 1941. MR0005923; Zbl 0063.08245
- [40] K. YOSIDA, Functional analysis, Reprint of the sixth (1980) edition. Classics in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1995. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-61859-8; MR1336382; Zbl 0435.46002